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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER

OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Room 2601, 26/F Wing On Centre
No. 111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN JAPAN

2/F and 3/F, Kyobashi-Square

3-7-5 Kyobashi, Chuo-ku

Tokyo

Japan

CORPORATE WEBSITE

www.chuo-auction.com.hk

STOCK CODE
1939
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS
On behalf of the board (the
“Directors”) of Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the
“Group”), | would like to present the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting
Period”).

“Board”) of directors (the

We are a well-recognised auction house of Chinese and
Japanese artworks in Hong Kong and Japan. We specialise in
auctioneering a wide variety of artworks with emphasis on
Chinese and Japanese artworks, including Chinese paintings
and calligraphies, Chinese antiques and Japanese and Chinese
teawares. With over ten years of operating experience in the
Chinese and Japanese art auction industry, we have grown into
a well-recognised and trusted auction brand in Hong Kong and
Japan, through our “Tokyo Chuo Auction” brand. By offering
appealing auction artworks and quality auction services, we
have successfully gained recognition from our customers and
established our position, brand name and
competitiveness. We take pride in being an auction house with
the ability to explore and introduce the historical and cultural
significance as well as the commercial value of each artwork.

market
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Chairman’s Statement
F S

Over the past year, the Group took appropriate actions to
improve our operations through different ways, including but
not limited to, (i) adopting and utilising professional as well as
history-focused and culture-oriented marketing techniques along
with quality services to maximise the transaction prices of our
auctioned artworks; (ii) further strengthening our market
position and market share in the Chinese and Japanese art
auction market in Hong Kong and Japan, and enhancing our
brand recognition and awareness; (iii) diversifying our business
scope by venturing into the field of contemporary artwork and
fine & rare whisky and moutai; (iv) recruiting high calibre
managers and experts and attracting, motivating and retaining
quality employees to strengthen both the management and
operating teams with a view to support sustainable growth;
and (v) targeting to expand business footprint to other
potential markets with an aim to establish and enhance brand
image and brand influence in other major Asian cities and the
global market.

6 Annual Report 2025
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Chairman'’s Statement
EFEmE

PROSPECTS

In view of the global economy and the financial markets in
Hong Kong, Japan and the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC") are being uncertain, the Board considered that such
significant impact on the global economy and financial markets
had adversely affected the market of Chinese and Japanese
artworks, specific for unpredictability in the market demand,
value and conditions for artworks and development of art
auction market in general. We are aspiring to diversify our
business scope into the field of contemporary artworks and
jewelry. The Group also seized the opportunity to accelerate
the formation of its online system and online auction platform,
so as to keep up with the current developing trend, integrate
platforms and upgrade its technology to bring new experience
of multi-scenario auction for all collectors. The development of
online trading and information platform and diversifying our
business scope by venturing into the field of contemporary
artwork and jewelry allow the Group to expand its current
business and provide more flexibility to cope with the economic
uncertainty in the near future.
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Moreover, Mr. Huang Shikun (“Mr. Huang”), an executive
director was appointed by the Company on 30 May 2025 and
the Group is exploring the possibilities of tapping into the
auction and related services market in the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area in the future. By leveraging
Mr. Huang's personal background, management experience,
extensive network and business connections in the PRC, the
Group will explore continuous business development in the
auction and related services sector and other potential business
opportunities that will be synergised with the Group’s current
businesses. In the future, the Group will aim at keeping stable
growth and development, and continuously uphold its principle
of sourcing excellent artworks for art enthusiasts in the artwork
auction market. The Group will constantly enrich the categories
of auction lots to fulfill the diversified preferences of the
collectors. At the same time, the management will also keep an
eye on the opportunities to cooperate with other auction
companies with a view to developing our business more
rapidly.

APPRECIATION

Lastly, on behalf of the Board and the management, | would
like to express my sincere gratitude to all the staff for their
unremitting efforts during the year and to all the shareholders
of the Company (“Shareholders”), investors, clients and
business partners for their continuous support for the Group.

Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited
Huang Shikun

Chairman

30 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

In view of the global economy and the financial markets in
Hong Kong and the PRC are being uncertain, the Board
considered that such unpredictable impact on the global
economy and financial markets had adversely affected our
business of Chinese and Japanese artworks, specifically on the
unpredictability in the market demand, the value and conditions
for artworks and development of art auction market in general.
We aspire to diversify our business scope into the field of
contemporary artworks and jewelry and further expanding
business in Taiwan markets, as (1) we believe there would be a
large potential demand for jewelry or contemporary artworks by
(2) there is an increasing market
demand on jewelry and contemporary artworks in the industry
and (3) is targeting to further expand business in Taiwan
markets with an aim to establish and enhance brand image and
influence in other major Asian cities and the global markets.

our existing customers,

During the Reporting Period, the Group obtained successful
results in each auction session, with an aggregate of 4,166
pieces of auction lots launched in the 7 auctions in Hong Kong
and Japan. A total of 2,152 pieces were successfully sold,
representing a success rate of 51.7%
aggregate hammer price of approximately HK$92.0 million and
JPY2,306.3 million in Hong Kong and Japan, respectively. The
Group is actively developing other new auction segments,
specially jewelry and contemporary artworks to increase the
number and sources of customers and pursue new business
opportunities.

and achieved an
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRER &M

The Group has been expanding itself as a pioneering corporate
with emphasis on artworks auction, expanding from Japan to
the entire Asia. At present, it has established footholds in
major cities in Asia with its business expanding from Tokyo to
Hong Kong and Taiwan. By leveraging Mr. Huang’s personal
background, management experience, extensive network and
business connections in the PRC, the Group is exploring the
possibilities of tapping into the auction and related services
market in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
in the future, the Group has actively explored potential
customers and consolidated its competitive strengths in order to
broaden its network in the collection community and facilitate
the growth of its auction business. In addition, the Group’s
marketing and brand promotion activities are integral parts of
its effort to gain acclaim and build its reputation among the
high net worth individuals in the Asia-Pacific region, which
successfully strengthened the brand image of the Group and
raised its brand awareness. Further raising the Group’s brand
awareness is the key to the success of its future development.

In the future, the Group aims at maintaining stable growth and
development, and continuously uphold its principle of sourcing
excellent artworks with good provenance to explore and collect
more valuable artworks for art enthusiasts in the artwork
auction market. The Group will allocate more resources to
develop its online auction platform, jewelry and contemporary
artworks segments to diversify its auction channel and jewelry,
which allow the Group to expand its current business and
provide more flexibility to cope with the economic uncertainty
in the near future. At the same time, it shall keep looking for
apposite business partners for collaboration in auction events.
Meanwhile, the management will also cooperate with other
auction companies and consider making strategic investments in
artworks related business, which would help the Group achieve
synergies.
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During the Reporting Period, the revenue of the Group was
approximately HK$62.1 million (2024: approximately HK$57.9
million), which represents an increase of approximately HK$4.2
million or 7.25% as compared to the same period in 2024.
Revenue from art auction and related business was
approximately HK$52.2 million (2024: approximately HK$48.7
million), while revenue from artwork sales was approximately
HK$9.9 million (2024: approximately HK$9.2 million). Such
increase in revenue from art auction and related business for
the Reporting Period was mainly due to increase the revenue
from art auction and related business in Hong Kong.

During the Reporting Period, gross profit of the Group
increased by approximately HK$1.7 million or 3.63% to
approximately HK$48.5 million (2024: approximately HK$46.8
million) as compared to the same period in 2024, which was in
line with the increase in revenue from art auction and related
business. The overall gross profit margin was approximately
78.1% for the Reporting Period (2024: 80.8%). The slightly
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the profit margin
for the revenue from art auction and related business and
revenue from artwork sales. The gross profit margins were
approximately 90.3% (2024: 91.4%) for art auction and related
business and approximately 13.7% (2024: 24.9%) for artwork
sales respectively.

Other gains of approximately HK$5.3 million mainly represented
the fair value gains on financial assets at FVTPL (2024: gains of
approximately HK$7,000 mainly represented the fair value gains
on financial assets at FVTPL which partially offset by the
exchange loss).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRER &M

Other income of approximately HK$432,000 mainly represented
compensation received, bidding deposits forfeited and penalties
recognised during the Reporting Period (2024: approximately
HK$1.4 million mainly represented government grant received,
compensation received, bidding deposits forfeited and penalties
recognised).

Selling and distribution expenses consisted primarily of
employee benefit expenses paid to the Group's sales and
staff,
consultancy fee paid, transportation costs, travelling expenses,

marketing advertising and promotion expenses,
entertainment and business hospitality expenses. During the
approximately HK$23.6 million (2024:
approximately HK$23.8 million) of selling and distribution
incurred, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$0.2 million as compared to the same period
in 2024, which remained stable as compared to the same
period in last year.

Reporting Period,

expenses were

Administrative expenses mainly represented employee benefit
expenses, travelling expenses, rental expenses and depreciation.
During the Reporting Period, administrative expenses decreased
by approximately 8.3% to approximately HK$39.9 million (2024:
approximately HK$43.5 million). Such decrease in administrative
expenses was mainly due to the decrease in recognition of
equity-settled share based payment for the Reporting Period.

The Group recorded finance costs of approximately HK$1.1
(2024: finance costs amounted to approximately
HK$819,000) for the Reporting Period. Finance income mainly
represented interest income from bank deposit and interest
income from certain consignor advance, and finance costs
mainly represented
borrowings and interest expenses on lease liabilities.

million

interest expenses on bank and other
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Profits tax has been provided for by the Group’s companies in
both Hong Kong and Japan at the applicable rate on the
estimated assessable profits. Income tax credit for the Reporting
Period included the over-provision in prior years of HK$263,000
and deferred tax credit of approximately HK$605,000 (2024:
current tax charge of approximately HK$342,000,
under-provision in prior years of HK$216,000 and deferred tax
credit of approximately HK$21,000).

During the Reporting Period, the Company recorded a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$19.5 million (2024: approximately HK$26.9 million), which
was mainly due to the decrease in recognition of equity-settled
share based payment and increase in fair value gain on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which was
partially offset by increase in impairment loss on investment
accounted for using the equity method and impairment losses
on non-financial assets for the Reporting Period.

For the consignor advances as at 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024, the total principal amount was approximately
HK$76.5 million (31 March 2024: HK$70.9 million) and the
total outstanding principal was approximately HK$59.0 million
(31 March 2024: HK$63.0 million), two of the consignor
advances were granted with interest rate of 1% to 12% per
annum and the rest of the advances was granted at nil interest
rate (31 March 2024: two of the consignor advances were
granted with interest rate of 1% to 12% per annum and the
rest of the advances was granted at nil interest rate). During
the year ended 31 March 2025, the consignor advances were
granted to 28 consignors and all of them were either corporate
or individual art collectors. The consignor advance was only
granted to the consignors after the collateral (which is the
consigned artwork) has been obtained by the Group and the
consigned artwork should be proposed to sell in subsequent
auctions, which mutually agreed by consignors and the Group
(normally within one year). To the best of the knowledge,
information and belief of the Directors, all the consignors and
their ultimate beneficial owners are third parties independent of
the Company and the connected persons of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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As at 31 March 2025, the outstanding amount of consignor
advances due from the largest consignor and five largest
consignors accounted for approximately 10.4% and 33.8% of
the total outstanding amount of consignor advances of the
Group respectively (31 March 2024: the largest consignor and
five largest consignors accounted for approximately 12.8% and
46.1% respectively).

In order to attract appealing artworks from artwork providers
with long-term relationship and good credit history, during the
year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Company has
provided certain consignors with consignor advances carrying
interest accruing on such consignor advances at nil or low
interest rates. Under the consignment arrangement, the
relevant consignor advances with interests payable (if any) shall
be deducted from sales proceeds of the consigned artwork after
receiving the full payment of the purchase price from the
auction, or in case if the Company failed to sell the consigned
artwork at the auction, the consigned artwork shall be returned
to the consignor after obtaining full repayment of the
consignor advances with accrued interest (if any) from the
relevant artwork provider. The business of the Group heavily
relies on the artworks provided by these artwork providers and
therefore the provision of such advance is for the benefit of the
Group’s business and not merely for the purpose of earning
interest income.

When determining the grant of consignor advances, the Group
would initially assess the background of the artwork and the
consignors by the taking into factors including (i) obtaining the
personal information of the consignor and conduct available
public search on the background of the consignor when
necessary; (i) the proposed value of the artwork and collateral
offered by the consignor; (iii) the length of business
relationship between the Group and the consignor; and (iv) the
creditability of the consignor based on the credit history of the
consignor.
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When determining any impairments made in respect of the
consignor advances, the management assessed the expected
losses individually by estimation based on general economic
conditions of the consignor advance provided and the value of
relevant consigned artwork and conditions at the reporting
date. Since the fair value amounts of the consigned artwork
were higher than the carrying amounts of consigner advance
during the years, therefore, no impairment were recorded.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated resources and banking facilities. As at 31 March
2025, the Group had current assets of approximately HK$381.4
million (as at 31 March 2024: approximately HK$368.1 million)
while the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately HK$76.5 million (as at 31 March 2024
approximately HK$48.7 million).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has interest-bearing bank
borrowings of approximately HK$37.3 million (as at 31 March
2024: approximately HK$41.6 million) and of which
approximately HK$14.5 million (as at 31 March 2024:
approximately HK$14.6 million) was repayable within one year.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group did not have other
borrowings.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s gearing ratio was calculated
on the basis of the amount of interest-bearing borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents divided by shareholders’ equity, and
the Group was in net cash position (as at 31 March 2024: net
cash position).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no any material capital
commitment (as at 31 March 2024: Nil). As at the date of this
report, the Group had no plan for material investment or
capital assets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND GUARANTEES
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not provide any
guarantees for any third party and had no significant
contingent liabilities (as at 31 March 2024: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
The Group did not hold any material investments, nor did the
Group make any material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company during the
Reporting Period.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopted a prudent strategy towards the treasury
and funding policies, and attached high importance to the risk
control and transactions directly related to the Group's principal
business. Funds, primarily denominated in Japanese Yen and
Hong Kong Dollar, are normally placed with banks in short or
medium term deposits for working capital of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FOREIGN CURRENCY
EXPOSURE

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operation was mainly
financed by funds generated from its operation, borrowings
and net proceeds from the Listing. As at 31 March 2025, the
borrowings of the Group and the cash and cash equivalents
held by the Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
Dollar and Japanese Yen. All of the Group’s borrowings were
floating rate borrowings and were pledged by bank deposits of
approximately HK$4.0 million to secure such bank facilities
during the Reporting Period. The Group’s revenue is mainly
denominated in Hong Kong Dollar and Japanese Yen, while its
costs and expenses are also mainly denominated in Hong Kong
Dollar and Japanese Yen. As the majority of the Group's assets,
liabilities, revenues and payments during the Reporting Period
were denominated in either Hong Kong Dollar or Japanese Yen,
and in view of the prevailing macro-economic environment, the
Group may be exposed to the foreign exchange rate risk.
Currently, the Group does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. The Group will closely monitor the volatility of foreign
exchange rate and apply the appropriate hedging strategy as
and when appropriate.
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As at 31 March 2025, bank deposits amounting to HK$4.0
million (2024: HK$4.0 million) was pledged to a bank to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group.

Other than the aforesaid pledged bank deposits, there was no
other charge on assets of the Group as at 31 March 2025
(2024 Nil).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 21, 9, 2 and 1 full-time
staff based in Japan, Hong Kong, Taiwan and the PRC
respectively. The Group regularly reviews compensation and
benefit policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well as
the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund and share options are provided to
retain loyal employees with the aim to form a professional staff
and management team that can bring the Group to different
levels of success.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for all of
its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ base salaries. The Group also
made contributions to provident funds, elderly
medical insurance, unemployment insurance and work-related
injury in accordance with applicable
regulations in Japan, Taiwan and the PRC respectively.

insurance,

insurance laws and

The Group has adopted a share option scheme on
13 September 2018 (the “2018 Share Option Scheme”) as a
reward to eligible high-calibre employees and to attract similar
high-quality personnel that are valuable to the Group. Details of
the 2018 Share Option Scheme are set out in the circular of
the Company dated 13 September 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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On 24 April 2023, 48,000,000 share options were granted to 1A A 7 B H A2023F4 248 R E AT
certain Director, senior managements and employees of the ¥& ' 7202394 H248 - 48,000,000 BER%#EE
Group (the “Grantees”), as disclosed in the announcement of HFAEEETES SHEEELEE ([K
the Company dated 24 April 2023. The share options granted &A1) - FIR FTHERESBESBNFHRE
shall vest in the Grantees in accordance with their respective SEBREAEA - BRI FERENF BN A
the timetable. Details of the grant of share options are set out /A& HHIA2023F4824BM Q% -

in the announcement of the Company dated 24 April 2023.

Details of the share option movements during the period from 20184 88 J& 4 5+ 2 78 T &9 B8 I # 20244 A
1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 under the 2018 Share Option 1H Z2025F3A31H SN ESFBOT
Scheme are as follows:

Number of share options

ERERE
Lapsed/
Grant Exercised cancelled
Outstanding  during the  during the  during the Outstanding
as at year ended year ended year ended as at
Holder of Exercise price 1 April 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
Share Options Date of Grant  Exercise period per Share 2024 2025 2025 2025 2025
BE2025%

720245  EBF2025F EHEF2025% 33181k 20254

4R18 3A31HL  3A31BL EEX¥Y/ 3A31H

BREBEA R EH friEHmE BRITEE R FERE ERETE HE R
(HKS)
(BT

Executive Director

HiTES

Katsu Bunkai 24 April 2023 24.4.2024 to 0.80 5,000,000 — — — 5,000,000
23.4.2029

BEX0E 2023%F4F248  2024%4F24R %
2029%F4H23H

Employees 24 April 2023 24.4.2024 to 0.80 43,000,000 — — — 43,000,000
23.4.2029

1] 202348248 2024%4F248F
2029445231

Total 48,000,000 — — — 48,000,000

@i

Notes: B -

(1) The closing price of the Company’s share immediately before the (1) A2 B BD L B % L BB A% # B 8 (202344

date (23 April 2023) on which the share options were granted A238) BIMI ™ {E B0.76/ T °
was HK$0.76.
(2)  Katsu Bunkai resigned as executive Director on 20 June 2025. (2) BXEN2025F6A2008 B ERITES -
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(3) 48,000,000 share options had been tendered for cancellation
under the option offer on 20 June 2025. For details, please refer
to the joint announcements dated 2 May 2025, 23 May 2025,
30 May 2025 and 20 June 2025 (the “Joint Announcements”)
and circular dated 30 May 2025 (the “Circular”).

On 4 September 2023, at the annual general meeting (the
"2023 AGM"), the Company proposed adoption of the share
option scheme (the “2023 Share Option Scheme”) and
termination of the 2018 Share Option Scheme were duly
passed by the Shareholders by way of poll. Details of the 2023
Share Option Scheme are set out in the circular of the
Company dated 28 July 2023 and the poll result of the 2023
AGM are set out in the announcement of the Company dated
4 September 2023.

The total number of shares that may be issued in respect of
options granted under all schemes of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2025 divided by the weighted average
numbers of shares in issued for the year ended 31 March 2025
was approximately 9.6%.

As at 1 April 2024 and the date of this report, the total
number of shares available for issue under the 2023 Share
Option Scheme was 50,000,000, representing approximately
10% of the issued shares of the Company as at such date.

Summary of matters relating to the share option scheme
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee:

Having considered that the past performance and contributions
to the Group of the Grantees, the Remuneration Committee
and the Board consider that the grant of such share options
with vesting period:

(i)  all of the Grantees are middle to senior level management
of the Group, which directly involved in the strategy
making and daily operations of the Group;

(i)  grant of the Share Options to those key employees not
only can provide incentive or reward to staff so as to
encourage them to make continuing effort and
contribution to the Group;
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B IR E R Em M D

(iii) encourages those junior staff and/or new employees to
contribute more to the Group as there is a chance to
share results of the development of the Company no
matter which departments they are working for.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the 2023
Share Option Scheme:

(a) Eligible participants

Eligible participants include (i) any employee of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries (“Employee
Participant”); (i) any non-executive directors of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries; (iii) any director
or employee of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the
Company (“Related Entity Participant(s)”); and (iv)
any person who provides services to the Group on a
continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and
usual course of business which are in the interests
of the long-term growth of the Group (“Service
Provider”).

(b) The maximum entitlement of each participant
The maximum number of shares issued or to be
issued in respect of all options granted to a
participant at any one time or in aggregate
(excluding any options and awards lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the 2023 Share Option
Scheme or the other share scheme) under the 2023
Share Option Scheme and any other Share Scheme
in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such further grant representing in aggregate over
1% of the total number of shares in issue (“1%
Individual Limit”), such grant must be separately
approved by Shareholders in general meeting with
such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person of
the Company) abstaining from voting.
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(c)

Where any grant of options or awards to an
independent non-executive Director or a substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates, would result in the Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
and awards granted (excluding any options and
awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
2023 Share Option Scheme or the relevant Share
Scheme) to such person in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue, such
grant of options or awards must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting (with such grantee,
his associates and all core connected persons of the
Company abstaining from voting in favour).

Acceptance and exercise of option

An offer shall have been accepted by an eligible
participant when the duplicate letter comprising
acceptance of the offer duly signed by the eligible
participant together with a remittance in favour of
the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration
for the grant thereof is received by the Company
within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 21 days from the date
of the offer).

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the 2023 Share Option Scheme at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by
the Directors to the grantee, which period may
commence from the date of offer but shall end in
any event not later than 10 years from the date of
offer of that option subject to the provisions for
early termination thereof. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer
to a grantee, there is no minimum period required
under the 2023 Share Option Scheme for the
holding of an option before it can be exercised.

()

Management Discussion and Analysis
B IR E R Em M DM

WARNRBBIIFRITEFTLER
BRIWESBNEABEARLY
ERERENER SERERE
ZEEBEH(BHEZA) L1218 A 8
A A % A 3% 80 P B BB AR Ko 2%
B (B AR 1R20234F BB I R &t 8
HE AR DEENIERRERBNE
RN ERE ETEREET
K& FEITHRNE HIEBEBHE B
TR #90.1% ~ BIZ H A i =k 88
BHRHBERRRRERAS L
#E (ZARA - RBB A RAKRA]
FIEZOBEALTLANEREX

R)e

EHRITRBRE

EARARBA AR T AR E
(TMEERZHBHET218) A
EEER2HEEIARENENRE
PRI - BRI T AR AIA
1.0078 TTIE R (fF R R B IR i W
RE)F  AZABER2EER LR

RIB2023F BT 801650 - 1B
P #E A] A2 SR ORTE I 4B A AR A Y
HEAERTE ZPHEHATEED
BER G - EEERBER TH G
BRZBREZOBEYE 1054
R BAMREMK MR B
HFEFZHRE  IRAARAHE
HEZHPRELZRA T ARIE
2023 R MRt &) R AR AT 41
TTEZH BEEZRFABEREDN
RIKHR -

—ERFFER

off

21



Management Discussion and Analysis

&38|

22

&

A\ F
J [

= \;‘ am N T )

(d) Vesting period

(e)

(7

The vesting period in respect of any option granted
to any eligible participant shall not be shorter than
12 months from the date of acceptance of the
offer.

Subscription price

The subscription price for the shares on the exercise
of an option under the option scheme shall be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion
but in any event shall not less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
offer, which must be a business day; (i) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the
offer; and (iii) (where applicable) the nominal value
of a share.

Performance target
There is no performance target attached to the
options.

Having considered that (i) each of the Grantees is a
middle to senior level management who has been
working for the Group for over four years and have
contributed directly to the overall business
performance, sustainable development and/or good
corporate governance of the Group, and (i) the
options are subject to the terms of the 2023 Share
Option Scheme, which already covers situations
where the share options will lapse in the event that
the Grantees cease to be employees of the Group,
the remuneration committee of the Company and
the Board believe that without additional
performance target, the grant of the Share Options
aligns the interests of the Grantees with that of the
Company and the shareholders of the Company,
provides incentive to the Grantees to devote to the
future continuous competitiveness, results of
operation and growth of the Company,
reinforce their commitment to long term services of
the Company, which is in line with the purpose of
the 2023 Share Option Scheme.

and
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(9) Clawback mechanism

If any Grantee ceases to be a Director or an
employee of the Group for any reason other than
death, ill-heath or retirement in accordance with his/
her contract of employment, any Share Options
granted (to the extent not already exercised) shall
lapse on the date of cessation or termination of
employment.

(h) The remaining life of the 2023 Share Option

Scheme

Subject to any early termination determined by the
Board in accordance with the rules of the Share
Option Scheme, the 2023 Share Option Scheme is
valid and effective for 10 years
commencing on its adoption date (i.e. 4 September
2023 to 3 September 2033).

a term of

In respect of the share options granted during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2025, the remuneration committee
considers that the 2018 Share Option Scheme and 2023 Share
Option Scheme are intended to reward eligible participants who
have contributed to the business development of the Group
and to encourage eligible participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company for the benefit of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole. In addition, the
Remuneration Committee also consider that: (a) the Grantees
are eligible participants under the Scheme who would
contribute directly to the overall business performance and
sustainable development of the Group; (b) the granting of share
options to the Grantees recognition for their past
contributions to the Group; and (c) the share options are
subject to the terms of the share option scheme which provides

is a

for circumstances under which the share options may lapse.
Saved as disclosed above, the Company did not make any
grant of share options to the directors and/or senior managers
of the Group as set forth in Rules 17.03F, 17.06B(7) and
17.06B(8) of the Listing Rules during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2025.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREERHNERSE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Ando Shokei (Z M #E) (alias Liao Zianggui (EEH#E)),
aged 57

Executive Director and chairman of the Board

Mr. Ando is an executive Director and chairman of the Board,
and is responsible for overall strategic development, and
leading the business development of the Group. He was
appointed as a Director on 11 July 2013 and re-designated as
executive Director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Ando resigned as
executive Director on 20 June 2025. Mr. Ando is the founder of
the Group. He has over 20 years of experience in operation
and management in the business of artwork trading and over
20 vyears of experience in operation and management of
auction. He joined the Group in November 2010 as a director
of Tokyo Chuo Auction Co., Ltd.* (A EHRRFRF -0 >
32) (“TCA Japan”), a directly non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company in Japan. Mr. Ando is also a director of Bai
Sheng Co., Ltd.* (#% =\ & # & B¥) (“Bai Sheng”) since
September 2002, where he acquired knowledge in artworks
through artwork trading businesses, gained his experience in
daily company operations management, businesses development
promotion and development strategies planning, and started
developing his business relationships with artwork artists,
masters, experts, merchants and collectors. Prior to working at
Bai Sheng, Mr. Ando worked at Orient Co., Ltd.* (k=X & 7
IJT >N, a trading company in arts and crafts and home
furniture import and export, from 1995 to 2001 as general
manager. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
Dokkyo University in March 1994. Mr. Ando is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Ando is the spouse of
Mrs. Ando Eri. As at 31 March 2025, Mr. Ando has an interest
in such number of Shares under Part XV of the SFO as
disclosed in the section headed “Report of the Directors —
Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations” of this annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Semor Management

Mrs. Ando Eri (ZBEEZE) (alias Feng Huijin (/%5EE)),
aged 47

Executive Director and vice chairlady of the Board

Mrs. Ando is an executive Director and vice chairlady of the
Board, and is responsible for client management, promotion of
branding and marketing of the Group. She was appointed as
an executive Director on 25 May 2018 and resigned as
executive Director on 20 June 2025. She has over 10 years of
experience in operation and management of auction. Mrs. Ando
joined the Group in January 2011 as a managing director, and
she was in establishing and managing client
relationships. She was promoted to director of the board of
TCA Japan in December 2011, and since then she has been
principally responsible for conducting marketing events,
overseeing and reviewing the auction catalogs and media
publications, as well as the overall management of auctions
held by the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mrs. Ando
worked at a catering company in the PRC, from 2000 to 2005
as general manager, responsible for overall management and
operations of such company. She completed a course in foreign
secretary at the Adult Higher Education, School of Continuing
Education, Shanghai Jiao Tong University* (/8% @ K B® K
E) in July 2000. Mrs. Ando is also a director of TCA Japan.
Mrs. Ando is the spouse of Mr. Ando Shokei. As at 31 March
2025, Mrs. Ando has an interest in such number of Shares
under Part XV of the SFO as disclosed in the section headed
“Report of the Directors — Directors’ and chief executive's
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations” of this annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EENEAEEENRERS

Mr. Katsu Bunkai (83X ) (alias Ge Wenhai), aged 55

Executive Director and chief operating officer of the Group

Mr. Katsu is an executive Director and chief operating officer of
the Group, and
management of the Group. He was appointed as an executive
Director on 25 May 2018 and resigned as executive Director on
20 June 2025. Mr. Katsu has over 20 years of experience in
operation in the business of artwork trading and over 10 years
of experience in operation and management of auction.
Mr. Katsu joined the Group and was appointed as a director
and vice-president of TCA Japan since February 2012, and since
then he has been principally responsible for the planning and

is responsible for the overall operational

supervising auctions of the Group, including managing auction
logistics and different working parties such as decoration
companies, security and staff of different departments of the
Group during auctions. He is also involved in overall strategic
development and management of the Group. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Katsu was also the sales manager of Bai Sheng,
responsible for artworks purchase and sales and operations
management, from April 2010 to October 2015. He obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from Kanto Gakuin
University in March 2008.

Mr. Sun Hongyue (/% H), aged 60

Executive Director

Mr. Sun is an executive Director, and is responsible for overall
business development of the Group. He was appointed as an
executive Director on 25 May 2018 and resigned as executive
Director on 20 June 2025. Mr. Sun has over 30 years of
experience in artwork trading and over 20 years of experience
in auction. Mr. Sun joined the Group in December 2015. He
has been the general manager of the calligraphy and painting
department of TCA Japan since December 2015, during which
he was involved in authenticating artworks for auction, visiting
consignors and approaching potential consignors for auction of
artworks, and providing consultation to potential bidders and
buyers of artwork.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Sun worked at Beijing Hanhai
Auction Co., Ltd* (IR BEMEFR A A),
company, from 1994 to 2015 and gained experience in
calligraphy and painting, auction and artwork trading. Prior to
such, Mr. Sun worked at Beijing Antique Company* (1t 2= 11 XX
Y12 8]) from 1984 to 1994 and was mainly responsible for
sourcing and sale of artworks. He was an apprentice of Mr. Qin
Gong (F72), a renowned Chinese stone rubbing calligraphy
expert, and trained his skills of authentication and valuation of
paintings and calligraphies at Qing Yun Tang (EE%E), a
reputable store in Beijing engaging in the sales of Chinese
calligraphies from 1984 to 1994. In 1986, Mr. Sun completed a
course in cultural relics authentication and valuation organized
by the State Administration of Cultural Heritage of PRC (-
Bl R X ¥ B) in Xi'an, Shaanxi province, the PRC. During 1989
to 1991, he completed a three-year program in museology at a
sub-school of Peking University.

an auction

Mr. Huang Shikun, aged 44

Executive Director and chairman of the Board

Mr. Huang is an executive Director and Chairman of the Board,
and is strategic development,
leading the business development of the Group. He was
appointed as an executive Director on 30 May 2025. He
graduated with an Executive Master of Business Administration
degree from Tsinghua University and a Master of Business
Administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong

responsible for overall and

Kong in a programme jointly offered by both universities.
Mr. Huang is the chairman of &Il ¢ HEIEREEFR A A
(Shenzhen Kinghood Holding Group Company Limited*)
(“Shenzhen Kinghood"”), a company principally engaged in
gold and jewellery industry chain. Shenzhen Kinghood ranked
295th in 2024 Fortune China 500. Mr. Huang holds
approximately 57.06% equity interest directly in Shenzhen
Kinghood and approximately 40.87% indirectly in Shenzhen
Kinghood through a company owned as to 95% by him. Mr.
Huang is also a member of the 12th and 13th Guangdong
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, the vice chairman of the Shenzhen
Federation of Industry and Commerce, and the chairman of the
Shenzhen Federation of New Social Class People* (% Il T #7 &9
HEBEEALERES).

EENARERENBEFD

FEEMBASER - £1994F £2015F 8
REEARLAMEMEARAR RETE
2 HENENREZINLER T Za - &
o HE 1984 F £1994F ME BRI R XX A
Al FEBEBNMABERBEE HAEZELEF
HEREXFEREZALENES  M1984FE
19UFEEEEE (REPREBZEHENILR
BIE)EXEEET RMEBEREITEI 19865
RALETEFBERAEALREEFEBRXY
BER P SUE & BB E M A ERTE o R 19894F
£19915F - BHEILRKREB—FHBER TK A
H=FNEmESRE-

EAWELE 4458

HITEFREFSLTE
BEEERNTESRESTEEF AEAEE
HEEREERNEESERER - HN2025%F
SH30REBEZARNITES HNBEKSEH
EBRXREBEMOREPESE  BRBEKX
BN REBEABIREEBELIEBMALRES
PXREBENTHERELTENMN - ZAE AR
cHEIERERERAR ([FRIEHWE) O =
& ZRRTERETZSRKEEERE - XY
© M8 E20245F (B &) B50058 1 BF &
2950 - BA L EERF BRI HEH57.06%
PekE - WEBEEAS%ERSN A RBEEA
Y& MR #4087 % A HE - E S £ R B ELE
FE+-E FT-EEREBHEESELZE -
FIT IR ER  FNTHFOLEEEA

THagek-

—ERFFER

off

27



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EENEAEEENRERS

As at the date of this Report, Mr. Huang has an interest in
such number of Shares under Part XV of the SFO as disclosed
in the section headed “Report of the Directors — Directors’
and chief executives interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations” of this annual report.

Mr. Huang is the brother of Mr.
executive Director of the Company.

Huang Shifeng, being the

Mr. Huang Shifeng, aged 42

Executive Director

Mr. Huang SF is an executive Director and was appointed as
executive Director on 30 May 2025. He graduated with a
bachelor’s degree in optical information and science technology
from the South China Normal University, the PRC in July 2007.
Mr. Huang SF has ample experience in the field of gold and
jewellery science and technology and technology research and
development innovation. Mr. Huang SF has been the executive
president and head of the innovation centre of Shenzhen
Kinghood since January 2009 and the general manager of
Shenzhen Shangshan Intelligent Company Limited* (&I 2
BB PR A A)) since May 2020.

Mr. Huang SF is the brother of Mr. Huang, being the executive
Director and chairman of the Board.

Ms. Qian Yuanyuan, aged 41

Executive Director

Ms. Qian is an executive Director and was appointed as
executive Director on 30 May 2025. She obtained a doctor of
philosophy in management from Zhejiang University, the PRC in
June 2010. From July 2010 to June 2016, Ms. Qian worked at
Shenzhen Gold Investment Co., Ltd. Ms. Qian joined Shenzhen
Kinghood in May 2018 and had been the general manager of
training from May 2018 to December 2020, the assistant to the
president of the gold and jewelry banking channel from
December 2020 to March 2025 and the vice president since
April 2025.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Tong Jun, aged 60

Executive Director

Mr. Tong is an executive Director and was appointed as
executive Director on 30 May 2025. He obtained a master of
business administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in December 2009. From March 2012 to September
2016, Mr. Tong was the general manager of Shenzhen
Kinghood and since May 2020, Mr. Tong has been the
executive vice president of Shenzhen Kinghood. From
December 2016 to November 2018, Mr. Tong was the
associate vice president and director of senior management
training of the Shenzhen Finance Institute, Chinese University of
Hong Kong-Shenzhen. He was also the deputy general manager
of the financial and securities department of Shenzhen
Neptunus Group Co., Ltd. from July 2002 to February 2012.

Mr. Li Jiefeng, Aged 58

Non-executive Director

Mr. Li is a non-executive Director and was appointed as
non-executive Director on 30 May 2025. He graduated with a
Master of Business Administration degree from The University of
Sunderland by way of distance learning. Mr. Li holds the
qualification of senior engineer specialising in architectural
decoration design approved by Beijing Senior Specialized
Technique Qualification Evaluation Committee. Mr. Li is now the
owner of JKL Investment, s.r.o., a company incorporated in
Czech Republic which is principally engaged in investment
holdings. As at the date of this Report, Mr. Li has an interest in
such number of Shares under Part XV of the SFO as disclosed
in the section headed “Report of the Directors — Directors’
and chief executives interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations” of this annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Zheng Haoran, aged 36

Non-executive Director

Mr. Zheng is a non-executive Director and was appointed as
non-executive Director on 30 May 2025. He graduated with
a bachelor's degree in information and computing science
from Dalian Ocean University in 2013. Mr. Zheng worked in
China Merchants Bank from July 2013 to June 2023 with the
last position as the president of Renmin Road Sub-branch,
Zhuhai Branch of China Merchants Bank. Mr. Zheng is one
of the founding partners of JL/E ORI A BREESERA
BHE(BERE®) (Qinwan (Shenzhen) Private Equity Fund
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)*) (“Qinwan”),
which is principally engaged in private equity fund management.
He has been a compliance and risk control officer of Qinwan
since June 2023. As at the date of this Report, Mr. Zheng has
an interest in such number of Shares under Part XV of the SFO
as disclosed in the section headed “Report of the Directors —
Directors’ and chief executives interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations” of this annual report.

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (#E i), aged 56

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chung is an independent non-executive Director. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018 and resigned on 20 June 2025. Mr. Chung
has over 20 years of experience in auditing, corporate finance
and financial management. Mr. Chung was an auditor in
Arthur Andersen (an international accounting firm) from 1992
to 1999. From 2000, Mr. Chung has held several senior
management positions including chief financial officer, executive
director and independent non-executive director in a number of
listed companies in Hong Kong. Currently, Mr. Chung is also an
independent non-executive director of four other companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, namely B & S
International Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1705); BYD Electronic
(International) Company Limited (stock code: 0285); YTO
International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 6123); and Zhengye International
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 3363).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chung obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
Macquarie University in April 1992. He was admitted as a
certified practicing accountant of the Australian Society of
Certified Practicing Accountants (currently known as CPA
Australia) in November 1995 and an associate of the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in February
1996. He is currently a non-practicing member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley (#i#%), aged 58

Independent non-executive Director

Ms. Lam is an independent non-executive Director. She was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018 and resigned on 20 June 2025. Ms. Lam
has over 20 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
financial management. Ms. Lam has been appointed as the
chief financial officer of Chinlink International Holdings Limited
("Chinlink”), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0997), since January 2012. She was the
executive director and company secretary of Chinlink from
February 2012 and January 2012 respectively, to April 2019;
and the executive director of Jackin International Holdings
Limited (currently known as AMCO United Holding Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 630) from February 2010 to December 2011.
in private
companies, including vice president of finance and accounting
manager, between June 1999 to February 2006 and between
July 2006 to March 2007. She also held position in various
international audit firms between May 1993 and April 1999.

Ms. Lam held several management position

Ms. Lam obtained a bachelor’s degree in science from Murdoch
University in February 1993 and a master’'s degree in business
administration from the University of Adelaide in April 2006.
She was admitted as a certified practising accountant of the
Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants (currently
known as CPA Australia) in November 1995 and an associate of
the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in
September 1996. She is currently a non-practicing member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Chun Chi Man (£F;8E), aged 64

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chun is an independent non-executive Director. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018 and resigned on 20 June 2025. Mr. Chun
has over 20 years of experience in property industry in PRC and
Hong Kong. Mr. Chun has been the independent non-executive
director of CN Logistics International Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2130) since September 2020. Mr. Chun has been the
General Manager (Leasing) of Century Link from March 2015 to
December 2016, the General Manager — commercial of The
Hub at Hong Qiao from January 2014 to November 2014, the
General Manager of L Development & Management (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd. from September 2010 to December 2013, the Deputy
General Manager of Lai Fung Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 1125)
from September 2007 to July 2010. Mr. Chun held various
managerial positions at Hutchison Whampoa Properties Limited
from July 1995 to July 2005. Mr. Chun obtained a bachelor’s
degree of Science from University of Salford at July 1987. He is
a member of Shanghai Chongming District Committee
(Consultative Conference).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Professor He Jia, aged 70

Independent non-executive Director

Professor He is an independent non-executive Director and was
appointed as independent non-executive Director on 30 May
2025. He studied as a worker-peasant-soldier student in the
mathematics department of Heilongjiang University, the PRC
from October 1975 to July 1978, graduated with a master’s
degree in computer science and decision-making from Shanghai
Jiao Tong University, the PRC in December 1983 and obtained
a doctor of philosophy in finance from The Wharton School of
the University of Pennsylvania, the United States of America in
August 1988. Professor He has more than 35 vyears of
experience in academia in higher education institutes in the PRC
and the United States of America. Since October 2021,
Professor He has been the chair professor at Shandong
University and from May 2021 to July 2024, Professor He was
the Qiushi chair professor of the International Business School
of Zhejiang University. Since February 2022, Professor He has
been the chairman of the internet investment and financing
working committee of the Internet Society of China* (B &
Bt e DBAKRAETIEZ B E). Professor He has also been
the independent director of CGS International Holdings Limited
since 2011.

Professor He has been appointed as (i) an independent non-
executive director of China Chengtong Development Group
Limited (Stock Code: 217) since September 2015, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange; (i) an
independent director of Tibet Huayu Mining Co., Ltd. (Stock
Code: 601020) since December 2024, a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange; and (iii) an independent non-
executive director of Bank of Tianjin Co., Ltd. (Stock Code:
1578) from June 2018 to January 2025, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EENEAEEENRERS

Professor Hu Zuohao, aged 60

Independent non-executive Director

Professor Hu is an independent non-executive Director and was
appointed as independent non-executive Director on 30 May
2025. He graduated with a bachelor's degree in solid
mechanics from Huazhong Institute of Technology* (ZE/ T £
Bt), the PRC (presently known as Huazhong University of
Science and Technology) in July 1985. He then obtained a
master’'s degree in industrial management engineering from
Zhejiang University, the PRC in July 1988 and a doctor of
philosophy in economics from Kyoto University, Japan, in
January 2000. Professor Hu has been a professor of the School
of Economics and Management at Tsinghua University since
December 2007, an associate professor of the School of
Economics and Management at Tsinghua University from
August 2001 to November 2007, a lecturer at the School of
Economics and Management at Tsinghua University from
August 2000 to August 2001 and a lecturer at the School of
1988 to
October 1995. Professor Hu is also currently the vice chairman
and the enterprise working committee director of the Chinese
Marketing Association of Universities and the executive deputy
director of the China Enterprise Research Centre* (Ff B 1> 3£
L L) of the School of Economics and Management at
Tsinghua University.

Management at Zhejiang University from August

Professor Hu has been the independent director of each of (i)
Qingdao Richen Food Co. Ltd. (Stock Code: 603755) since May
2022, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange; (ii)
Beijing Tri-Prime Gene Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Stock Code:
837344) since May 2024, a company listed on the Beijing Stock
Exchange; and (iii) Ocean’s King Lighting Science & Technology
Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 002724) since June 2020, a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Leung Ting Yuk, aged 50

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Leung is an independent non-executive Director and was
appointed as independent non-executive Director on 30 May
2025. He graduated with a bachelor of commerce in
accountancy from the University of Wollongong, Australia, in
July 2000. Mr. Leung has been accredited as a Certified
Practising Accountant of CPA Australia in November 2006 and
as a Certified Public Accountant of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in January 2008. Mr. Leung has
more than 19 years of experience in the financial management,
accounting and auditing field.

Mr. Leung has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Yanchang Petroleum International Limited
(Stock Code: 346) since December 2009, an independent non-
executive director of Most Kwai Chung Limited (Stock Code:
1716) since March 2018, an independent non-executive director
of Xinyi Energy Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3868) since
November 2018 and an independent non-executive director of
Tai United Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 718) since July 2023,
each being companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EENEAEEENRERS

Mr. Chak Chi Shing (B ), aged 44

Chief financial officer and company secretary of the Company
Mr. Chak is responsible for the corporate finance, investor
relations, financial
matters of the Company. He joined the Group in September
2019. Mr. Chak is also a director of CGU Enterprises Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Chak has been
the independent non-executive director of SDM Education
Group Holdings Limited (“SDM"), a company listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8363) from May 2019 to
November 2024, the independent non-executive director of
China Energy Storage Technology Development Limited
(formerly known as Link-Asia International MedTech Group
Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1143) from June 2021 to September
2023, the independent non-executive director of Sunyes
Manufacturing Zheliang Holding Co Ltd* (stock code: 002388),
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange since
February 2023, the independent non-executive director of
Founder Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0418) since June 2023 and
the independent non-executive director of the Net Pacific
Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 5QY.SI), a company
listed on Singapore Exchange since November 2023.

management and company secretarial

Prior to joining the Company, he was the executive director of
China Shenghai Food Holdings Company Limited (currently
known as Gaodi Holdings Limited), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1676), from
December 2018 to September 2019; the company secretary of
Bolina Holding Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange prior to its delisting on 10 March 2021
(stock code: 1190), from March 2017 to August 2018, and the
chief financial officer and company secretary of SDM from
February 2016 to July 2016.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

He obtained a bachelor’'s degree of commerce in Accounting
and Finance from Curtin University of Technology in March
2006. He is a certified public accountant of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and Certified Public
Accountant Australia. Mr. Chak has over 15 years of experience
in auditing, accounting, corporate finance and financial
management and over 5 years of experience in company
secretarial matter and corporate governance in listed
companies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERHRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that high corporate
governance standards are essential in providing a framework
for the Group to safeguard the interests of Shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and
policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (as applicable to the Group during the
Reporting Period) (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with all code
provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by its Directors. Having made
specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that they have
fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code during the Reporting Period.

The Company has also extended the coverage of the Model
Code adoption to the senior management of the Company
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company (the “relevant employees”). No
incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company during the Reporting
Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company. The Board has delegated the
day-to-day responsibility to the executive Directors and senior
management who perform their duties under the leadership of
the chairman of the Board.
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Following Mr. Ando Shokei, Mrs. Ando Eri, Mr. Katsu Bunkai
and Mr. Sun Hongyue were resigned as executive Directors on
20 June 2025 and Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Ms. Lam Suk
Ling Shirley and Mr. Chun Chi resigned on
independent non-executive Directors on 20 June 2025, the
Board currently consists of four executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Huang Shikun (chairman of the Board), Mr. Huang Shifeng,
Ms. Qian Yuanyuan and Mr. Tong Jun; two non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Li Jiefeng and Mr. Zheng Haoran and

Man were

three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Professor He
Jia, Professor Hu Zuohao, and Mr. Leung Ting Yuk as at the
date of this Report.

The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Mr. Huang Shikun (Chairman) (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Mr. Huang Shifeng (appointed on 30 May 2025)

Ms. Qian Yuanyuan (appointed on 30 May 2025)

Mr. Tong Jun (appointed on 30 May 2025)

Mr. Li Jiefeng (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Mr. Zheng Haoran (appointed on 30 May 2025)

Professor He Jia (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Professor Hu Zuohao (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk (appointed on 30 May 2025)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 24 to 37 of this annual report.

Other than the brother relationship between Mr. Huang Shikun
and Mr. Huang Shifeng, none of the members of the Board is
related to one another.

Following the resignation of Mr. Ando Shokei as Chairman on
20 June 2025, Mr. Huang Shikun has been appointed as the
Chairman of the Board since 20 June 2025, who provides
leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning and
leadership of the Board.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his/her independence in accordance with the independence
The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Company entered into a service contact with each of the
Directors on the date of the appointment with an initial term of
one year which shall be renewed automatically for successive
terms of one year unless terminated by either party with one
month’s written notice.

The terms of the service contacts and the letters of
appointment may be renewed subject to the provisions of the
articles of association of the Company (“Articles”) and the
applicable Listing Rules. Each of Directors were appointed on
30 May 2025 shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company. Under the Articles, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one third) shall retire from
office by rotation. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-
election.

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company, and is collectively responsible for
The Board
leads and

directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.
directly, indirectly through
provides direction to management by laying down strategies

and its committees,

and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

40 Annual Report 2025

% ffE - EFE—HETLETRAUIBBZ
%ﬁiéfiﬂﬁ%?]ﬂﬁ%%A/\%{
CMEFR 2B FNTESTEARE

XERXGTAAEUHEEEERN

N MR
° 4&H+ N \\

B R

il

ARRIEREIEBILIFATEFTRE LA
AUSE3I3GRATE B L M oI SLE B M3 A
FEHERE ARARS ERBIUFFNTE
EHBEBILAL-

ARFEREERMRIERITURBESL
NEEBMR—F UBEBHEE—F KRIFE
fM—FEL—EANSEBHN T AL -

RIS G 8 REF I FEHAREARRA A A
SRR (THBI]) G RER EmR AT AE
H o 20255 A30REZ T 2R EEBARE
AARMBHBERMIAREBEF RS LHE
REREREMT - RBREMAY REEREBEAF
Aet ERAESH=ZD2Z2— mi%(m@%)\
BWIIE=MEE - MBEAEELETIR

2 HMEBEZAB)EREBERT - REEERELE
RERIEMT -

EEORARAEREHARTNEBE U E
RAERENEEARARINSER -EFCHE
(MEBRERZES® Fﬁ?ﬁ)%ﬁ&%gy%ﬁ :
HIEBREHERBMEEERERMITER B
REFBLSERMBRR  ULERRETHEN

A B i % [ B E IR R A o



All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. All Directors have full and timely
access to all the information of the Company and may, upon
request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances for discharging their duties to the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing
professional development to develop and refresh knowledge
and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be
arranged and reading materials on relevant topics would be
provided to Directors where appropriate. All directors also
understand the importance of continuous professional
development and they are committed to participating any
suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and

skills.
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During the Reporting Period, each of the former Directors has
attended training courses or seminars or read materials relevant
to his/her professional and/or duties as Director. The individual
training record of each Director received for the Reporting

Period is summarised below:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui)

(resigned on 20 June 2025)
Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin)

(resigned on 20 June 2025)
Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai)

(resigned on 20 June 2025)
Mr. Sun Hongyue (resigned on 20 June 2025)
Mr. Huang Shikun (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Mr. Huang Shifeng (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Ms. Qian Yuanyuan (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Mr. Tong Jun (appointed on 30 May 2025)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Jiefeng (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Mr. Zheng Haoran (appointed on 30 May 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John
(resigned on 20 June 2025)
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley
(resigned on 20 June 2025)
Mr. Chun Chi Man (resigned on 20 June 2025)
Professor He Jia (appointed on 30 May 2025)

Professor Hu Zuohao (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk (appointed on 30 May 2025)
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The Board has established four committees, namely the Audit

Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All
Board committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with their
authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee are posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are

available to Shareholders upon request.

Regular Board meetings should be held, which involving active
participation, either in person or through electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held three board
meetings and one general meeting. The attendance record of
each Director at these meetings is set out in the table below:
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Attended/eligible to attend

2 fEK2H
Board
meetings AGM
EFEE: BRREAFEXE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui) LHOMELAE (X B EME)
(resigned on 20 June 2025) (75A2025$6H 208 B 1E) 3/3 1/1
Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin) BEELZ T (NEEERE)
(resigned on 20 June 2025) (54‘2025¢6)ﬂ 20H B {T) 3/3 11
Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai) BXELEE
(resigned on 20 June 2025) (7202596 A20H & 1) 3/3 171
Mr. Sun Hongyue BB AEAE
(resigned on 20 June 2025) (720256 A20H & fF) 3/3 11
Mr. Huang Shikun miLWEL
(appointed on 30 May 2025) (F202565HA30H # £ 1) 0/0 0/0
Mr. Huang Shifeng mTIE LA
(appointed on 30 May 2025) (FA2025F5 430 E £ 1) 0/0 0/0
Ms. Qian Yuanyuan BRRZ L
(appointed on 30 May 2025) (72025 5H30H E £ 1) 0/0 0/0
Mr. Tong Jun EFLAE
(appointed on 30 May 2025) (F202565HA30H # £ 1) 0/0 0/0
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Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Jiefeng

(appointed on 30 May 2025)
Mr. Zheng Haoran

(appointed on 30 May 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

(resigned on 20 June 2025)
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley

(resigned on 20 June 2025)
Mr. Chun Chi Man

(resigned on 20 June 2025)
Professor He Jia

(appointed on 30 May 2025)
Professor Hu Zuohao

(appointed on 30 May 2025)
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk

(appointed on 30 May 2025)

Attended/eligible to attend

28 §EK2H
Board
meetings AGM
EEEE;: BREBEXE
FPHITES
RIS AE
(720255 A30H E £ (1) 0/0 0/0
EE R AE
(7202565 A30H EZ 1) 0/0 0/0
BIFRITES
ERRLE
(7202596 A20H & T) 3/3 11
ORI T+
(7202596 A20H & T) 3/3 11
ZARR%EAE
(720256 A20H B 1) 3/3 11
Al EH IR
(720255 A30H E £ 1) 0/0 0/0
A EHIR
(720256 5A30H EZ 1) 0/0 0/0
(7202554308 E £ 1) 0/0 0/0

As at the date of this Report, the Audit Committee currently
consists of one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Li Jiefeng
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk (chairman of the Audit Committee) and
Professor Hu Jia. Mr. Leung Ting Yuk, chairman of the Audit
Committee, possesses appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise as
required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms
than those set out in the CG Code.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
duties of the Audit Committee include, without limitation, (a)
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal; (b) monitoring the integrity of the financial
statements and annual report and accounts, and the interim
report, and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
contained therein; (c) reviewing the financial control, risk
management and internal control systems; and (d) developing
and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the Reporting
Period to among others, the interim and annual
financial reports. The members of the Audit
Committee and the attendance of each member during the
Reporting Period are as follows:

review,
results and
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Attended/
eligible to
attend
2 5&%
&5
Non-executive Director ERITES
Mr. Li Jiefeng (re-designated on 20 June 2025) RGP & (20256 A208 #F) 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors BIABITES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John EER % 4 (72025565208 B 1E)

(resigned on 20 June 2025) 3/3
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley MROM IS 22 £ (FA2025%6 5208 B 1T)

(resigned on 20 June 2025) 3/3
Mr. Chun Chi Man (resigned on 20 June 2025) e R 4 (R2025F6 200 B 1) 3/3
Professor He Jia (re-designated on 20 June 2025) A {E 2% (R2025%F6 A208 A F) 0/0
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk PEE A (7202556 A208 FAT)

(re-designated on 20 June 2025) 0/0
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As at the date of this Report, the Remuneration Committee
currently consists of one executive Director, namely Mr. Huang
Shikun and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Professor He Jia (chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
and Professor Hu Zuohao, a majority of whom are independent
non-executive Directors. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting terms than
those set out in the CG Code.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The primary functions of the Remuneration
Committee include (a) making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and senior management and establishing a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (b)
reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposal with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and (c) making recommendations to the Board on
the overall remuneration packages of individual Directors and
senior management.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting to review and
recommend the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and senior management during the Reporting Period.
The members of the Remuneration Committee and the
attendance of each member during the Reporting Period are as
follows:
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EF st EdE CMEBBILIIERTE
= AEHR(FWEZESER) RALEH
B ERRZHEEBILIERNTES - HZE
EENBEEETERCEERTAMHEN
BRAG AR TN o

il

WY
o/

YNz EemBRERKETERNBXAEAR
Al - FIHNEEEMNIERERRE QA
NRAIZEREEFLSNEEEZHFHHELR
REREFTSRLEZR MBI FHERK
MIERMBERZER  O)AEEES IR
CEFHLER R LIETEEZHME
i RONEFSEABANEELERERE
M AR B HT N T B o

FHZBENHREHRETT —REFH - UF
BYRATEERSREEENFT T EIE
hiEZ - FEZE KB RSN ERNHE HE
M EBERET

Attended/
eligible to
attend
2W/88&%
2
Executive Directors BITEE

Mrs. Ando Eri (resigned on 20 June 2025) TEEEIE L+ (R202556 8200 B F) 11
Mr. Huang Shikun (re-designated on 20 June 2025) =5 4 (R2025E6 A208 #F) 0/0

Independent Non-executive Directors BA¥RITES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (resigned on 20 June 2025)  $BEI& £ 4 (7202596 5208 & 1) 1
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley (resigned on 20 June 2025) MORES &+ (7202596 A20H BHT) 171
Mr. Chun Chi Man (resigned on 20 June 2025) AR %4 (R2025F6 208 B 1) 11
Professor He Jia (re-designated on 20 June 2025) Al = 2 #% (202596 208 FAE) 0/0
Professor Hu Zuohao (re-designated on 20 June 2025) A7 S EUR (R20259F6 A20H A1) 0/0
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As at the date of this Report, the Nomination Committee
currently consists of two executive Directors, namely Mr. Huang
Shikun (chairman of the Nomination Committee) and Ms. Qian
Yuanyuan and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Professor He Jia, Professor Hu Zuohao and Mr. Leung
Ting Yuk.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include, without limitation, (a) reviewing the structure, size and
diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the corporate strategy; (b)
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (c) assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and (d) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman.

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board. The Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption. In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider the
candidate’s character, qualifications, experience, independence
and other relevant criteria necessary to complement the
corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.
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Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee will size and
composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board
maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition,
Committee is committed to diversity at all levels and will
consider a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and industry
experience.

review annually the structure,

the Nomination

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives that are
business growth and is also committed to ensuring that
recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the Board
downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered.

relevant to the Company’s

The Board will
implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain
the progress made towards achieving those objectives. At
present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board
is sufficiently diverse and the Board has not set any measurable
objectives.

consider setting measurable objectives to
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The Nomination Committee met once during the Reporting
Period to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and to consider the qualifications of the retiring
Directors standing for re-election at the annual general meeting
and to consider and recommend to the Board on the
appointment of Directors.
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Attended/
eligible to
attend
28 /881
£
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Ando Shokei (resigned on 20 June 2025) % BE M 2 4 (FA20254E6 4208 BHT) 171
Mr. Huang Shikun (re-designated on 20 June 2025) =LA (R2025%6 5208 #MT) 0/0
Ms. Qian Yuanyuan (re-designated on 20 June 2025) BIRE 2+ (R2025F6 A208 #F) 0/0

Independent Non-executive Directors BUABITES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (resigned on 20 June 2025) & B %t 4 (202596 A20H & {T) 11
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley (resigned on 20 June 2025) MRS &£ (7202556 A208 B ) 171
Mr. Chun Chi Man (resigned on 20 June 2025) ZRR % HE (202565208 B ) 1/1
Professor He Jia (re-designated on 20 June 2025) Al = # 3% (R202556 A20R A F) 0/0
Professor Hu Zuohao (re-designated on 20 June 2025) TR A EE (R2025F6 208 ) 0/0
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk (re-designated on 20 June 2025) T E %4 (R2025F6 208 #H1E) 0/0

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) on 31 December 2018 which
sets out the selection criteria and process and the Board
succession planning considerations in relation to nomination
and appointment of Directors and aims to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company and the continuity of
the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for
assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the
Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the
following:

o character and integrity;
o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,

knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;
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o diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

o requirements of independent non-executive Directors on
the Board and independence of the proposed
independent non-executive Directors in accordance with
the Listing Rules; and

o commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest to discharge duties as a member of the Board
and/or Board committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures
and process for the selection and appointment of new Directors
and re-election of Directors at general meetings. During the
Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee adhered to the
following nomination procedures and the process set out in the
Director Nomination Policy to select and recommend candidates
for directorship:

(a) Appointment of new director
i. Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
Director and the biographical information (or
relevant details) of the candidate, the Nomination
Committee should, evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

i.  If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable).

iii.  The Nomination Committee should then recommend

to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate
for directorship, as applicable.
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iv.  For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a Director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee should
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should make recommendation to
Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting.

(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting
i. The Nomination Committee should review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

ii. The Nomination Committee should also review and
determine whether the retiring Director continues to
meet the criteria as set out above.

iii.  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of Director at the
general meeting. The Nomination Committee will
review the Director Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

As at the date of this Report, the Corporate Governance
Committee currently consists of one executive Director, namely
Mr. Huang Shifeng and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Professor Hu Zuohao (chairman of the
Corporate Governance Committee) and Professor He Jia.
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The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company. The principal duties of the Corporate
include, without limitation, (a) to
develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and to make recommendations to the
Board; (b) to corporate
governance report and related disclosures in the annual and

interim reports of the Group and ensuring compliance with

Governance Committee

review and approve the annual

relevant requirements under the Listing Rules or the rules of any
other stock exchange in respect of which the securities of the
Company are listed or quoted, or other laws, regulations, rules
and codes as may be applicable to the Group; (c) to develop
and formalise the functions reserved to the Board and those to
be delegated by the Board to the management of the Group,
and to review those arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group; and
(d) to make sure that appropriate monitoring systems are in
place to ensure compliance against the relevant internal
controls systems, processes and policies, and in particular to
monitor the implementation of the Group’s plans to maintain
high compliance with its own risk management standards.

The Corporate Governance Committee met once during the
Reporting Period to introduce and propose relevant principles
concerning corporate governance and to review and determine
the corporate governance policy.
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Executive Directors BITESE

Mr. Ando Shokei (resigned on 20 June 2025) 2 BE R 25 A (A2025%E6 4208 BHT) 171
Mr. Huang Shifeng (re-designated on 20 June 2025) &L I& % 4 (202596 8208 FAT) 0/0

Independent Non-executive Directors BIUkBITES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (resigned on 20 June 2025) &R % 4 (202596 A20H & {T) 11
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley (resigned on 20 June 2025) MRS &£ (72202556 A20H B ) 171
Mr. Chun Chi Man (resigned on 20 June 2025) AR 4 (202556 A208 B {T) 11
Professor Hu Zuohao (re-designated on 20 June 2025) TR A (R2025F6 208 ) 0/0
Professor He Jia (re-designated on 20 June 2025) fa] £ 48 4 (202556 A20H FAE) 0/0
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The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed the
Company's corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of directors and
senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.

and

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the
Company establishes and maintains an appropriate and
effective risk management system.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has reviewed the risk
management system. The Board considers that the risk
management system is effective and adequate for the Group as
a whole.

The Board further considers that (i) there was no issue relating
to the material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions, of the
Group; and (i) that there were adequate staff with appropriate
qualifications and experience, resources and budget of its
accounting and financial reporting function, and adequate
training programmes have been provided for the Reporting
Period.

The Board is also responsible for the internal control system of
the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have
been designed to, among other things, ensure maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication and ensure
compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed
and assessed on an on-going basis by the Audit Committee and
the Board, and will be further reviewed and assessed at least
once each year by the Board.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Group will manage the risk as
follows:

o Risk elimination — management may identify and implement
certain changes or controls that in effect eliminate the risk
entirely.

o Risk mitigation — management may implement risk mitigation
plan designed to reduce the likelihood, velocity or severity of
the risk to an acceptable level.

o Risk monitoring — accidents and other situations involving
material loss or near-loss will be investigated and properly
documented as part of the effort to manage risks.

o Risk retention — management may decide that the risk
rating is low enough that the risk is at acceptable level and
no action is required. The risk will continue to be monitored
as part of the risk management program to ensure the level
of risk does not increase to an unacceptable level.

The Company has in place an internal control system which
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The key
components of the internal control system are shown as
follow:

° Control environment — a set of standards, processes and
structures are established to provide the basis for carrying
out internal control across the Group.

o Risk assessment — a dynamic and iterative process is
conducted for identifying and analysing risks to achieve
the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for determining
how risks should be managed.
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o Control activities — action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure management mitigates risks in
the achievement of objectives of the Group are carried
out.

o Information and communication — internal and external
communication is made to provide the Group with the
information needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

° Monitoring — ongoing and separate evaluations are
conducted to ascertain whether each component of
internal control is present and functioning.

In addition, the Company regulates the handling and
dissemination of inside information to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such information is
appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such
information is efficiently and consistently made. The Company
has taken various procedures and measures to prevent a breach
of disclosure requirement, including arousing the awareness to
the Directors and employees to preserve confidentiality of inside
information and disseminating information to specified persons
on a need-to-know basis.

The Company has not established an internal audit department
and the Directors are of the view that given the size, nature
and complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more
cost effective to appoint an independent internal control review
advisor (“Internal Control Advisor”), which is independent of
the Group’s daily operation and consists of professional staff
with relevant expertise, to perform the
management and internal control systems of the Group in
order to meet its needs.

review on risk

The Board itself and through the Audit Committee and the
Internal Control Advisor has conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
of the Group during the Reporting Period, which cover all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls.

Corporate Governance Report
TEERMSE

s ERMAY — REBRRMEFELTH
NBHEREEERITREEXNASER
Bz R H B -

e EBMkEBR — FLABKRINEERE N
AASERHETEEEEMTEN -

. B BARENFEAEHNBEE
METEEAGELBEEE -

AN RRAREH AR HERRIE REMETR
o AHRABHEEEZ R ERER —&
RE - WHEERAERNE -BOBEMEREES - K
REAERBZERF REHRD L2 RBEER
T ERERSEENEEHARBHERNFER
BEHMMERBEANBNERLABETARR
(EREPSN

ARBHARKILABEZI EFERA - £
RAEEXRBZHRR HENEMEE  ZME
B A RRE B R ([P BB BB | - H
BYURAEBEZARLENBRAGHEESR
EMBcEXE D) mAASB ZREREE R
NMEERGAEARARDE UmEES

EEEERNBREHEAREBERERERRE
SLAFEZBEREASENEREENA
MEZERGWERMEETFERN LREES
MG 2 ENARERENNMEERER
JIE e

—ERFFER

off

55



Corporate Governance Report
¥ ERRE

The Internal Control Advisor has conducted interviews with
relevant staff members, reviewed relevant documentation of risk
management and control systems of the Group,
evaluated findings of any deficiencies in the systems and
provided recommendations for improvement. The scope and
findings of review on the systems have been reported to and
reviewed by the Audit Committee, who has further reported to
the Board for its review at Board meeting.

internal

During the Reporting Period, the Group has appointed an
Internal Control Advisor to review the internal control system.
Improvements in risk management
recommended were adopted. Based on the
findings from Internal Control Advisor, the Board considers that
the internal control system is effective and adequate for the
Group as a whole.

internal control and

measures as

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Reporting Period.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report on pages 120 to 130.

Reference is made to the non-competition undertakings given
by Mr. Ando Shokei in favour of the Company disclosed in the
prospectus of the Company dated 27 September 2018
("Prospectus”). Mr. Ando has confirmed to the Company that
he has complied with the non-competition undertakings during
the Reporting Period. The independent non-executive Directors
have conducted such review for the Reporting Period, and also
reviewed the relevant undertakings and are satisfied that such
undertakings have been complied with.
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Audit fee

Mr. Chak Chi Shing, the chief financial officer of the Company,
has been appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company
since 13 September 2019.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chak Chi
Shing, the company secretary of the Company, has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
Reporting Period.

To safeqguard Shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolutions should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of each
individual Director. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company

and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

General meetings may be convened by the Directors on
requisition of Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the
total voting rights of all the Shareholders having a right to vote
at general meetings or by such Shareholder(s) who made the
requisition (as the case may be) pursuant to Sections 566 and
568 respectively of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”).
Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as
set out in the Companies Ordinance for convening a general

meeting.
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Pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance,
shareholders representing at least 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all shareholders; or at least 50 shareholders (as the
case may be) who have a right to vote at the relevant annual
general meeting, may request to circulate a resolution to be
moved at an annual general meeting. Shareholders should
follow the requirements and procedures as set out in the
Companies Ordinance for circulating a resolution for annual
general meeting. Written request can be sent by post to the
Company'’s registered office address at Room 2601, 26/F Wing
On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong or by
email at ir@chuo-auction.com.hk.

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests to the
Company for putting forward any enquiries to the Board.
Contact details are as follows:

Address:  Room 2601, 26/F Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught
Road Central, Hong Kong (for the attention of the
Board of Directors)

Email: ir@chuo-auction.com.hk

Shareholders are also welcome to make enquiries via the online
enquiry form available on the Company’s website at
www.chuo-auction.com.hk.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must lodge their
guestions together with their detailed contact information
(including full name, contact details and identification) for
prompt response from the Company if the Company deems
appropriate. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.
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The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
Board Committee will attend the annual general meeting to
In addition, the Company will convene
special general meeting (“SGM") to approve transaction and/or
matter in accordance with the Listing Rules and the corporate
governance procedures of the Company. These will provide

answer any question.

further opportunities for Shareholders to comment and vote on
specific transaction and/or matter. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in
particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings.

The interim and annual reports of the Company are dispatched
to Shareholders in a timely manner before the time limits laid
by statutory and Listing Rules requirements to ensure effective
communication with Shareholders.

All the Shareholders are given at least 20 clear business days’
notice before the date of the annual general meeting and at
least 10 clear business days’ notice for all other general
meetings.

All the annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements
and notices of Shareholders’ meetings as required under the
Listing Rules will be available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has also complied with the
concerning voting by poll under the Listing Rules. Details of the
poll voting procedures and the rights of Shareholders to
demand a poll are in circulars to Shareholders
dispatched by the Company and explained by the chairman of
general meeting at the meeting. All resolutions proposed at
general meeting are voted separately.

requirements

included

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles. An up to date version of the Articles is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to
ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December

2018 (the "Dividend Policy”) on payment of dividends. Details
are set out in the Report of the Directors.
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ENVIRONMENT; SOCIAL

AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (referred to as the
“"Company” and its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as
the “Group”) is a well-recognized auction house of Chinese
and Japanese artworks in Hong Kong and Japan. The Group
specializes in auctioneering a wide variety of artworks with
emphasis on Chinese and Japanese artworks, including
Chinese paintings and calligraphies, Chinese antiques and
Japanese and Chinese teawares. The Group is committed to
building an environmentally-friendly corporation, while
maintaining high quality standards in auction. The Group
considers social and environmental responsibilities as one of
the core values in our business operations and strives for
greater sustainability and transparency, as well as fostering a
sustainable environment for future generation.

This report summarizes several subjects of the Group’s
business practices for the Environmental, Social and
Governance (referred to as the “ESG Report” or “this
Report”) and its relevant implemented policies and
strategies in relation to the Group’s operational practices
and environmental protection.

The Report covers the period from 1 April 2024 to
31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Period”).

The Report has been prepared with reference to the ESG
Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in
Appendix C2 to the Main Board Listing Rules of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

In preparation of this Report, due diligence has been
taken to adhere to the Reporting Principles of
“Materiality”, “Quantitative”, “Balance” and
“Consistency” as set out in the ESG Reporting Guide,
which are detailed as follows.

Materiality: We identified the most material ESG issues
pertaining to our businesses through the materiality
assessment. The materiality of issues was reviewed and
confirmed by the Board.

RIE-HERERBE

REPRASERERAA (HREIEL
B ERANBARGHEIARE] R
BB R BARMA S E R B AR R A
BT AKEHEMHESEENR B
STPBEEBEARMG BETFEEE
REAIEPRAXAE - AEERIEY
—EARFREE FAHEREIEERS
mERE - AEE/KEERREEER
REXBRENZLERZ —  WED
REUHELREARE TR T KB
BRAFERE -

ABEHLZEEIREHE BEAKE
ERRE -HehkEn(HEIRRE -#HE
REBRE I NABREDOEBEERIA
RERASBREEERMRERENN
BT B R MR AR

R EHEB2024F4/1H £ E202543
A318 IFHAR ([3R&EH) -

ARENBEELBEIFIMARRAT
ER AR (T E R B8R C2R7 X
ZERE HERkEAREES ((RR 4+
EREAREESIDER -

EmEABER ARERAERED
NETRR HE8RERRERESIMH
WIEEM] 2] [Fa] R —2E]
ERRA - BT -

EEMH RMEAEEUHTFEEFER
MEBKHENREZRE T2 LER
ZH cHENBEEMHCHEETEEMN T
R e

TECRFFERE 61



Environment, Social and Governance Report

m

62

A, Vg
B hERME

Quantitative: This Report discloses key performance
indicators (KPIs) in environmental and social aspects in a
quantitative way wherever possible and gives comparative
data where appropriate. Whenever deemed material, the
Report details any standards, methodologies, assumptions
and/or calculation tools used, or source of conversion
factors used.

Balance: This Report complies with the principle of
balance to present the current performance and
management of the Group in ESG in an objective
manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, this Report applies
the data statistics and calculation methods that are
consistent with those in last year ESG report to provide a
meaningful comparison with data over previous years.

review

This ESG Report has undergone the internal

process of the Group and was approved by the Board.

The General Disclosure of the environmental and social
policies and measures in this Report and the compliance
issues cover the entire group, and the disclosure scope of
the Environmental KPI section of the Report covers the
Group’s headquarter in Japan and its operation sites in
Hong Kong. The impacts from its office in the People’s
Republic of China (referred to as the “PRC") and Taiwan
are minimal, so this report does not include the details of
the environmental issues brought by the operation from
the PRC and Taiwan. There were no changes to the
reporting scope compared to the previous year.

The Group’s auction management represents the majority
of the Group's environmental and social impacts. Thus,
the content of this ESG Report focus mainly on the
impacts brought by storing and maintaining the auction
lots and other externality induced throughout the
marketing process.
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Comments and Feedback

The progress of the Group depends in part on valuable
comments from stakeholders. For any clarifications or
advice as regarding this ESG Report, please forward your
comments and suggestions to info@chuo-auction.com.hk.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group believes that identifying and addressing the
views of stakeholders lay a solid foundation to the
long-term growth and success of the Group. The Group
has a wide network of stakeholders, including investors,

employees,
government and community.
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HEkERBRS

The Group develops multiple channels to the
stakeholders, which is summarized in the following table,
that provide them with the opportunities to express their
views on the Group’s sustainability performance and
future strategies. To reinforce mutual trust and respect,
the Group is committed to maintaining effective
communication channels, both formally and informally,
with stakeholders to enable the Group to better shape its
business strategies in order to respond to their needs and
expectations, anticipate strengthen key
relationships.

risks and

Stakeholder
Groups

Fefir & AR

Engagement channels
SMEEE
Investors °

General meetings
e Regular corporate publications

report
e Circulars and announcements
e Corporate website
e Direct communication

written enquiries

e RRKRE

s THRABTY  BREUBHRER
RIE - HEREA®RS

e BEHRANE

o N AL

’E%ﬁ@

s BENKOEEFEREEEN

Customers e Business meetings

e Corporate website

e Direct communication
e Emails

o X E R
o N AL
s EEER
o B
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including financial reports and ESG

e Meetings and responses to phone and

AEBEDRL NRABENZ @R HE
RE NABRERURAEEN T FHE
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RMERILEEEREHEENBE K
SEHNEFSNHERFARNHER R
EBRRE EAEEENHES N
RIRIBHRE  ACERENTEZLYPE
JEET R B NN os R SR BR AR o

Topics of interest/concern

BEEE

e Business strategies and sustainability
e Financial performance
e Corporate governance

o EEREE R FEM
o BRI
© JJ:%E‘:/EI

e Service quality and reliability
e Client information security
e Business ethics
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s MEER




AT T T T T T T [~ o e T

LTI LL e S

2%9 e

2§ =
S LA :

Stakeholder
Groups

Fe i & A R

Employees

Suppliers and
business
partners

HEm kx5
B

Government and
regulatory
authorities

BT B B2 & # A

Community

o

Engagement channels

SHRE

e Performance appraisals

e On-the-job coaching

e Training sessions

e Internal memorandum

e Human resources manual
e Exit interview

o RIFF

s ERIEE

o FHIIRE

o A BRI ER
s ANEIRTF
o BEBIE A

e Business meetings

e Tendering for procurement of products
or services

e Direct communication

s BHE &
* LRBEMIRBIIZ
s HERAB

e Statutory filings and notification
e Regulatory or voluntary disclosures

o RTEFIE KB
s EEXNEREE

e Community activities
e Corporate donations
o HIRIEE

s REIEHE
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T< >

Environment, Social and Governance Report
B HEREARE

~
N

Topics of interest/concern

BEEXE

e Training and development

e Employee remuneration and welfare
e Occupational health and safety

e Equal opportunities

e Rights and benefits

e Working hours

o Bl MR

o B B # B K 4E A
s BMERELRZ R
s FEHKE

o HEH RARF

s TREH

e Fair competition
e Business ethics
e Payment schedule

« ATBF
. EEREE
o [HEREERI R

e Compliance with law and regulations
e Treatment of inside information

o BTIARIIAM
s BREATHE

e Fair employment opportunities
e Environmental protection

s RV EFEKS

o IRIFIRE
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lIl. MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT . EEMFMS

Sustainable development encompasses a holistic spectrum NRHEERVERENTEEAMNEAE

of environmental and social aspects. In order to harness HE - REZETREBRRELEE K&

the related risks and opportunities, it is crucial for the By EREXEENER ASEXKA

Group to determine the most material aspects. The Group #HAl - BHEBARZIBN=FRE J«ME

adopts the three-step process of identification, REBESZUHAHEEREIEE

prioritisation and validation to ensure sustainability topics EBRWE -

are being managed and reported in accordance with their

materiality.

(1) Identification (1) &5l
The Group identified all fundamental sustainability BERE @ RkERmEES -
topics in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide. KEIE%E‘JFﬁEﬁ$MT%iZ“§*
In the context of the latest sustainability landscape, TR -EREHNUFELER
the Group has determined the following 19 topics B AEEBEATHAERRR
that are deemed to have impact on the environment FRBETEEHRENMGEELEY
and society through our operations. Z2HEE-
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ESG Aspects
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A. Environmental
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B. Social
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A3 The Environment and
Natural Resources
RERXAER
Climate Change
FIREZ (L

B1 Employment
1E g

Ad

B2 Health and Safety
BERZZ

B3 Development and
Training
&R R 1% 5

B4 Labour Standards
L TER

B5 Supply Chain

Management

HERETE

Product Responsibility

Edn BT

B6

B7 Anti-corruption

KRES

B8 Community
Investment

12 R E

4

Environment, Social and Governance Report
B HEREARE

N
N

Material ESG issues for the Group
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1. Air emissions
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2. Greenhouse gas emissions
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3.  Waste management
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4.  Energy consumption
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5.  Water consumption
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6.  Paper consumption
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7.  Environmental risk management
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8.  Climate change strategy
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9.  Human resources practices
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10. Employment and remuneration policies
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11.  Equal opportunity
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12.  Workplace health and safety
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13. Employee development

RBE#HR

14. Anti-child and forced labour practices
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15. Supplier practices
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16. Service quality and customer satisfaction
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17. Protection of customers’ privacy
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Prioritization

To determine the materiality of the selected ESG
topics, management, possess as a
high-level view of all the topics and have access to
stakeholders’ feedback, was asked to score the
significance of each ESG topic to stakeholder groups
and the Group in each of their perspective. The
following materiality matrix resulted, where the
topmost-right quadrant determines the topics of
high materiality.

the senior

(2)

Materiality Matrix
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Highly material topics (by ranking)
EEEEMTEGRHESEY)

Ranking No. Topics
#a 45 £y |
Highest 16 Service quality and customer satisfaction
RS REEEREFGRE
17 Protection of customers’ privacy
REEFRE
12 Workplace health and safety
THIGHMERRRZZ
2,4, 5 Greenhouse gas emissions; Energy consumption; Water consumption
mERBEHER ; RRIRHRE  KERHERE
8 Climate change strategy
RIFELRE
1 Equal opportunity
TEHE
14 Anti-child and forced labour practices
Pt E T R3&H 5T
7 Environmental risk management
IR L e
10, 13 Employment and remuneration policies; Employee development
EERFMBR: EEER
9 Human resources practices
ANERER
Lowest 15 Supplier practices
RIK R E S
The Board has reviewed and validated the materiality EFgrBaMUREEERREF
process and hence the Report discloses the Group's it - AR ERBEAEEBELMES
performance on all high and low materiality topics. EEUHREEEMNTEIRE -
To address matters most material to the Group's REEHAERRNEREENE
stakeholders, topics of high materiality are discussed BAREHAEREEMEMNERE
in more depth throughout the Report. ETEFMAR A o

—ERFFER
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As a responsible company, the Group continues to step up
for sustainability measures as a corporate responsibility as
well as meeting the customers’ standards. To make the
Group's investors and stakeholders properly informed for
assessment, the Group has set out below its efforts to
minimize the negative influence to the environment,
promote the well-being of the Group’s employees and
contribute to the community during the Reporting Period.

The Board has the overall responsibility for the Group's
ESG strategy and reporting, which include determination
and evaluation of ESG related risks, overseeing and
ensuring the suitable and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems. The Board is also responsible
for ensuring the smooth operation of strategic plan and
vision, as well as operational guidelines for ESG matters.
The Board has formed an ESG taskforce (the “Taskforce”)
to assist and advise the Board on the development and
implementation of ESG strategies, policies and practices of
the Group, and review of ESG performance and targets.
The Taskforce reports to the Board on a regular basis. It
has the responsibility for collecting data from different
functional departments and business operations and
analysing (including but not limited to comparing with
historical data) and verifying ESG data after collected,
ensuring compliance with ESG-related laws and
regulations, and preparing ESG reports. It also has the
responsibility for implementing ESG governance strategy,
coordinating ESG matters and reporting relevant work
progress to the Board on a regular basis. Each functional
department and subordinate company, serving on the
execution level, is responsible for implementing initiatives
set up by the ESG taskforce and reporting relevant work
progress and data to ESG taskforce on a regular basis.
The ESG taskforce comprises of the staffs from different
operating units to ensure the diverse backgrounds and
expertise in ESG management. The Group will review the
composition of the ESG taskforce on a regular basis. The
Board will have meeting with the ESG taskforce at least
once per year and receive briefings on any updated ESG
issues and performance, including the progress of ESG
related goals and targets, on a regular basis in order to
ensure that the Group’s ESG strategies, goals and targets
are achieved. By reviewing and evaluating the
implementation of policies, the Board is up-to-date
regarding the ESG performance of the Group.
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The Board performs annual review on the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems. The Group has appoint an independent internal
control review advisor (referred to as the “Internal
Control Advisor”) to assesses the risks, including
ESG-related risks and opportunities, through the processes
of risk identification, assessment, treatment, monitoring
and review. The result of the overall ESG-related risk
assessment will be reported to the Board on an annual
basis for review in order to ensure that the Group’s ESG
strategy and goals are achieved. Base on the findings of
the Internal Control Advisor, the Board is up-to-date
regarding the risk and opportunities of ESG.

The Board tracks, reviews and follow up on the
achievement of the main ESG issues (including ESG
related goals and targets) at least once a year in order to
bridge the gap between current progress and the
expectations. The Board will also ensure the Group’s
policies are continuously implemented.

The Group is committed to environmental sustainability by
seeking for solutions to minimize the environmental
impacts of its operations, with a particular focus on the
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and conservation
of resources. The Group sets out a number of policies and
guidelines for impact management and environmental
awareness. The Group strives to fulfill sustainable
development and to promote preservation of resources
with its environmental responsibility.

The Group implements robust measures to ensure all
discharges to air and the handling of waste are compliant
with regulatory standards. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has not encountered any incidents of
non-compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
related to air emissions and waste handling at all
operating regions. Major applicable laws and regulations
are detailed in respective sections.
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Air emissions

The Group’s air emissions are limited to the exhaust gas
from vehicle use, which includes the emission of nitrogen
oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO, and particulate matter
(PM). The Group aims to replace heavy-polluting vehicles
with more environmentally-friendly models. In efforts to
improve roadside air quality and traffic conditions, the
Group encourages employees to take public
transportation during commutes to work. Major applicable
laws and regulations related to control of air emissions
include, but are not limited to, the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance of Hong Kong and Air Pollution Control Act of
Japan.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s air emissions
from vehicle use were recorded. The Group released
3.16kg, 0.07kg and 0.23kg of nitrogen oxides, sulphur
oxides, and particulate matter in 2025.

Nitrogen oxides (NO) kg
MEAALWINO) T
Sulphur oxides (SO,) kg
REL(S0) T
Particulate matter (PM) kg
R KLY (PM) T
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Greenhouse gas emissions and climate change
mitigation

Climate change adaptation and mitigation is no longer
only a subject of international agenda, but highly relevant
to all members of society. The corporate sector is
increasingly becoming aware of the potential types of
impact climate change risks present to their operations.
To implement an effective approach to climate change
mitigation, it is important to have a comprehensive
understanding of the carbon emission sources of the
Group. The Group’s carbon footprint, presented in the
chart and table below, is primarily due to office electricity
usage (in Scope Il). During the Reporting Period under
review, the Group generated a total of 69.25 tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO,e) of greenhouse gases
(Scope | and l), resulting in a carbon intensity of 1.92
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent per employee. The
total carbon intensity for scope I, Il and Il increased
compare to 2024 mainly owing to the increase in the
business travel.

GHG EMISSIONS
i 2 SRS HE

76%
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BEREHRRERAGEZL

BREAERRIEZLELTIBRBNERZR
BWEXE MRELSMBEKRE S SR
e AR HBPABREEZRIREE (LR
BREHELBEXNEEYERR - RE
HERF ZERRGEEL  BEAZEE
B S B A BB BUR - A% B8R B
(2IRATER) TZRARLEAE
(REE—A) - REERSHA - AEH
B HEE69.250 — SR E 8 (1COe)
MABERB(EE k=) BUBLE
ENMEEAINRE_GALIKEE - #E
— T R=METREEB2024F B FTE
- EB R INTRL R LI DE -
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[ Scope ll
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Scope |l
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Scope | (Direct Emissions)

gBE— (EEHER)
Mobile combustion
BH AR A
Scope Il (Indirect Emissions)®

§E = (R#E#HR)@

Electricity purchased
BE

Scope lll (Other Indirect Emissions)

EE = (H b B HER)
Business air travels
e L M BN B

Paper waste disposed at landfills

RERNEERNWEE

Fresh water and sewage processing
(electricity use)

KIKRBFKRKEE(BE

Total (Scope | and II)

st (BE—F=)
(Scope I, Il and III)
(BE— k=)

Carbon intensity®  (Scope | and II)

BREES (BE— k=)
(Scope I, Il and III)
(BE— k=)

tCO,e
—SatmEeE

tCO,e
—StHmEE

tCO,e
“&itixE =
tCO,e
“ &tk E =
tCO,e
—&itimEE
tCO,e
“&SitixE =

tCO,e
—&lkiREE
tCO,e
—&liREE
tCO,e
—&kiREE
tCO,e/
employee
—Aa1bhix
Z8/ER
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49.33
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Note (1):  The method used for greenhouse gas data emissions
is based on (but not limited to) the “Greenhouse
Gas Inventory Protocol: Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standards” published by the World
Resources Institute and the World Business Council
for Sustainable Development and “How to prepare
an ESG Report Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” published by HKEX.

Note (2):  Scope Il includes emissions from the purchase of
electricity from power companies, and reference
includes but not limited to “TEPCO Integrated report
2024" issued by Tokyo Electric Power Company,
“Kansai Electric Power Group Integrated Report
2024" issued by Kansai Electric Power Group and
"How to prepare an ESG Report Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
published by HKEX.

Note (3):  The number of employee of the Group in 2025 and
2024 are 36 and 38 respectively.

The Group is committed to reducing our carbon footprint.
Scope | and Il emissions are addressed through our energy
reduction initiatives (See Section: A2.1 Energy
Consumption). Scope Il emissions incur throughout our
value chain. We have set emission targets to maintain
scope |, scope Il and scope Il discharge intensity (per
employee) of greenhouse gas emissions at the same level
of 2022 by the end of 2027. Regarding to the target
progress of the current year, the target of scope I, Il and
Il discharge intensity per employee is in progress. The
Group will continue to review the effectiveness of the
existing initiatives and continue to employ the following
measures to minimize such emissions:

o Cut business travels whenever possible through video
conferencing;

o Select direct flights for unavoidable business trips;
and

o Promote paper recycling at office premises.
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Waste management

The typical waste generated in the Group’s office are
paper and general waste. The majority of waste is
disposed at the landfill by qualified contractors. The
Group has established clear procedures for disposal and
management of office garbage and recyclable waste by
allocating recycle bins in the offices. During the Reporting
Period, the Group generated 500 kg (2024: 475 kg) of
paper waste, resulting in the non-hazardous waste
intensity of 13.9 kg per employee (2024: 12.5 kg per
employee). In the course of operation, the Group did not
generate any significant hazardous waste. The major
applicable laws and regulations related to the control of
waste include, but not limited to, the “Waste Disposal
Ordinance” of Hong Kong and “Waste Disposal and
Cleaning Law” of Japan. The Group has set waste target
of maintaining the discharge intensity (per employee) of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste at the same level of
2022 by the end of 2027. Regarding to the target
progress of the current year, the target of discharge
intensity (per employee) of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste has been achieved. The Group will continue to
promote the concepts of reducing waste and continue to
review the effectiveness of the existing initiatives.

Seeking to contribute to the closed-loop economy, we
have employed the following measures and initiatives
during the Reporting Period to reduce the generation of
non-hazardous waste, and raise recycling rates:

o Organise and maintain the garbage and recycled
waste storage areas;

o Collect all waste printer cartridges for recycling;

o Reduce use of single-use disposable and
non-recyclable products;

o Adopt green procurement, i.e. purchasing products
and services that cause minimal adverse

environmental impacts;

° Evaluate the usage of material to avoid overstock;
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o Set computer and printers to default duplex and
economical modes; and

o Encourage the staffs to use electronic
communications for directory, forms, reports and
storage when possible.

The Group is committed to continually monitoring and
improving resource efficiency as an integral part of
business strategy and operating methods, as well as
complying with relevant government policies and
environmental legislations.

Energy

The Group’s energy consumption consists of vehicle fuel
and electricity use for office operations. Electricity
purchased accounted for approximately 75% of total
energy consumption, and petrol use accounted for the
remaining 25%. We continue to operate an auction
platform so that our customers can participate and bid in
auction without time-space limitations. During the
Reporting Period under review, the Group consumed
45,157 kWh and 138,983 kWh of direct and indirect
energy respectively, resulting in a total energy intensity of
5,115 kWh per employee.

Direct” kWh
¢ 10 TR
Petrol kWh
i T R B
Indirect™ kWh
GF F B
Electricity purchased kWh
BE + B
Total (Direct and Indirect) kWh
Bzt (EEEE) T R B
Energy intensity?® kWh/employee
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Note (1):  The energy conversion method adopted by the Group
is based on the “How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” and the IPCC Default Net Calorific Values

Database.
Note (2):  The number of employee of the Group in 2025 and
2024 are 36 and 38 respectively.

The Group has energy consumption targets of maintaining
the discharge intensity (per employee) at the same level of
2022 by the end of 2027. Regarding to the target
progress of the current year, the target of discharge
intensity (per employee) of the energy consumption has
been achieved. The Group will continue to promote the
concepts of reducing energy consumption and committed
to minimising such consumption. The Group will continue
to review the effectiveness of the existing initiatives.
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s premises of
operations have implemented the following initiatives:

o Replace heavy-polluting vehicles with more
environmentally-friendly models;

o Install energy-saving light bulbs and LED lights across
offices;

o Enable power saving modes for all electronic
equipment and computers; and

o Continually upgrade electronic equipment, servers,
and monitors to energy efficient models.
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Water resources

At the Group, the offices withdraw water from municipal
water supplies. During the Reporting Period, it did not
encounter any problems in sourcing water fit for purpose.
However, water resources should not be taken for granted
and conserved to ensure a sustainable future. The Group
has set water consumption target of maintaining the
discharge intensity (per employee) at the same level of
2022 by the end of 2027. Regarding to the target
progress of the current year, the target of discharge
intensity (per employee) of the water consumption has
been achieved, and we are committed to minimizing
water consumption. We will continue to review the
effectiveness of the existing initiatives and the progress of
the targets. The Group has established pathway of
enhancing the effectiveness of the use of water resources
with long-term perspective as directional targets.

During the Reporting Period, offices and sites have
implemented the following initiatives:

° Makes use of dual-flush toilet systems to save water;

o Gives priority to effective water-saving products in
purchasing decisions;

o Collects rainwater for watering plants when possible;
and

° Checks the hoses and pipes for leaks, cracks, and
other damage regularly and repair it in a timely
manner.
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Due to the change in management company, the
consumption of water decreased to a total of 59 cubic
metre during the Reporting Period, resulting in a water
intensity of 1.64 cubic metre per employee.

Total water consumption cubic metre

WRIK=E AVAS I

Water consumption intensity cubic metre/
employee

RKEE NHREE

Note (1):  The scope of the data disclosure is limited to the
Group's premise of operations in Tokyo, as the
water supply at our Hong Kong office is solely
controlled by the building management office.

Packaging material

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, the Group
does not manufacture physical products for sale, while
packaging materials for auction products are negligible.
Therefore, as the Group deemed packaging consumption
was not a material topic, it did not disclose any data for
this Reporting Period. However, the Group makes efforts
to reduce or avoid the use of excessive packaging and/or
decorative material.
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As a business engaged in the auctioning of cultural
products, we are engaged in the organisation and
management of corporate events. We constantly seek to
integrate sustainability principles into the event
management, such as aiming to reduce waste generated
during events. The Group strives to build an
eco-conscious culture that ingrains positive lifestyles and
habits among employees. It encourages employees to opt
for public transportation when commuting to and from
offices. The Group also provides eco-friendly office
supplies and reusable cups and kitchenware.

The corporate sector has become increasingly aware of the
potential types of impact climate change risks present to
their bottom line, as well as the opportunities to transit to
a low-carbon economy offers to the private sphere. Albeit
in the early stages, the Group has commenced the
integration of climate change risks and opportunities
within our business strategies. Our Group will conduct an
enterprise risk assessment at least once a year to assess
the current and potential risks faced by our Group's
business, including the potential risks arising from the
impacts of climate change. The Group reviews the impact
of climate change on its operation on a regular basis and
will formulate measures to address risks and achieve
sustainable operations in the future.
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The Group’s Environment, Social and Governance policy
emphasize that the Group should apply three key
strategies: enhance the carbon emission disclosure,
improve climate change risk management, and include

REBNIRE
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climate change concerns in the future business plan of the 2l o A& EE L A R & A8 7 R b 5 it 1A

Group. The Group’s potential climate-related risks are N

summarised as below:

Risk Type Risk
[ b3 E 4R = Bz

Physical Risks

e Changes in rainfall
patterns, extreme
changes in weather
patterns and more
severe extreme
weather events

.  EEBARL KR
B (R E B
& 1015 o R 0

Transition Risks e Changes in
environmental-related
regulations and
increase in discharge
responsibility

s REMBERELR
BEE £ 10

B

Potential
Financial Impact

BEMBHE

e Reduced revenue from
business due to
business disruptions

o XBHETEHEHU

2

e Higher operating and
compliance costs to
adopt new practices
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Mitigation Strategy
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e Establish adverse

weather condition
policy and formulate
emergency plans
Insurance coverage for
fire, flood and
typhoon damages to
merchandise, fixtures
and fittings etc.
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Adopt energy
conservation measures
to reduce emissions
Continue to monitor
the regulatory
environment to ensure
that the Group has
complied with the
environmental related
laws and regulations
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The Group ingrains social responsibility into all aspects of
its operations. The Group strives to maintain honest and
authentic dialogue with staff and seeks to address their
needs and views to ensure our conduct is responsible at
all times. The Group commits to offering a fair and safe
workplace with staff development opportunities.
Furthermore, the Group commits to delivering the quality
products/services grounded on ethical business conduct
and supply chain management, as well as to meaningful
engagements with the community.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group
employed a total of 36 employees, in which 20 and 16
are male and female staff respectively. In term of the
workforce by the age group, 5, 16, 8 and 7 of Group's
employees were in the age group of less than 30, 30 to
39, 40 to 49 and 50 and more respectively. In terms of
the workforce by region, 26, 8, 1 and 1 of the Group’s
employees are located in Japan, Hong Kong, the PRC and
Taiwan. In term of the workforce by employee category,
6, 1 and 29 of Group’s employees were executive,
technical, administrative respectively. In term of the
workforce by employment type, 33 and 3 of Group's
employees were full-time employee and part-time
employee respectively.
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Note (1):  The data of the number of employees is based on the
labour contract signed with employees provided by
the human resources department of the Group. The
data cover employees who have a direct employment
relationship with the Group in accordance with
relevant local laws and those whose work or
workplace is controlled by the Group. The above
method of reporting employment data is based on
the "How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 3:
Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs”.

Based on the principles of fairness and equality, the
Group’s employment handbook stipulates concrete policies
relating to relevant labor laws, regulations and industry
practices, covering areas such as compensation, dismissal,
promotion, working hours, recruitment, rest periods, equal
opportunities, diversity and other benefits and welfare.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has encountered
no incidents of non-compliance with all major applicable
laws and regulations related to employment at all
operating regions. Major applicable laws and regulations
include, but are not limited to, “Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Labour Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, “Employment Ordinance”
of Hong Kong and the Labor Standards Act in Japan and
Taiwan.

The Group’s policies and procedures included in the
employment handbook are reviewed and updated on a
regular basis. The Group discourages and disallows any
behavior that violates the regulations in the employment
handbook. Offenders will receive warning, and the Group
has the right to terminate employment contract with
offenders for any serious violations.
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Remuneration policies

Employees of the Group are remunerated at a competitive
level with reference to market terms and individual merits
and are rewarded according to their performance and
experience. The promotion and remuneration of the
Group’'s employees are subject to annual review.
Employees are entitled to the defined contribution
retirement benefits scheme under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ base salaries. The Group also made
contributions to provident funds, elderly insurance,
medical insurance, unemployment insurance and
work-related injury insurance in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations in Japan. Furthermore,
employees are entitled to travel allowances, “thirteenth
month” bonus, five-day workweek arrangement and
various types of paid leave. The Group has adopted share
option scheme as a reward to eligible high-caliber
employees and to attract similar high quality personnel
that are valuable to the Group. To ensure information
transparency on the responsibilities and rights of
employees, details are set out in the employment
handbook.

The human resources department conducts a
comprehensive recruitment review process to ensure that
the data provided by the candidates is accurate. The
Group’s recruitment and promotion process are carried out
in a fair and open manner for all employees. Employees
are recognised and rewarded by their contribution, work
performance and skills, and outcomes will not be affected
by any discrimination on the grounds of age, sex, marital
status, family status, race, disability, nationality, religion,
political affiliation and sexual orientation and other
factors. In the case of dismissal, the employment
handbook is adhered to which ensures the entire
procedure is compliant with statutory requirements. The
Group strives to retain the best employees at work, and
has continued to monitor staff turnover with a view to
identify and manage problems in the termination process.
In regards to employee’s holiday, if it falls on a statutory
holiday, compensatory time off will be offered.
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During the Reporting Year under review, the Group's REBEREFEN AEENEERK
employee turnover rate continue to decrease from 47% K HRAT7% 55 B R > 22025 8917% © T~
to 17% in 2025. The charts below present the turnover REHIR MR - FE R E D H R
rate by gender, age and region. o
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Note (1):  Employee turnover data are based on labour contracts
signed with employees provided by the human
resources department of the Group. The turnover
rate is calculated by dividing the number of
employees who left during the year by the number
of employees at the end of the year. The reporting
method used for the above turnover data is based
on the “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix
3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” issued by the
Stock Exchange.

Anti-discrimination and diversity

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not
discriminate on the basis of age, sex, marital status,
family status, race, disability, nationality, religion, political
affiliation and sexual orientation. We embrace inclusive
employment that builds a harmony and respectful
workplace. The Group strives to ensure a safe and secure
workplace with zero tolerance to any form of abuse and/
or sexual harassment in the workplace.

It is of paramount importance to ensure a safe and
healthy workplace for the employees as the Group
believes its employees are the most valuable assets of an
enterprise. The Group’s management team is responsible
for identifying any actual and potential hazards and risks
to each individual, work towards a safe and hygienic work
environment and to ensure that our work environment is
adhered to the requirements of relevant laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
encountered no incidents of non-compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations related to occupational
health and safety at all operating regions. Major
applicable laws and regulations include, but are not
limited to, “Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance” of
Hong Kong and Industrial Safety and Health Law in Japan,
“Law on Work Safety”of the PRC.
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The Group spares no effort to safequard the safety of our
employees and workplace. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has adopted the best practices through the
following safety policies and procedures.

o Establishes safety guidelines and practices to ensure
healthy and safe working conditions for the
employees;

o Provides safety orientation to new employees to
ensure a thorough understanding of health and
safety, and their roles and responsibilities;

o Conducts regular inspections and investigate any
reported unsafe conditions;

° Conducts rescue, fire and evacuation drills on a
regular basis and according to statutory
requirements; and

o Provides safety trainings materials to employees on a
regular basis in order to raise awareness of
occupational safety.

The Group abides to safety-first principles through the
following workplace procedures and provisions that

include, but are not limited to:

General measures and initiatives

Environment, Social and Governance Report

B HBREARE

AEBTESRNBERERMEE R T
BN RE RRERRN - AEEDEB
NTZe2BREEFRAREER -

. HERRESIREBRURRAES
RHRERT DM T M

e RIMMARBRHEZZEE MR
BRTHRERRZZ UEKEAB

kBT
e ETTFHRELRACTMNFBAL
2B

o TEHRBBIREBRELETEY B
NEEARE + &

. THRESRGTEIME K
THRABER S 8 5 -

AEBFEBATTIESMIERF LR TEE
SEE2F-RA BREREFSRRATS
15 :

— R IEHE R 1T 2

o Examine and maintain the condition of equipment according to supplier’'s recommendations

REHEANEZZRE RRFREOARR

o Provide comprehensive training to personnel that engage in manual handling, based on risk assessment

evaluations

RERRIHEE  AUELENTENABREZEEII

o Provide adequate first-aid facilities
RERHE KR IE

o Establish emergency plans
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During the past three years, there was no work-related
fatalities. Furthermore, there were no lose days due to
work injuries in the Reporting Period.

The Group regards our staff as the most valuable assets.
The Group dedicates significant resources to attract and
retain talented employees, and to ensure that staff grow
in competence and skill sets alongside the business. The
Group is committed to providing comprehensive
on-the-job training programs, which collectively serve as a
platform to encourage its staff to develop potential and
self-improvement.

The Group seeks to improve its comprehensive internal
and external staff training systems. The Group strives to
provide promising career development opportunities
through on-the-job trainings with a focus on auction
operation know-how, customer service techniques,
artworks authentication and valuation abilities, through
which the employees could strengthen the quality of their
skill sets.

Furthermore, every newly appointed director will receive
formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first
occasion of his appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

The Group also encouraged the directors to participate in
continuing professional development to develop and
refresh knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings
for directors would be arranged and reading materials on
relevant topics would be provided to directors where
appropriate. All directors are also committed to
participating any suitable training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills.
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During the Reporting Year under review, a total number
of 36 employees have attended training hours, of which
20 and 16 were male and female respectively. In terms of
employee category, 6 (i.e. 17%), 1 (i.e. 3%) and 29 (i.e.
80%) of employees trained were of executive, technical
and administrative respectively.

During the Reporting Year under review, the Group has
provided a total of 48 training hours for staff, which
averages to 1.8 and 0.8 hours per male and female staff.
In terms of employee category, an average of 3.0, 6.0
and 0.8 training hours per staff were received by
executive, technical and administrative grade employees.

Group 100%

AERE

By Gender

=14 51
Male 56%
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Employee Category
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Administrative 80%
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Note (1):  The employee’s training data are obtained from the
Company’s human resources department. Training
refers to the vocational training that the employees
of the Company participated in during the year. The
method adopted for the above report on the
number and percentage of trained employees are
based on “How to prepare an ESG Report Appendix
3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” issued by
HKEX.

Note (2):  The percentages have been restated as the method
on the percentage of trained employees adopted
changed and based on “How to prepare an ESG
Report Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social
KPIs” issued by HKEX.

The Group strictly prohibits all forms of child labour,
forced labour or modern slavery. The Group has
established and implemented the staff handbook which
contains concrete policies relating to relevant labor laws,
regulations and industry practices, covering areas such as
compensation,
recruitment, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity
and other benefits and welfare. Cases of child labour in

dismissal, promotion, working hours,

our businesses are averted by conducting age verification
of all job applicants.

During the Reporting Period under review, the Group has
encountered no incidents of non-compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations related to anti-child and
anti-forced labour practices at all operating regions. Major
applicable laws and regulations include, but are not
limited to, “Employment Ordinance” of Hong Kong and
the Labor Standards Act in Japan and Taiwan.
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The Group is committed to developing and maintaining
effective and mutually beneficial working relationships
with our business partners. During the Reporting Period,
the suppliers include mainly sellers from whom the Group
purchase artworks as principal for the artwork sales
segment, property owners who provide venue for artwork
preview exhibition and art auction operation, suppliers of
event organization and accommodation booking services
for the artwork preview exhibition and art auction
operation, suppliers of photo-taking, printing and delivery
services for the auction catalogs, and suppliers of delivery
services for the auctioned artworks and security and
insurance services. During the Reporting Period, the Group
has encountered no incidents of non-compliance with all
related laws and regulations at all operating regions.

The major suppliers of the Group are located in PRC,
Hong Kong and Japan. The geographical distribution of
the suppliers of the Group is as below.

By Region

=i E
Japan %
B A
Hong Kong %
N
PRC %
1
Other regions %
H Al 3 [

The Group generally selects suppliers based on their scale
of business and reputation. The Group also supports and
encourages the suppliers to promote efficient use of
resources and environmental protection and fulfill
corporate social responsibility. The Group will take a fair
and open principle on procurement of materials and
services.
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The quality of artworks is essential to the Group’s
business as they are the main products. The Group
purchases artworks which the Group believes has
appreciation potential and resell them to independent
third parties. The Group has implemented internal control
and risk management systems to authenticate and value
the artworks. All the artwork sellers must pass the
stringent assessment procedures, such as screening and
authenticate the artworks before purchasing them for
resale. Furthermore, the Group has established Internal
Artwork Appraisal Team and External Artwork Appraisal
Consultants to advise the Group on the authenticity and
valuation of different types of artworks. The team will
authenticate and value them in accordance with the
Group’s internal control policy. The Group would not
approve or purchase from unqualified suppliers.

Furthermore, the Group gradually takes environmental
consideration into account in the procurement process. To
integrate the environmental vision into the procurement
of product supplies, the Group avoids disposable products
and chooses suppliers who provide durable products with
less packaging materials. Priority will be
environmentally friendly materials and office goods, so as
to raise the suppliers’ awareness of sustainable
development.

given to

The Group has integrated the pandemic risks into our
enterprise risk management mechanism and future
business plan. We have suspended public activities and
events, in contrast,
technologies and existing digital infrastructure to facilitate
seamless communication for business continuity ——
conducted auction in our auction online platform. We
keep our customers and supply chain partners informed of
the latest business information and ensure short term
demand-supply synchronization.

we utilise new communication
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The Group offers quality products and services grounded
on responsible operating practices. The Group commits to
meeting customer needs through innovation and sound
business ethics.

Product quality and safety

Assuring the quality and safety of the artworks and
services is of the topmost importance. The Group has
implemented concrete internal control system and risk
management system to authenticate and value the
artworks for auction or for resale. All the artwork must
pass the stringent assessment procedures, such as
screening and authenticating the artworks. Furthermore,
the Group has established an internal artwork appraisal
team and hired external artwork appraisal consultants to
advise the Group on the authenticity and valuation of
different types of artworks. The team, which consist of
well recognised experts and external artwork appraisal
consultants with adequate qualification and experience,
will authenticate and value them in accordance with the
Group'’s internal control policy.

The confirmation of ownership and legality of the source
is crucial before selling the artworks, the Group has
implemented a series of due diligence work on the
background of the artworks. After examined the artworks
and ascertained the provenance of the artwork, the
appraisal team will produce assessment reports. The
internal artwork appraisal team will consider seeking
advice and a second opinion from the external artwork
appraisal consultants if necessary. If there is a discrepancy
on the authentication and valuation of a particular
artwork between the internal artwork appraisal team and
the external artwork appraisal consultants after a detailed
discussion, such particular artwork will not be put for
auction. Otherwise, the final valuation should be the
valuation made by both parties and agreed and confirmed
by the consignor in the signed auction consignment
agreement with us for record and further procedure.
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Regarding the artworks on consignment, the Group has
implemented a series of following measures for ownership
confirmation. The Group will not accept any artwork that
we know is subject to title disputes or legal impediments.

o Requests the consignor to provide documents to
prove ownership, authenticity and value of the
artwork and verify the authenticity and origin of the
relevant artwork;

o Requests the consignor to provide authentication or
artist certificate or previous purchase record in
auction or private transaction, if any;

o Conducts public searches through the internet and
from the public security and court record, including
but not limited to the “Stolen (Lost) Cultural Relics
Information Publishing Platform of China” to retrieve
any record of artworks, if any; and

o Gives representations and warranties to the
ownership and legality of source, and such
representations and warranties are set out as an
express term in the auction consignment agreement
or the sale agreement.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not faced any
major product liability claims, and did not recalled any
products due to safety and health reason. The Group
treats all the complaints and feedback seriously and
handles them in a timely and professional manner. We will
review and investigate the complaints and feedback and
takes the immediate actions when necessary. During the
Reporting Period, the Group had not received any major
customer complaints about the quality of the Group's
products.
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Fair and Open Competition

The Group promotes fair and open competition that aims
to develop long-term relationships with its buyers and
suppliers based on mutual trust. The Group has ensured
the fairness and transparency of the auction. For example,
the background information and facts about the auction
lots would be disclosed in details to public. The Group
implements “Know Your Client” due diligence and client
screening procedures that aim at evaluating the identity,
financial background, reputation and business activities (if
any) of a new seller and buyer. The Group requests the
seller to provide documents to prove ownership,
authenticity and value of the artwork and verify the
authenticity and origin of the relevant artwork on its
own.

Ethical operating practices

The Group places great value in conducting all aspects of
our businesses with integrity and honest values. From
protection of data privacy and intellectual property to
ethical marketing communication, our robust management
approaches ensure even the most trivial aspects is not
overlooked. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
encountered no incidents of non-compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations related to data privacy,
advertising, labelling matters at all operating regions.
Major applicable laws and regulations include, but are not
limited to, Hong Kong Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance,
Personal Data Protection Act in Japan, the PRC and
Taiwan.
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Personal data privacy protection

The Group is committed to protecting privacy and
confidentiality of the collected personal data. The Group
is conscientious about securing communication and data
protection, and the Group respects all individuals’' legal
rights to privacy. As the Group owns electronic artworks
database, auction platform and information on a large
number of buyers and sellers, regular enhancements on
the anti-virus protection system are proceeded by
information technology personnel. The Group has
established internal policies on handling personal data
recorded from our employees, customers and other
business partners. The Group collects data only in a lawful
and fair way, for directly related purposes of which the
data subject is clearly notified. The employees are
instructed to handle client information with due care and
access to the client information only with good reasons.
The Group collects and uses client information in a
responsible and non-discriminatory manner and has
restricted the use of client information for the purposes
that are only in consistent with those identified in
engagement contracts. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has complied with the requirements of the Personal
Data Ordinance of Hong Kong and Act on the Protection
of Personal Information of Japan.

Advertising and product labelling

Responsible marketing practices are crucial to gaining
customer trust and confidence. The Group has
implemented clear guidelines on the ethical usage of all
forms of sales promotion and direct marketing and digital
marketing communications. All auction catalogs for
artworks available on our website are reviewed to ensure
the information is complete and accurate. The Group also
produce and distribute self-designed consigned auctions
catalogs in our art auctions. Product labelling serves a
critical function, ensuring unique product identification
and that customers are informed of any possible product
risks. Ongoing assessment of policies is conducted
through periodic assessment.
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The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining the
highest standards of openness, probity and accountability.
Employees at all levels are expected to conduct themselves
with integrity, impartiality and honesty and to comply with
the relevant legal norms and ethical standards. It is every
employee’s responsibility and it is all interest of the
company to ensure that any inappropriate behavior or
organisational malpractice that compromises the interest
of the shareholders, investors, customers and the wider
public does not occur. During the year, the Group held
internal trainings regarding the anti-corruption and
anti-money laundering, including but not limited to laws
and regulations, and sent out the anti-corruption materials
to the staff. To ensure the continuous enhancement of
our anti-corruption internal controls, the Group conducts
annual corruption risk assessments.

The Group has implemented whistle-blowing policy to
encourage employees and others who have serious
concerns to voice any suspected misconduct, illegal acts or
failure to act. Employees who breach the anti-corruption
policy will face disciplinary action, which could result in
dismissal for serious misconduct. The Group has no
tolerance to any corruption and set whistle-blowing policy
to report any corruption. Whistle-blowers can report
verbally or in writing to the department or the senior
management of the Group with regards to any suspected
misconduct with full details and supporting evidence.

Furthermore, the Group performs regular screening and
monitoring process after each auction event and conducts
investigation on situations indicating potential
money-laundry activities. If the money-laundry activities
were identified, any suspicious transactions of the
respective seller or buyer will be suspended and the
business relationship with such buyer or seller may be
terminated subject to result of the investigation.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has encountered
no incidents of non-compliance with all applicable laws
and regulations at all operating regions. Major applicable
laws and regulations include, but are not limited to, the
“Criminal and Civil Law"” of the PRC and the “Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance” of Hong Kong. During the
Reporting Period, the Group has strictly abided by all the
rules and regulations, no litigation regarding bribery has
been instituted against the Group and its staff.

Despite the challenging market and economic conditions,
the Group is committed to contributing to socio-economic
development, community well-being and sustainability. For
the Group’s long-term development, community
participation is important. As a responsible corporate
citizen, the Group is constantly aware of the needs and is
committed to promoting development activities of the
community at which the Group operates. The Group also
encourages staff to spend time and efforts in various
community projects and make contributions to the
community. During the Reporting Year, the Group has
made a total of approximately HK$296,500 donations to
the charitable organizations and activities including the
donation of rice to food angel and the donation to pink
revolution and National Museum of History in Taiwan and
organized some volunteer activities, such as beach clean
up and storytelling with children.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors submit herewith their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The Group is a well-recognised auction house of Chinese and
Japanese artworks in Hong Kong and Japan. The Group
specialises in auctioneering a wide variety of artworks with
emphasis on Chinese and Japanese artworks, including Chinese
paintings and calligraphies, Chinese antiques and Japanese and
Chinese teawares.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Part of the business review as required under Schedule 5 to the
Companies Ordinance is included in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report on
pages 9 to 23 and such contents form part of this Report of
the Directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 131 of this
annual report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five year is set out on page 248 of this
annual report.
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The Company has adopted the Dividend Policy, which aims to
set out the principles and guidelines that the Company applies
to the declaration and distribution of dividends to the
Shareholders. The Company may by ordinary resolution declare
dividends as the Directors consider appropriate. The
determination to pay dividends will be based on the
Company's profits, condition, capital
requirements and other conditions that the Board deems
relevant. No dividend shall be payable except out of the profits
or other distributable reserves of the Company available for
distribution. Except as otherwise provided by the Articles or the
rights attached to Shares or the terms of issue thereof, all
dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts
paid up on the Shares on which the dividend is paid. The
Company may pay dividends by any method that the Directors
consider appropriate.

cash flows, financial

Details of movements during the Reporting Period in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in
Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the movements during the Reporting Period in the
share capital of the Company are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the
Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, save for the Share Option Scheme
as set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of
this Report of the Directors, the Company did not enter into
any other equity-linked agreement, nor did any other
equity-linked agreement exist during the Reporting Period.
Please refer to the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme”
in this Report of the Directors and Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements for further information about the Share
Option Scheme.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries were a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors (including their spouse and children under 18 years of
age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 135 of this annual
report and Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

In the opinion of the Directors, there is no reserve of the
Company which is available for distribution to Shareholders at
31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this Report of the Directors were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui)

(resigned on 20 June 2025)
Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin)

(resigned on 20 June 2025)
Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai)

(resigned on 20 June 2025)
Mr. Sun Hongyue (resigned on 20 June 2025)
Mr. Huang Shikun (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Mr. Huang Shifeng (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Ms. Qian Yuanyuan (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Mr. Tong Jun (appointed on 30 May 2025)

Non-executive directors
Mr. Li Jiefeng (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Mr. Zheng Haoran (appointed on 30 May 2025)
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Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (resigned on 20 June 2025)
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley (resigned on 20 June 2025)
Mr. Chun Chi Man (resigned on 20 June 2025)
Professor He Jia (appointed on 30 May 2025)
Professor Hu Zuohao (appointed on 30 May 2025)

Mr. Leung Ting Yuk (appointed on 30 May 2025)

As at the date of this Report, Professor He Jia, Professor Hu
Leung Ting Yuk are independent
non-executive Directors and were appointed on 30 May 2025
with a term of one year from the date of appointment which

Zuohao and Mr.

shall be renewed automatically for successive terms of one year
unless terminated by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
Mr. Ando Shokei, Mrs. Ando Eri and Mr. Katsu Bunkai are also
directors in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Other directors of the Company's subsidiaries during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report were:

Mr. Chak Chi Shing
Ms. Peng Kuan Lin

As at 31 March 2025, no Director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The Directors’ remuneration is determined with reference to the
remuneration of the comparable companies, the Directors’ time
responsibilities and
performance as well as the results of the Group.

contribution, duties and individual

104

Annual Report 2025

48 B0 2 4t A (7202596 5201 B fT)
MO 22+ (FR2025%6 820 B E)
AR %4 (2025568208 B 1T)
Al E IR (FR2025F5 300 & £ 1)
A VE R (FA20254E5 A30R E ZE 1)
REBE A (FR2025958308 EZ )

RARE BE - [MEHRR - MEAERERRE

BREYARBIIENITESE I MN2025F5H30

HEZE - Q%TEZEI%}_EHH—E I # B &

é,ﬁm FoBRIFEM—FAFEETIR—EAD
BRIT AL -

RESHEIREEAREEH TBMAEL
£ ZHERELERBEXEBRETNSARARE
THBARIMNES -

RBSHEAREEARERY  ARFAHRBL
AIMEMESNT

BEBRE
ZEMLL

M202563A31H - IEBRNEERREAF K
SERSTENESFHEARANEEMAHER
RIFI R —FNAEBETMMEBE CEERER
SN BI RS R IER RIS & 4 -

EZFHORBABELBRABZNHNEHN &
ERAMER - BEREE B TERRR
AEBOEEMET °



Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set
out in page 24 to 37 of this annual report.

The Company has entered into a service contract with each of
executive Directors, with a term of one year from the date of
appointment which shall be
successive terms of one year unless terminated by either party
with one month’s written notice. Each of executive Directors
shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company.

renewed automatically for

The Company has been entered into a letter of appointment
with each of the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors with a term of one year from the date
of appointment which shall be renewed automatically for
successive terms of one year unless terminated by either party
with one month’s written notice. The appointments are subject
to the provisions of the Articles with regard to vacation of
office of Directors, removal and retirement by rotation of
Directors. Each of the non-executive Directors is entitled to a
director’'s fee of HK$60,000 per annum and each of the
independent non-executive Directors is entitled to a director’s
fee of HK$120,000 per annum. Save for directors’ fees, none of
the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors is expected to receive any other remuneration for
holding their office as a non-executive Director or an
independent non-executive Director.
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Directors’ and senior management remuneration

Details of the remuneration of the Directors of the Group for
the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 13 and 38 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Company. The
remuneration of each senior management personnel by band is
as follows:

ESREREEE N
AEFBEENRESHOFHEBENAD
RIAHPERERMFIZINIS - SEREEE A
BMFMEENT

No. of senior

management
EREEEASHE
Less than HK$1,000,000 71,000,000/ 7T 1
More than HK$1,000,001 and % 11,000,001/ 7T &
less than HK$2,000,000 4 12,000,0005% 7T 1
Directors’ interest in transactions, arrangements or EEREXX S - ZHH SN2 EZE

contracts of significance

Save as disclosed in Notes 13 and 38 to the consolidated
financial statements, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or his/her connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting
Period.

Changes in Director’s biographical details

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company is not
aware of other changes in the Directors’ information which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

In accordance with the definition of section 469 of the
Companies Ordinance, the permitted indemnity provision in
relation to the director’s and officer’s liability insurance was in
force during the Reporting Period and remains in force as at the
date of this annual report.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus under the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transaction” and the transactions as
disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements,
no controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries has any contract of significance (including contract
of significance for the provision of services) with the Company
or its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management or administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
was entered into or subsisted during the Reporting Period.

PENSION SCHEME

The Group participates in several defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes, including the National Pension and
Mandatory Provident Fund for its employees in Japan and Hong
Kong, respectively. The Group’s contributions vest fully with the
employees when such contributions are made into these
pension schemes. Accordingly, no forfeited contribution is
available for the Group to reduce its existing level of
contributions to the respective pension schemes. Further details
of the pension scheme of the Company are set out in the
paragraph headed “Pension Obligations” in Note 2.22(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on
13 September 2018 (the “2018 Share Option Scheme"”) for the
purpose to enable the Company to grant share options to
selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. All directors, employees, suppliers of
goods or services, customers, persons or entities that provide
research, development or other technological support to the
Group, shareholders of any member of the Group, advisers or
consultants of the Group and any other group or classes of
participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement
to growth of the Group are eligible to participate in the 2018
Share Option Scheme. An option may be accepted by a
participant within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant
of the option. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of an option. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and
notified by the Directors to each grantee, which period may
commence on a day after the date upon which the offer for
the grant of options is made but shall end in any event not
later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option,
subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. The
subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day; and
(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant.
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The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue on 11 October 2018 (being the date of listing of Shares
of the Company) (the “2018 General Scheme Limit”). The
maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2018 Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme adopted by the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. Unless
approved by the shareholders of the Company, the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the 2018 Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group (including both
exercised or outstanding options) to each participant in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer of the
grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.

On 24 April 2023, 48,000,000 share options were granted to
certain Director, senior managements and employees of the
Group (the “Grantees”), as disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 24 April 2023. The share options granted
shall vest in the Grantees in accordance with their respective
the timetable. Details of the grant of share options are set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 24 April 2023.
During the Reporting Period, no share options have been
exercised, lapsed or cancelled by the Company under the 2018
Share Option Scheme. As at 31 March 2025, there were Share
Options for 48,000,000 shares valid and outstanding under the
2018 Share Option Scheme.
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On 4 September 2023, at the annual general meeting (the
“2023 AGM"), the Company proposed adoption of 2023 share
option scheme (the “2023 Share Option Scheme”) and
termination of the 2018 Share Option Scheme were duly
passed by the Shareholders by way of poll. For details
information, please refer the circular of the Company dated
28 July 2023 (the “2023 AGM Circular”) and the poll result of
the 2023 AGM are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 4 September 2023.

The purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is to (i) enable
the Company to grant Options to the Eligible Participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth and
development of the Group; (ii) to attract and retain personnel
to promote the sustainable development of the Group; and (iii)
to align the interest of the grantees with those of the
Shareholders to promote the long-term financial and business
performance of the Company. A summary of the principal rules
of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is set out in Appendix Ill to
the 2023 AGM Circular. The Directors believe that the
provisions as well as such other terms as may be determined by
the Board, will serve to protect the value of the Company as
well as to achieve the purpose of the 2023 Share Option
Scheme.

None of the Directors is a trustee of the 2023 Share Option
Scheme or has a direct or indirect interest in the trustees of
the 2023 Share Option Scheme (if any). There is no trustee
appointed for the purposes of the 2023 Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued in respect of all share options and all share awards to be
granted under the 2023 Share Option Scheme of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of adoption. Pursuant to the
Rule 17.07(3) of the Listing Rules, as at 31 March 2025 and
the date of this report, the total number of shares of the
Company which may be issued under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme is 50,000,000 shares, representing 10% of the issue
shares of the Company as at such date.
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With the effectiveness of the new Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules with effect from 1 January 2023, the Company shall
comply with the relevant rules of the new Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules under the transitional arrangements before the
Share Option Scheme is amended to comply with the new
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
report.

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2025,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company whose
interests are disclosed under the sub-paragraph headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares and debentures of the
company or any of its associated corporations” below, no other
persons had an interest or a short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the
“SFO").
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=

DIRECTORS’

& s

AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF

ITS

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Name of Group
member/associated

MR2025%3A318  ARARIEEN&EETHA
BRARAIKEEBEZBE(TEREFSREAE
1B EXVED) MR - HEAKRGD REEEFE
EREFS MNP EGENEI2ELEREBEFTE
ZETMHOEREAR  SRE LR AIH
TREMBRETREASITAEARR RBR
FTH RS AR IT

Approximate
percentage of
Number of shares interest held in

Name corporation Nature of interest interested the Company
EATHEW
FEEREAT a2
i HEEBEZE EatE HEERZROEE BHLE
(Note 1)
(Bt a£1)
Mr. Ando Shokei The Company Beneficial owner 374,967,278(L) 75%
TZEMELE ZiN/NE]| ExnEAA
Mrs. Ando Eri The Company Interest of spouse 374,967,278(L) 75%
(Note 2)
THEEELZ LT PIN/NE] fic 48 1 2= (B 3%2)
Mr. Katsu Bunkai TCA Japan Beneficial owner 50 class A shares(L) 5%
(Note 3)
BEXB%E TCAR AR E=mA A MEE3) SOAR AXE AR 17 (L)
Notes: M 5E

1.
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The letter “L" denotes the Directors’ long position in the shares
of the Company or the relevant associated corporation.

Mrs. Ando Eri is the spouse of Mr. Ando Shokei. Under the SFO,
Mrs. Ando Eri is taken to be interested in the same number of
Shares in which Mr. Ando Shokei is interested. Mr. Ando Shokei
and Mrs. Ando Eri resigned as executive Directors of the
Company on 20 June 2025.

These shares represent class A shares in TCA Japan held by
Mr. Katsu Bunkai. Shareholders of class A shares in TCA Japan
do not have any voting right at the general meeting of
shareholders of TCA Japan. Mr. Katsu Bunkai resigned as
executive Director of the Company on 20 June 2025.
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On 24 April 2023, total 5,000,000 options are granted to Mr.
Katsu Bunkai to subscribe for Shares upon exercise of such
share options at an exercise price of HK$0.80 per shares with
an exercise period of 24 April 2024 to 23 April 2029. Such
5,000,000 share options had been tendered for cancellation
under the option offer on 20 June 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code and the
Companies Ordinance.

On 25 April 2025, Mr. Ando Shokei had entered into the sale
and purchase agreement with ESSA Financial Group Ltd,
immediately after the completion of the sale and purchase of
the 374,967,278 shares, which transferred from Mr. Ando
Shokei to the ESSA Financial Group Ltd of the 329,967,278
Shares, Mr. Li Jiefeng of the 15,000,000 Shares, Mr. Zheng
Haoran of the 15,000,000 Shares and other purchaser of the
15,000,000 Shares respectively. The parent company of the
Group is ESSA Financial Group Ltd and the ultimate controlling
shareholder is Mr. Huang Shikun, who is also the executive
Director of the Company since 30 May 2025 and chairman of
the Company since 20 June 2025. For details, please refer to
the joint announcements dated 2 May 2025, 23 May 2025,
30 May 2025 and 20 June 2025 (the “Joint
Announcements”) and circular dated 30 May 2025 (the
“Circular”) of the Company.

Mr. Li Jiefeng and Mr. Zheng Haoran were appointed as non-
executive Directors of the Company since 30 May 2025.

The customers under the art auction and related business
primarily include sellers who consign artworks to the Group for
the auctions and buyers who purchase artworks in the art
auctions. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the
customers under the segment are generally comprised of
artwork interested parties including artworks artists, masters,
experts, merchants, collectors, art galleries and private
museums.
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The suppliers mainly include sellers from whom the Group #HEBEIZBEAEEIUETEASHHREM
purchase artworks as principal for the artwork sales segment, @EED PR EBEEENMRNER « ZHB
property owners who provide venue for artwork preview {FElfRERNMBITENMKAMVESNEET A
exhibition and art auction operation, suppliers of event HMIMNEMIERLETEMRIAE IRMHE
organisation and accommodation booking services for the EBEHENMEBEEIRENEER  ARMH
artwork preview exhibition and art auction operation, suppliers ¥ & Bl 8% 12 (5 52 - EN Al K2 [~ 12 AR 75 19 (1 fE
of photo-taking, printing and delivery services for the auction ™ IR ACHELMMmRERNTERSE RE
catalogs, and suppliers of delivery services for the auctioned N 1% AR 804t fER -

artworks and security and insurance services.

The information of the customers and suppliers is as follows: EPRHEFNERDT :

Percentage of
total sales for the
year ended

31 March 2025
#=2025%3A31H
IFEEHESEE
Bkt

Five largest customers AREP 25.0%

The largest customer S YN 6.37%

Percentage of total
purchase for the

year ended

31 March 2025

& F2025%3A318

I EEHERE

Bkt

Five largest suppliers AARHER 21.3%
The largest supplier A ER 4.6%

Note: The percentage of total sales from the five largest customers  [fi3f : #H FE2025F3A31AILFE - FERAARP

was represented by total sales to the five largest customers MEHEETDLIERAEARFIEL BN
divided by aggregate harmer price and total sales for the year ERNETERERAEE - BLE202543
ended 31 March 2025. The percentage of total purchase from BMMBIEFE - RERAAHERNAEER
five largest suppliers was presented by total purchase from the DHIERAAAMHERN AR BB ALEE
five largest suppliers divided by aggregate harmer price and PRENAEEE -

total purchase for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
close associates or shareholders holding more than 5% of the
issued shares of the Company had any interest in the five
largest customers or five largest suppliers of the Group.

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the
ordinary course of business by the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. Each of such related party
transactions constitute connected transactions (as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) which are fully exempted
from the shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and as far as the Directors are aware as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
minimum public float under the Listing Rules.

The compliance of the controlling shareholder of the Company,
namely Mr. Ando Shokei, of the non-competition undertakings
entered into in favour of the Company on 13 September 2018
is set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or the
controlling shareholder of the Company or their respective close
associates are considered to be interested in businesses which
compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the core businesses of the Group.
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The number of employees as at 31 March 2025 is set out
under “Management Discussion and Analysis — Employees and
emolument policy” on page 17 of this annual report. During
the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience any strikes
or significant labour disputes which materially affected the
operation of the Group. The Group maintained good
relationship with its employees.

On 25 April 2025, Mr. Ando Shokei had entered into the sale
and purchase agreement with the ESSA Financial Group Ltd (the
"Offeror”), pursuant to which Mr. Ando Shokei had agreed to
sell and the Offeror and other purchasers had agreed to
purchase an aggregate of 374,967,278 shares (the “Sale
Shares”), representing approximately 74.99% of the total
issued share capital of the Company. The total consideration
for the Sale Shares is HK$164,985,602.32, which is equivalent
to HK$0.44 per Sale Share. For details, please refer to the Joint
Announcements and the Circular of the Company.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on
11 October 2018 and the Company received net proceeds (the
“Net Proceeds”) (after deduction of underwriting commission
and related costs and expenses) from the global offering of
approximately HK$110.0 million. On 26 March 2021, the
Company has resolved to change the use of the unutilised net
proceeds of approximately HK$27.3 million (the
“Reallocation”). For details, please refer to the prospectus (the
“Prospectus”) of the Company dated 27 September 2018 in
relation to the global offering and the announcement of the
Company dated 26 March 2021 (the “Announcement”).
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As at 31 March 2025, the Net Proceeds had been fully utilised
by the Company and applied for as follows:

Amount of
Reallocation as

Planned use of
Net Proceeds as

disclosed in the  disclosed in the
Prospectus  Announcement
BRER
RENRERE BALHKE
FEGHRE EHSENLE
(HKS million) (HKS million)
(B%#ER) (E8ET)
(i) Strengthening and MERBERRE
expanding existing auction HEEH
business 62.7 (22.8)
(i) Enhancing marketing and NEEERER
promotional activities GE) 220 —
(iiiy Recruiting high-calibre RAEREzNER
managers and experts A RER 838 -
(iv) Developing the Group's ERP  FIZAEBMGE
system ARBEZ S 5.5 4.5)
(v) Supplementing the Group's ~ FZAEEMNEE
working capital and for BEe R
general corporate NRIAR
purposes 11.0 —
(vi) Developing an artwork ERELRHR
business for online trading AHTAH
and information platform MmEH - 273
1100 -~

The Company has established an audit committee in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. As at the date
of this Report, it currently comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Li Jiefeng and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Ting Yuk and
Professor He Jia.

The audit committee has reviewed with the management of the
Group the accounting principles and standards adopted by the
Group, and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the review of this annual report and
the audited annual financial results of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

The consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period
have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
("HLB"). A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming
AGM to re-appoint HLB as auditors of the Company until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company.

utilised as at
1 April 2024

202454818
FaRneE
(HKS million)
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ExeRE

R20259F3A31H AR R E BEI A ATEK
TESE  FRBRANT

Amount utilised
during the year
ended

31 March 2025
gz
2025%3A318
LEE
FaRneE
(HKS million)
(GEB#T)

Unutilised Net
Proceeds as at
31 March 2025

Amount
utilised as at
31 March 2025

Amount

12025534318
i 8 B 8
FRRESE
(HKS million)
(BB#T)

12025434318
e LR
(HKS$ million)

(BHET) (BE#T)

(11.0) - (11.0) -

(15.8) 9.2

(98.5) (9.2) (11.5) -
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EFEEWmE

Discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group is included in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements and such contents form part of this Report of the
Directors.

The Group is committed to environmental protection and values
corporate social responsibilities. The Group continues to update
internal policies and programmes for environmental risk
prevention to ensure compliance with requirements of
applicable industrial and local standards, laws, regulations and
policies. The Group also continues to implement environmental
protection, energy saving and emission reduction projects to
improve environmental management, setting a solid foundation
for better future development.

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable
assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise high
performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration
package and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by offering appropriate training
and providing opportunities within the Group for career
advancement.

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Major Customers and
Suppliers” in this Report of the Directors for details of the
suppliers of the Group. Sound relationships with suppliers of
the Group are important for the Group’s business, which can
derive cost effectiveness and long term business benefits.

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Major Customers and
Suppliers” in this Report of the Directors for details of the
customers of the Group. The Group has the mission of sourcing
excellent artworks with good provenance to explore and collect
more valuable artworks for auction by its customer whilst
maintaining long term profitability and business growth. Various
means have been taken to strengthen the communications
between customers and the Group.
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APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of
any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that
had a significant impact on the Group in all material respects.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Board has reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance practices and is satisfied that
the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTION
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ transactions on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code. After specific
enquiry made by the Company, all Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code and the code of conduct of the Company
governing Directors’ securities transactions during the Reporting
Period.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

On behalf of the Board

Huang Shikun
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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HE it E S A R A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

To the Shareholders of Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tokyo
Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 131 to 247, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2025, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
J8 7 1% BURD 3 &

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FE#FT:FEFHEISBRIBERMPNEEHE  RAEY
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the ZAHAHPBERENBARAEENEE &
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These LEBERERFMBAERBAMHTBRENLD
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the EEZRFETEEMN HMISHELEIAIR
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming HEBHHNER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
@B EIR

Net realisable value of the inventories
HFEZUERFERE

Refer to note 2.11, note 4.1 and note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.
FLHE MM B mERME2.11 - M4 R 22 -

As at 31 March 2025, the balance of artwork inventories
was HK$132.3 million, which represented 33.5% of the
total assets of the Group as at 31 March 2025.
MR2025F3A31H B mFE 2 & #H R1323BE R
TLcih BEHEEMR2025F3A31H B EER33.5% °

Artwork inventories are measured at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

How our audit addressed the key Audit Matter
BB EEREETEIE

Our procedures in relation to net realisable value of
the inventories including but not limited to:

BMAEFECAERFENEFEREIRR

J assessing the external art experts’ experience,
qualifications and credentials by inspecting the
Group's records and information in the public
domain;

BARE SEEEAHBHMNTHERERK
AN BEMERNER  EBRMNERE

. obtaining the external valuation reports for
artwork inventories as at 31 March 2025 and
comparing valuation amount of artworks
inventories to the net realisable value of the
artwork inventories, on a sample basis;

M5 M2025F3 A3 AN EMmEENINEEE
HBE UTHBENTRFENGEESHEEE MR T
ER SR FEETHERLE

° assessing, on a sample basis, whether there were
any losses or damage to art inventories by
attending the inventory count with the
assistance of the external art experts; and
EHNHEMMBERNHGE T BREHFE
MDA EBENREFERT A EMIBARNK
BiE R
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18 1% BURD &

Key Audit Matter
&S EIR

We identified the assessment of the net realisable value
of artworks inventories as a key audit matter because the
judgement exercised by the management in determining
the net realisable value of artwork inventories, which can
be inherently uncertain, and because the impact on the
consolidated financial statements could be material.
BT RENaEEC AR FEETRARETSE
B AAEEEEECTEMnEEr 2R FERMITE
B HEr TR B A AEN T - Br e & 0t B ®
REKBEATE -

How our audit addressed the key Audit Matter
M Et iR B R T H 1A

o obtaining an understanding of recent market

trends for artwork inventories, on a sample
basis, by inspecting recent auction prices and
other publicly available information and
enquiring internal artwork appraisal team in the
auction division and applying the information
obtained from the procedures above in
evaluation of the net realisable value of artwork
inventories.
M ARSI HEERREM AR
ABEEARAMEBFAN AN EN mETEE
BER THRENMRESAOHTHBY - L&
AALAREFRSNELRARENRFEZ
A B FEE

Based on our work performed, we found that the net
realisable value of the inventories were supportable by
available evidence.

TP E RS HR -
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Key Audit Matter
&SRR

Impairment of consignor advance

EX AEARIENREE

Refer to note 2.9, note 2.12, note 3.2 and note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements.
w2HA M BHRERMT2.9  M5E2.12
23°

Bt 5E3.2 KBt 7

As at 31 March 2025, the balance of consignor advance
was HK$59.0 million which represented 14.9% of the
total assets of the Group as at 31 March 2025.
M2025%3H31H * ZREAFENRIBZ E#R59.08 &8
T BEHEEN2025F3A31HBEEM14.9% ©

Independent Auditor’s Report
J8 7 1% BURD 3 &

How our audit addressed the key Audit Matter
e ET AR B R ETH A

Our relation

assessment on

procedures in to management’s
impairment of consignor advance
including but not limited to:

BMEREEETHREARNS
BRETER :

XIRR BN F B

. understanding and assessing the design,
implementation of key internal control over the
management’s approval process of granting

consignor advance;

THREFIHEEEEAFARLEZREARNRK
Y HE IR RE 7 P E h 8 45 P P42 Il B B Jr&aﬁm

J discussing with management on the nature and
judgement involved in their assessment on the
recoverability of individual significant balances
for consignor advance by considering the credit
history and worthiness of the consignors and
corroborated their explanations with supporting
evidences to evaluate whether specific provision
should be made;
KREBZFXFANGECHREERE HEEE
MEFEATAN KRB E R ERE R AT EE -
AR F R AT E SO E &
BENBMBEEAXFHER UFERS ﬁ
1 R T B R4
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Key Audit Matter
FE SRR

The Group provides certain collectors and art dealers
with advances with artwork held under the Group’s
custody. If the consigned artwork is sold in auction, the
proceeds received from the buyer, after deducting
commission, consignor advance, interest and relevant
taxes, will be paid to the consignor. If the artwork under
custody remains unsold, the consignor will be required to
repay the advance together with interest, where
applicable, before the artwork under custody is returned
to the consignor.

EEEN SEEERXEMFANENmEE TERRLE
MEHPEHRBENTIE IR EZA 2B MR BES
EH - REFXMGBZAEREEHNRAS ZFEAE
NHFE - -NMEEREBEHBE)SEXNTEREA - MRFE
EXBMBNAEL  EXAEREEMAREETA
Al BAERENFECGERMNE  F) -

How our audit addressed the key Audit Matter
e Et AR B R ETH A

checking, on a sample basis, the approval of
consignor advance by tracing to agreements and
payment records;
FREEHERNACHEUABERELZTARE
RIE 2 EH)t

obtaining the full list of consignor advance and
checked, on a sample basis, whether these
advances are supported by the artwork under
the custody of the Group;
BEEFABRNKENTESTELUMEST R
BMEZERNKERR EEEFENEM
a3 FF
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Key Audit Matter
&SRR

The Group established policies to ensure that advances
are made to consignors with an appropriate credit
history and the Group assesses the credit worthiness of
its consignors as well as considering prior transaction
history with these consignors.
ESETBRRUBRENE
FEAEL I EEEFEHEEZTANEE
ZEEZTXANR F sk o

X AE BTN ENE
B wEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
J8 7 1% BURD 3 &

How our audit addressed the key Audit Matter
e Et AR B R ETHIE

J assessing, on a sample basis, whether the artwork
under the Group’s custody was in good
condition by attending the physical count of the
artwork with assistance of the external art
experts;

EINBEMRERNHGST  BBARSREYE &
SEXENBENL  KMEFXATHENRE
BMRRRGTF

J on a sample basis, obtaining and reviewing the
valuation assessments for the artwork under the
Group’s custody prepared by the
artwork appraisal team. We inquired of the
internal artwork appraisal team about the factors
they considered in their
compared the assessments by referencing to the
recent market prices for similar artwork on a
sample basis;

AT ARG RER AR RN DETEK
Y EEERXENEMmAETZAERNME-
AP 1A) P9 B £ 1T on 28 F B B AR PR 1R S 1T AT M
MERNERLZ2ZRMEMBEIRTHE
BIARER D A LBz F A

internal

assessments and

TECRHFFERE
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Key Audit Matter
g ETEIA

Management has applied HKFRS 9 and conducted an
assessment of expected credit losses (“ECL") relating to
the consignor advance. The Group considers that the
credit risk arising from these advances is not significant
after considering the credit history and worthiness of the
consignors as well as the market value of the relevant
artwork held by the Group.
ERECERBEEMBREENFIRLRUETARN
PRIEETRPEEFRE((RYHEEBE)OFE - &
BREFZANGECLHELEEBEURK EXEREGHNIEA
BMmHmERZ BEXSERRZSTENKENEER
I TEK ©

The Group’s internal artwork appraisal team has assessed
and evaluated the market value of the artwork under its
custody based on the recent market prices of similar
artwork so to determine if the amount of allowance
made is adequate.
EEENARBEMmETERX S RIBRIEN @Y T H
MHERHETENENme) ™5 EEETERG
B UEEHECREBERGEH -

We identified impairment of consignor advance as a key
audit matter because of its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and because the
judgement exercised by management in determining an
appropriate level of loss allowances for these advances
involves assessment on creditability of consignors as well
as estimation of the market value of artwork under the
Group's custody, which can be inherently uncertain.
BABANEXAENFTENREREREAFTE AR
HURNEHVBREREEEAXE BEBERETX
A SRR B B 1B B R B A2 B I VR B0 2 B8 R BT A
ZRANGERAENA LG EXEFAENEMROTS
BE HAZELAgRABETHETEIL-

How our audit addressed the key Audit Matter
HMeEt AR BT EIE

o on a sample basis, evaluating management’s
assessment of the values of artwork under the
Group’s custody based on the valuation
assessments performed by the internal artwork
appraisal team and discussing with management
on the means of realisation of the artwork
under the Group’s custody and the expected
cash flows to be recovered from the artwork,
and comparing the carrying value of the
consignor advance with the value of artwork on
a sample basis; and
BEADBENmETEBBETOMENG A
MESATEEREY S£EEXTENEMm
WEBENTG YHEEREENR BEX£ETE®
BMEpERTANEXFEMmRENELHR
ERE URUMESTAKERABNREZ
FHERENRNEEELLR &

o on a sample basis, checking the subsequent
settlement of the consignor advance as at
31 March 2025 with bank receipts or other
relevant documents.
LA T R 20253 A31H £ 5E ATERRIE
WEI R A E ERITWOIR S E MR X E TR
%= o

Based on our work performed, we found that
management’s estimates and judgment were
supported by available evidence.
BERMBUITOIE  RMRBRERE NG R AR
BERENEE R -
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
“Other

statements and our auditors’

Information”).

report thereon (the

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion,
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group'’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

Independent Auditor’s Report
J8 7 1% BURD 3 &
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 1% BURD &

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

in this

The engagement director on the audit resulting

independent auditors’ report is Yau Wai Ip.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Yau Wai Ip
Practising Certificate Number: P07849

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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Revenue
Costs of services
Costs of sales of goods

Gross profit

Other gains or losses, net

Other income

Provision for allowance for
expected credit losses on
financial assets

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Impairment loss on non-financial
assets

Operating loss

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance costs, net

Share of result on
investment accounted for
using the equity method

Impairment loss on investment
accounted for using the equity
method

Loss before income tax
Income tax credit/(expense)

Loss for the year

Loss attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Loss per share for
loss attributable to
owners of the Company
Basic and diluted (HK cents)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.

Note
Bt &%

W = 6
Bk % BX 7K
BmiEENKAR

EH

Hfth Uy 1 =K &5 1R 0% AR 7
H At W A 8
TMEERMEESR
BEERTE

HERDHAX
TR X
FeMEERMEBEEIR

HEEBR

B 75 W A 10
B 7% B AN 10

B 75 AR A 5 BE 10
EIEFRERZFE
TR I E X4

&R DG AR
ZERENRERRE

19

19

BRET S B RIS 9
PRSHiE %,/ (F ) 11

FEEBE

T &FEIEEE :
EN/NETE ¥ SN
FE4T AR 2

XA BB ANEBIEES
HNEIRER

EAR R #E GE) 12

HK (3.89) cents

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

HE202543A318 L FE

2024

20244

HK$'000

FAET

62,051 57,852
(5,058) (4,175)
(8,509) (6,898)
48,484 46,779
5,262 7
432 1,380
(1,662) (6,778)
(23,572) (23,803)
(39,904) (43,498)
(4,265) —
(15,225) (25,913)
700 226
(1,762) (1,045)
(1,062) (819)

(953) 343
(3,122) —
(20,362) (26,389)
868 (537)
(19,494) (26,926)
(19,461) (26,890)
(33) (36)
(19,494) (26,926)

HK (5.38) cents

(3.89)& 1l (5.38)/& 11l

bt & B8 a8 o H A7 A U EE 3R FE H2RE P B
AE—HEE

—ERFFER
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
aftER R HEMGaRaE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

B E2025F3A31HIEFE
2024
20244
Note HK$'000
B 2+ TET
Loss for the year EEBE (19,494) (26,926)
Other comprehensive loss: HihEERE
ltems that may be reclassified HIgAgeEFMHEE
subsequently to profit or loss BmArIE A
Exchange difference on MEBINEBESE
translating foreign operations R X = %8 (217) (6,583)
Total comprehensive loss for EEHFABEEE
the year, net of tax nR#HIE (217) (6,583)
Total comprehensive loss for FEFABEESE
the year (19,711) (33,509)
Total comprehensive loss for UT&BEIEEE
the year attributable to: GEBEAE:
Owners of the Company KABIHEA A (19,688) (33,048)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR M = (23) (461)
(19,711) (33,509)
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other il & fF18 & K& E 47 & Uk &5 55 F& B2 B I FfT

comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the & F—#fEJ& -
accompanying notes.
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Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Investment accounted for
using the equity method

Deferred income tax assets

Deposits and prepayments

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Deposits and prepayments

Financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss

Pledged bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Equity

Equity attributable to
owners of the company

Share capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

BE
ERBEE

ME - BB LR
EREEE
BLEE

ERERE A K
ZHRE
EREFEREE
B& M IAN IR

REBEAE

&

EE N e E ]
B& AN IR
BAFEFABRZ
TRMEE

BRI RITIF
AehREFED

MaEE

&
FAT A ANEML
i
(LN
ffé 18

FizRER

i

Note
B 5

15
16
17

19
21
24

22
23
24

20
25
25

26
27

4,548
3,701
1,248

575

1,911
1,588

13,571

132,347

145,435
15,190

7,962
4,000
76,457

381,391

394,962

169,730
51,569

221,299
3,287

224,586

—ERFFER

AS AT 31 MARCH 2025
M202543H31H

2024
20244
HK$'000
FAT

8,341
9,978
2,246

5,010

1,337
1,586

28,498

128,588

158,160
26,147

2,500
4,000
48,744

368,139

396,637

169,730
65,906

235,636
3,310

238,946

off
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
& ISR &

AS AT 31 MARCH 2025
M202543H31H

2024
20244
Note HK$'000
B 5 FHB T
Liabilities BfE
Non-current liabilities EREERE
Other payables H b & 58 29 1,200 1,200
Lease liabilities HERE 16 2,611 6,519
Borrowings BR 28 22,807 26,996
Deferred income tax liabilities SR asE 21 1,921 1,959
28,539 36,674
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables and accruals H th J& < 3R I8 % JE &t
A 29 123,349 101,557
Lease liabilities HERE 16 3,861 4,133
Borrowings RS 28 14,520 14,602
Current income tax liabilities EHEHAasE 107 725
141,837 121,017
Total liabilities BfE4HE 170,376 157,691
Total equity and liabilities EEREEEE 394,962 396,637

The above consolidated statement of financial position should bt & 4 B % A S 3% JE B2 B8 B o 5% — GBI -
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 131 to 247 $131%2478 2 & 0t % 3k & 7202556 A30
were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025 and RHEZEeH EVTHUTEERARZ
were signed on its behalf.

Huang Shikun Qian Yuanyuan
= L g#iRiR

Director Director

) EF
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Balance at 1 April 2023

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive loss

— Exchange difference on
translating foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss for
the year

Recognition of equity-settled share
based payment

Balance at 31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive loss

— Exchange difference on
translating foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss for
the year

Recognition of equity-settled share
based payment

Balance at 31 March 2025

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

Attributable to the owners of the Company

Share
capital
(Note 26)
&
(Ktzt26)
HK$'000
THERT

2023E4R18 8
Hes 169,730
EEEE —
Hih&ZaEE
— BREFINER
EERNER
EH —

FEGEHRAH

R AR
BEA B 7
BE —

12202443A318 &
202454R1HH

®wae 169,730

FEEHR —
R EHR
— REGNED

ELMERL

=8 —

FEGEHRAH

BRBH LR
BEOREDER
K3 —

#2025€3A318 8

®wee 169,730

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

RATHE NES
Other
reserve  Retained
(Note 27)  earnings
Hih ik s
(Msx27) REBERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THERT
(60,252) 149,839
— (26,890)
(6,158) —
(6,158) (26,890)
9,367 —
(57,043) 122,949
o (19,461)
(227) =
(227) (19,461)
5,351 =
(51,919) 103,488

B E2025F3A31R IEFE
Non-
controlling Total
Sub-Total interests equity
It FERERZ HESEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHERT FERT
259,317 3,771 263,088
(26,890) (36) (26,926)
(6,158) (425) (6,583)
(33,048) (461) (33,509)
9,367 — 9,367
235,636 3,310 238,946
(19,461) (33)  (19,494)
(227) 10 (217)
(19,688) (23)  (19,711)
5,351 = 5,351
221,299 3,287 224,586

bR E PR B R RS Y i — ORI

TECRHFFERE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

B E2025F3A31HIEFE
2024
2024%F
Note HK$'000
B 5 FET
Cash flow from operating activities EEFHZHLKE
Cash generated from/(used in) operations #% & ¥ 7% AT15,/
(FrR)RE 31(a) 37,510 (7,225)
Income tax (paid)/refund (B, BRATEBH (355) 1,066
Net cash generated from/(used in) BETHME
operating activities (FRA)IRFHE 37,155 (6,159)
Cash flow from investing activities REFHZHRLKE
Purchase of property, plant and BEME BEX
equipment B (110) (4,759)
Purchase of intangible assets BERTLAE — (15)
Interest received B2 B 700 226
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEEERE
investing activities (FFA)BR&F8E 590 (4,548)
Cash flow from financing activities RIEFHZHLKE
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE 36 (3,788) (4,252)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERATERIA 36 10,231 15,428
Repayment of borrowings BEEK 36 (14,586) (17,301)
Interest paid =ESENS (1,417) (752)
Net cash used in financing activities &l & ;& AT A
R&EFEH (9,560) (6,877)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and IRERIFELEEY
cash equivalents W, (RL) B8 28,185 (17,584)
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERBEEF
beginning of the year =7 48,744 67,280
Effect of foreign exchange rate change [EXREE)FTE (472) (952)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FEREERREEF
of the year B9 25 76,457 48,744

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read  _E#lt & FFIR & in & 7% FE EFE T M s — OFBI:E -

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. As
at 31 March 2025, the ultimate controlling party is
Mr. Ando Shokei (“Mr. Ando”), who is also the chairman
and executive director of the Company as at 31 March
2025.

On 25 April 2025, immediately after the completion of
the sale and purchase of the 374,967,278 shares
transferred from Mr. Ando Shokei to ESSA Financial
Group Ltd (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands) and
the other purchasers, the parent company of the Group is
ESSA Financial Group Ltd and the ultimate controlling
shareholder is Mr. Huang Shikun, who is also the
executive director of the Company since 30 May 2025
and chairman of the Company since 20 June 2025.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company’s subsidiaries principally engage in the provision
of auction and related services as well as artwork sales in
Hong Kong and Japan.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong Dollar (“HKS$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company, unless otherwise
stated.

RRAPRPEERERARITERAT]
AE—HEEAEMERINERAAE - R
20253 A310 » ZERERA BT EMRE
E((RBEXE]D  BHR2025F3A31H
MABARABERFRATES -

202564 H25H - ERE TR E B L
A S0 A 8558 T ESSA Financial Group Ltd
(REBEZBESEMAL) REME A
#1374,967,278 IR 18 - REEHE A
&) AESSA Financial Group Ltd @ &4
ERRRR R B E i S A - % JF B202545
A30HRBREEARRHITEST I B
2025566 A20A BEFEAR R R EFE ©

RRFPRREEZERAF - AREHEB R
AETEREAERTERAARHKAE LM
ARG ARBEMmEE -

ARABRBREEBERSHERA A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OF B 7% R R Y 5

138

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"), and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if
such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and the applicable
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap.622).

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods.

Annual Report 2025
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEREXSHBEER
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (4&)
(Continued)
2.2 Application of New and Amendments to

22 ERAFHIIREETEEUBRE

HKFRS Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards

that are mandatorily effective for the current

year

In the current year, the Group has applied the

following amendments to HKFRS Accounting

Standards issued by the HKICPA for the first time,

which are mandatorily effective for the Group’'s

annual reporting period beginning 1 April 2024 for

the preparation of consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
and related amendments
to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Non-current Liabilities with

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance
HKFRS 7 Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025
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New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the
HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial

Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sales or Contribution of
HKAS 28 Assets between an

Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to
Accounting Standards HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11°
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements*
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Contracts referencing
HKFRS 7 nature-dependent
electricity?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2027.

The directors anticipate that the application of all
new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

2.3 Material accounting policy information

(a)

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect
its returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

(a)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

2.3 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated
consolidation.

income,

in full on

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group's equity
therein, which

interests

represent present ownership
entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

ERPRHEERAR

2.
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(b) Interest in associates (b)) REELFHEZ

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of
associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting, except when the
investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as
held for sale, in which case it is or the portion
so classified is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations. Any retained
portion of an investment in an associate that
has not been classified as held for sale
continues to be accounted for using the equity
method. The financial statements of associates
used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as
those of the Group for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate.
Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership held
by the Group. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’'s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extend that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payment on behalf of the associate.
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(b)

Interest in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes an associate. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of the investment,
reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

after

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the interest in an
associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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(b) Interest in associates (Continued) (b) REZELGRH#EZ ()

When the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the
same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/
partial disposal of the relevant associate.
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Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM"). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as executive directors
of the Group that makes strategic decisions.

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

“functional currency”).

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings and cash and bank balances are
presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
within “other gains or loss, net”.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a
functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

(i)  assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the
rate on the dates of the transactions);

and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are

recognised in other

income.

comprehensive

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and

translated at the closing
recognised in other

differences arising are
comprehensive income.

148
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Property, plant and equipment, other than freehold
land, are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation of
property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their costs to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

Buildings
g5
Leasehold improvements

HEMEERE

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment

- BEEERBRERE

Motor vehicles

RE

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are

reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.
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An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within “other gains or losses, net” in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

(a) Computer software
Computer software purchased from vendors are
initially shown at historical cost and
subsequently amortised over their estimated
useful lives, which does not exceed five years.

(b) Club membership
Club membership is amortised over its useful
life of 20 years and is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment loss.

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for non-financial asset is
required (other than inventories and financial assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise,
to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which it
arises.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Recognised financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivable arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL") are recognised in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income
and interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by
both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling the financial assets; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of
initial application/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of
an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)
A financial asset is classified as held for trading
if:

o it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a
portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that are required to
be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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(b) Amortised cost and interest income

(c)

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting

subsequently become

period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other gains or losses, net” line
item.
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(d) Impairment of financial assets (d) 2HEERE

The Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on financial assets which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables and bank balances). The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the
expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting
period. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions. The Group always recognise
lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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(e)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting period with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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(e) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected

significant

deterioration in the operating results of

the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition when contractual

payments are

more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information

that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the «criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.

(f) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any

collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the

Group has reasonable and

supportable

information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(f) Definition of default (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(i)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer

or the borrower;

(i)  a breach of contract, such as a default or

past due event;

(iii)  the lender(s) of the borrower,
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial
having granted to the borrower
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider;

(iv) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; or

(v)  the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial

difficulties.

2.
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BB mE T
(f) Definition of default (Continued) () ZEHEZE(Z)
Write-off policy 25 B R
The Group writes off a financial asset when EEMBTREFARRBREY

there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for
example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liguidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over 90
days past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of
the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit
loss experience and forward looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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(7

Definition of default (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of each
group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables and
other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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(9) Derecognition of financial assets (g) #RIEBZRHEE

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between the
asset’'s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable s
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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(h) Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including other payables and
accruals, borrowings and lease liabilities) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Inventories represented artworks that
opportunistically purchased by the Group and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of purchase of these artworks are determined
after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.
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WRM

Trade receivables represent commission receivables
and related services fees receivables that are due
from buyers and sellers as a result of the auctions
conducted by the Group. Trade receivables also
included those arising from direct artwork sales
conducted by the Group. The Group grants credit
period of 7 days for commission receivables and 30
days for receivables from artwork sales. Receivables
are generally due for settlement within credit periods
granted by the Group and are all classified as
current.

Upon completing the auction, the Group is obliged
to collect from the buyers the hammer price
amounts for artworks sold. Such receivables are
classified as “receivables from buyers in respect of
auction and related business” and due for
settlement within 7 days of recognition according to
the terms of the contracts with the buyers.

Consignor advances are recognised initially at fair
value less allowance for ECL. It represents financing
provided to art collectors prior to their works of art
being auctioned off, secured by works of art.

Other receivables that are realised as part of the
Group’s normal operating cycle are classified as
current assets even when they are not expected to
be realised within 12 months after the reporting
period. The operating cycle of an entity is the time
between the acquisition of assets for processing and
their realisation in the form of cash or cash
equivalents.
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Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables
with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See note 3.2 for a description of the Group's
impairment policies.

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash
on hand, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Trade payables represent obligations to pay for
services from suppliers in the ordinary course of
business and amounts due to sellers of artworks
purchased by the Group for trading purpose.

Upon completing the auction, the Group is required
to remit the hammer price amounts for artworks
sold to sellers upon receiving the corresponding
amounts from the buyer and such payables are
classified as “payables to sellers in respect of auction
and related business”. These unpaid balances as at
period end are unsecured and are usually paid
within 35 days upon receiving the hammer price
amount. Trade and other payables are presented as
current liabilities unless payment is not due within
12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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166

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fees are
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fees are
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless,
at the end of the reporting period, the Group has a
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply
with, on or before the end of the reporting period,
are considered in classifying loan arrangements with
covenants as current or non-current. Covenants that
the Group is required to comply with after the
reporting period do not affect the classification at
the reporting date.
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General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Income tax expense represents the sum of current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss)
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognizes
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, ultimate costs
incurred for provision for decommissioning and
restoration, the Group applies HKAS 12 /ncome
Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, the provisions for decommissioning and
restoration and the related assets separately. The
Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to
lease liabilities and the provisions for
decommissioning and restoration to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is more likely than not that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same «class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognized
as interest expense.
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A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is
not recognised because it is not probable that
outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.

(a) Commission revenue

The Group earns commission revenue from
both buyer and seller through the auction sales
in which the Group mainly acts as the role of
auctioneer as well as promoting the sales
through professional marketing techniques
provided. The commission revenue is calculated
as a percentage of the hammer price of the
artwork sold at the auction in accordance with
the contracts between the Group and the
buyer and the seller. The Group also recorded
revenue generated from private sales arranged
by the Group on behalf of the consignors. The
Group may act as an agent by matching the
needs of consignors to those of buyers by
private sales. In return, the Group collect
commissions which are determined through
negotiation with both buyers and sellers,
usually representing the difference between the
purchase price paid by the buyers and the
selling price as pre-agreed by the sellers and
the Group.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF 55 R R B R

FARBBEIRBEFHAIEELEN
B MEFHEEGEREBEHRE
IARBELE —FRIANEAREE TR
SEERHEHIE NBREA R R EFRERE
HARBEIRAIBER AT AR AR
HEBEERIAEASEAERHE
TEEMTTHEINBESMHME
ERREEE -

KARBENTHR BCEAHH
BHREAMETRE - EREERD
AEEMAE  BMEAERLEIR
Al RBES R ERRBE -

(a) M2z
AEFRBZRPEHEMNERK
EXHREAES KR MAEER
EHEHEEPEIBRENE
ERAC  URBEAMEHRD
EEEHRMEREHE -Be
W DNERBASRERERLE
RETEIMMEH  RIAEEH
B R AERREN A DL mar
BEE - AKBETHBREAR
SEREZAALHENLAGE
ER Rz - NEBERAPE
FREA BEHZFEAERER
MRk e REERHRIES
fEREH HEEEREER
EEmE —REERINTH
BEEHERENEEE LD
EHEEBCHEMELRE-

—ERFFER

off

171



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OF B 7% R R Y 5

172

(a)

(b)

()

Commission revenue (Continued)

The Group’s entitlement to commission income
includes an element of consideration that is
variable or contingent on the outcome of
future events. Actual commission income to be
received is dependent upon, among others, the
completion of transaction between buyers and
sellers; and price concession based on
customary industry practice.

The Group recognised revenue upon
completion of the auction sale as evidenced by
the fall of auctioneer’'s hammer. For private
sales, commission revenue is recognised upon
conclusion of contract with relevant buyer and
seller.

Revenue from other services relating to
auctions

In relation to the auctions organised, the
Group also earns other services income from
catalogue preparation, or insurance charged to
the sellers for artworks in preparation for and
placed in the auctions, and they are recognised
as revenue when the related services are
rendered.

Revenue from artwork sales
Revenue from sale of artworks is recognised
upon transferring control of goods to
customers, which generally coincides with the
time when the goods are delivered to
customers and title has passed.
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(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick
leave that are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the period
in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The
liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligations to pay

under

further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees
the benefits relating to employee service in
the current and prior periods. Employees
of the Group are covered by various
government-sponsored defined contribution
pension plans under which the employees are
entitled to a monthly pension based on certain
formulas. The relevant government agencies are
responsible for the pension liability to these
retired employees. The Group contributes on a
monthly basis to these pension plans. Under
these plans, the Group has no obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the
contributions made.

The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.
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()

(d)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the statement of financial
position date.

Share-based compensation
The Group operates share option scheme under
which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity
instruments of the Company.

The fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options as at the date of
grant: (i) including any market performance
conditions; (ii) excluding the impact of any
service and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales
growth targets); and (iii) including the impact
of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the
requirement for employees to save or holding
shares for a specified period of time).
Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that
are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the
period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-marketing
vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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(d) Share-based compensation (Continued)
When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of
any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital.

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed. As a practical
expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group
reasonably expects that the effects on the
consolidated financial statements would not differ
materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

As a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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As a lessee (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract (Continued)

The Group applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and
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As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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As a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
the option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. EREEREXESAHEEFR

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (4&)
(Continued)
2.22 Related parties 2.22 FHEER
(@) a person or a close member of that person’s (@) —RBALTHZATZBEERELY
family and that person: KEKERZATLT:
(i)  has control or joint control over the () HAREBE BTG ERHE

Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group; or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following (b)
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

2.22 Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

2.23 Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market
rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds
received and the fair value of the loan based on
prevailing market interest rates.
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The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial

risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management policy focuses on

the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a)

Foreign exchange risk

The Company mainly operates in Hong Kong
and Japan with transactions mainly settled in
HK$ and Japanese Yen (“JPY"). Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets or liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not the
Group entity’s functional currency.

As the assets and liabilities of each company
within the Group are mainly denominated in
the respective company’s functional currency,
the directors are of the opinion that the
Group's volatility of its profits against
reasonably possible changes in exchange rates
of foreign currencies would not be significant.
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(b) Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank
borrowings. The Group’s bank borrowings
which are carried at floating rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group has not entered into any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk.

As at 31 March 2025, if the interest rates on
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held constant,
the post-tax loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$85,000 higher/lower (2024:
post-tax loss HK$86,000 lower/higher), mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest expense on
floating-rate borrowings.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,
bank deposits, trade and other receivables and
deposits and prepayments included in the
consolidated financial statements represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation
to its financial assets. A Company’s subsidiary had
given guarantees to financial institutions in
connection with the banking facilities granted to the
Company as set out in Note 32, which would
expose the Group or the Company to credit risk. The
objective of the Group’s measures to manage credit
risk is to control potential exposure to recoverability
problem.

(a) Risk management
Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits
were deposited in the major financial
institutions in Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan and
the PRC, which the directors believe are of
high credit quality.
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(a)

Risk management (Continued)

The Group established policies to ensure that
revenue from art auction and related business
and artwork sales, consignor advance and
prepayment to sellers for auctioned artwork are
made to customers with an appropriate credit
history and the Group assesses the credit
worthiness and financial strength of its
customers as well as considering prior
transaction history with the customers and
volume of sales. Refer to Note 23 for ageing
analysis of trade receivables. Management
makes periodic collective assessment as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability of
trade and other receivables based on historical
payment records, the length of the overdue
period, the financial strength of the debtors
and whether there are any disputes with the
debtors. If the other receivables from buyers in
respect of auction and related business has not
been received, the Group is not obligated to
pay the corresponding other payables to sellers
in respect of auction and related business. If
the buyer defaults on payment, the sale may
be cancelled, and the auction lots will be
returned to the seller. Both of the other
receivables and other payables in respect of
auction and related business in relation to such
cancelled sales shall be derecognised
simultaneously. As such, management believes
the credit risk relating to other receivables in
respect of auction and related business is not
significant.
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(a)

Risk management (Continued)

For consignor advance, the Group provides
certain collectors and art dealers with advances
with artwork held under the Group’s custody.
If the consigned artwork is sold in auction, the
proceeds received from the buyer, after
deducting commission, consignor advances,
interest and relevant taxes, will be paid to the
consignor. If the under custody artwork
remains unsold, the consignor will be required
to repay the advance together with interest,
where applicable, before the artwork under
custody is returned to the consignor. As such,
management believes the credit risk relating to
consignor advance is not significant.

Prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork
represent the amounts advanced to sellers of
artwork before receiving full payments from
relevant buyers. Amounts may be advanced to
sellers prior to receiving full payment of the
auction purchase prices from the relevant
buyers using the related auctioned artwork as
collateral. Prior to receiving full payment of the
auction purchase prices from the relevant
buyers, the Group reserves the right to request
repayment from sellers for the prepayments
advanced to them, or request the sellers to
replace another artwork with estimated value
no less than the prepayments to the Group. As
such, management believes the credit risk
relating to prepayments to sellers is not
significant.
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(b)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group’s trade receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost are
subject to the expected credit loss model.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring provision for allowance
for ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the provision for allowance for
ECL, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales and the
corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables. The Group has identified
the gross domestic product of the countries in
which it sells its goods and services to be the
most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts
the historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors.
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(b) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (b) ZHEEREZ)
Trade receivables (Continued) B SN ()
On that basis, the loss allowance was it ES5EBKAREBRE R
determined for the years ended 31 March 20254 K&2024F3H31H IFF
2025 and 2024 as follows for trade EHEEREETNT
receivables:
Current or
past due  Past due  Past due  Past due Past due
within 1t03 3to6 6 to 12 over 12 Individual
30 days months months months months  assessment Total
B iR 4 By g by By
PH30B  1E3EA  3Z6fR 6E12{EAR #i812R i ES @t
As at 31 March 2025 2025438318
Expected loss rate RHEREE 2.78% = 4.94% 7.00% 12.62% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount EEEE
— Trade receivables — BHREWHE
(HK$'000) (FE7) 5,351 - 5 53 9 5,261 10,679
Allowance for ECL (HK$'000) HEHEEEREE
(F&T) (149) - (] (@) (1 (5,261) (5,416)
As at 31 March 2024 12024%3R318
Expected loss rate BHERE 33% 4.0% 5.9% 10.0% 15.2% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount REAE
— Trade receivables — BHREYHE
(HK$'000) (FE7) 5,677 2 1,03 10 1,087 3,279 11,114
Allowance for ECL (HK$'000) HEYEEERRE
(F&T) (190) 0 (61) (1) (165) (3,279) (3,697)
Trade receivables are written off when there is EAEEEE AR EIRMEE
no reasonable expectation of recovery. SREWHIE - G EFEHEEZK
Indicators that there is no reasonable ERHEE(HEd) BREEBE AKX
expectation of recovery include, amongst BEEIARE BT E KNGS - A
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a @R iE360H REEEL A
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure RN/

to make contractual payments for a period of
greater than 360 days past due.
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(b)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables are
presented as net allowance for ECL within the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.

income.

Other financial assets

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost,
including receivables from buyers in respect of
auction and related business, prepayments to
sellers for auctioned artwork, consignor
advance and others, the management make
periodic assessment on the
recoverability of other financial assets based on
historical settlement records, past experience,
market value of the relevant artwork held by
the Group and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. For consignor
advance, management assessed and evaluated
the market value of the artwork under its

individual

custody based on the valuation assessments
performed by the internal artwork appraisal
team and by referencing to the recent market
prices of similar artwork, the loss given default
is low in view of the estimated realised amount
of ultimate disposal of the collaterals, the
management considers the ECL for consignor
advance is insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance as recognised. The management
believes that there is no significant increase in
credit risk of other financial assets since initial
recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL. For the year
ended 31 March 2025, the Group assessed the
ECL for other financial assets amounted to
HK$7,000 (2024: HK$38,000).
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(b) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Pledged bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents
Credit risk on pledged bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalent is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL of
pledged bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalent.

The Group monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash
to meet its operational needs and the Group expects
to fund the future cash flow needs through
internally generated cash flows from operations and
borrowings from financial institutions. The current
liabilities of the Group will be settled in the coming
twelve months in accordance with their payment
terms. Amongst the others, the majority of the
current liabilities were payables to sellers in respect
of auction and related business, amounting to
HK$114,852,000 (2024: HK$93,962,000). Regarding
other payables to sellers in respect of auction and
related business, the Group is not obligated to pay
the seller until the other receivables from buyers in
respect of auction and related business are collected.
If the buyer defaults on payment, the sale may be
cancelled, and the auction lots will be returned to
the seller, and both of the other receivables and
payables in respect of auction and related business
in relation to such cancelled sales shall be
derecognised simultaneously.
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The directors of the Company have reviewed the
Group’s cash flows projections, which cover a period
of twelve months from 1 April 2025. The directors
are of the opinion that, taking into account the
anticipated cash flows generated from the Group’s
operations, the possible changes in its operating
performance, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to fulfill its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the coming twelve months from
31 March 2025.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities that will
relevant maturity grouping based on the remaining
period at each of the consolidated statement of

be settled on a net basis into

financial position dates to the respective contractual
maturity dates. The amounts disclosed in the table
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Weighted On
average  demand or
effective less than
interest rate 1 year
miEEY BREK
BRA® DIE
HK$'000
FTHER
As at 31 March 2025 1#202543H318
Other payables and H At A RRIE R
accruals E:ER = 123,349
Borrowings and interest  f& 3 R A 8 FE
payments 0.89% 14,807
Lease liabilities HERE 4.17% 4,054
142,210
As at 31 March 2024  142024%3A318
Other payables and Hofth JE B K
accruals it ER — 101,557
Borrowings and EHRRAERE
interest payments 0.86% 15,002
Lease liabilities HEEE 3.99% 4,478
121,037

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Between
1 and 2 years

12828

HKS$'000
FET

1,200

4,563
2,381

8,144

4,603
4,080

8,683
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AAREZEEHAEENEESR
EEA - W E B202564818 5
TZEABE -EERA Ktk
rEBELEEEENTERASRER
EERBNILEY AEEHE
TEEEBEES  mEHB2025F3HA
31THBFARR @A BB
BT

TREREBENEAFHBARMNE A
HEREA N EB R L8R &R
[ #2 A8 B B B AR Bl i N R B 1208 3R
RENTRABBMENDT - KA
BENSBESIOAMRRERE

Between Over Undiscounted Carrying
2 and 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
KRG
2E5E @iasE ReRE AR E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FERT FTER FERT
= = 124,549 124,549
17,448 1,551 38,369 37,327
281 - 6,716 6,472
17,729 1,551 169,634 168,348
1,200 — 102,757 102,757
13,330 10,239 43,174 41,598
2,683 — 11,241 10,652
17,213 10,239 157,172 155,007
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The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to enhance
shareholders’ value in long term.

The Group’s monitors capital by regularly reviewing
the capital structure. As a part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with the issued share
capital. The Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as total debts divided by total
capital. Total debts are calculated as total
borrowings and lease liabilities. Total capital is
calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position plus debts.

The gearing ratio at 31 March 2025 and 2024 is as
follows:

Borrowings (Note 28) f& 3k (M 7%28)
HEaEME6)

Lease liabilities (Note 16)

Total debt B
Total capital BEXR
Gearing ratio BEBELE
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BRZEMEN  BADBRBERER
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AREEBBTE AR EARBEIN
EEEAR -FRZBERIN IR
ARAAEEFGEREARARER
BITRAERANRER -~NEE% S
HEBEARRKNHOBRESE Ak
REEER BITHEHILESR
B AR R o

HEANHMAR -5 AEENA
EERGBHLREREER R X
RRBREBEERARERTEMN
B-EBREREERNIEERE
At BEXRRAHMBRAKA
SIS = INEBETE -

20259 N2024%3A31H 19 & &
BELERNOT

2024
20244

HK$'000

FHET

37,327 41,598
6,472 10,652
43,799 52,250
268,385 291,196
16.3% 17.9%



(a) Financial assets and liabilities

()

Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and
estimates made in determining the fair
values of the financial instruments that
are recognised and measured at fair value
in the financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the
inputs used in determining fair value, the
Group has classified its financial
instruments into the three levels
prescribed under the accounting
standards. An explanation of each level
follows underneath the table.

As at 31 March 2025  }420255%3A31H

Financial assets at BAFEGFAE
FVTPL mMZEMEE

— Put option — Roh HiE

As at 31 March 2024 220245 3H31H

Financial assets at BAFEHEAE
FVTPL mMZEMEE

— Put option — RRUh B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(a) EHEEREBRE

() RFEERKE
AEMiEEE/R T A
AR BT B H BT R
st ZFEMITAR
M RERT IR FER
RELAE-RBHEXE
X FE P 8 A B
AEREREE AKHE
RESFTENKE SR
TEARZ=ZE-EEB#K
ZRBAERN TR -

— — 7,962 7,962

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£18 #2208  #3E @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FEXTL FTERXT FTER

— — 2,500 2,500
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(a) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued) (a) ﬁ’nﬂ’ﬁé&ﬁ &(E)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) () RXFEEREEE)
Specific valuation techniques used to RUARE@IANE
value financial instrument include: EMERMERE:

As at 31 March 2025, the fair value of M20259F3H31H @ &4
the put option is calculated by Black- Hﬂ%ﬁ’]“?fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
Scholes Model (2024: Monte Carlo e —sTRATRE S
simulation). The significant unobservable (2024% : %ﬁﬂ"zﬂ‘ﬁ;@
inputs include risk-free interest rate and BR)  c EATABEEH
discount rate for the fair value of AB BB EER R X
underlying assets (2024: volatility and NEBREEN R FER
dividend payout ratio). IR E (20244 : KB RIK
BLHE)o
There were no transfers of financial assets EMEEXAGFEHE
or liabilities between level 1, level 2 and - F2E R BB AT
level 3 fair value hierarchy classifications. BEERARENDEZH
I RS o
The following table presents the changes T & 258 £20255F &
in level 3 items for the years ended 2024F3A31BILFESE
31 March 2025 and 2024: 3SEEENES

Put option at

w0t B HE
HK$'000
BTER
As at 1 April 2023 $22023%4A18 850
Fair value gain recognised in the EREHERREMES
consolidated statement of profit or WakERZ A YE
loss and other comprehensive income W %5 1,650
As at 31 March 2024 and 2024%3A31B &
1 April 2024 202454818 2,500
Fair value gain recognised in the EREMFIERREMES
consolidated statement of profit or WaERERZRATFE
loss and other comprehensive income W &% 5,462
As at 31 March 2025 $22025%3A31H 7,962
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(a) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis of observable and
unobservable inputs

As described, the fair values of financial
asset that is classified in level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy are determined using
valuation techniques that make use of
significant inputs that are not based on
observable market data. These fair values
could be sensitive to changes in the
assumptions used to derive the inputs.
Volatility and dividend payout ratio are
the main significant unobservable inputs.
The table below illustrates the sensitivity
of the significant inputs when they are
changed to reasonably possible alternative
inputs:

Valuation
Description Fair value  techniques
Bt AEE &8
HK$'000
FT#ERT

As at 31 March 2025
2025%3H318
Financial assets at FVTPL

BAFEFAERZEMEE

Put option 7,962 Black-Scholes

ok B model
AR~

SRATRE

As at 31 March 2024

142024%3H318

Financial assets at FVTPL

BATREFANERZEHMEE

Put option 2,500  Monte Carlo

Rk R simulation
SR &
EHEER
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(a) EHEERBRE(HE)
() 2D FEERZEEE

AR M A B RG A
HIESREDN
W EXRTi DFEAESE

EQiﬁEmZiﬂé
BE R FE Ty A IE K
BEABRETSHEEZE
R A NBEBEZ AEEE
EoxEFRFEANEY
RIEEL B ABEZR
REPR BB - KIE
REBLETIEBERK
THBERBAHE T
KA ERNBABIER
EREEATEABE
2 SR K

Favourable/

Significant (unfavourable)/
unobservable changes in
inputs Range of inputs profit or loss
EXTIHE BWABIR BEAHN
WABR fE (FH) &8
HK$'000
FTERT
Risk-free interest +1% (39)
rate: 1.37% -1% 39
e i
1.37%
Discount rate for +1% 118
the fair value of -1% (142)
underlying assets:
13.24%
HEAEEN
N ERERE
13.24%
Volatility: 90% +5% 132
K & - 90% -5% (114)
Dividend payout +5% (57)
ratio: 46.98% 5% 39
kS L%
46.98%
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BB mE T
The following table presents the recognised financial T & 2 7 ®R2025F }%2024F3 H31
instruments that are offset as at 31 March 2025 AR R I A
and 2024:
Effects of offsetting on the consolidated
statement of financial position
HHEHSHMBRARHRE
Gross Net amounts
amounts set presented
off in the in the
consolidated consolidated
statement of statement of
Gross financial financial
amounts position position
REeEHME Z23RNEeH
MRRFWEHE MBRARY
R M gL
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
T#&EX T#&EXT T#&ERX
As at 31 March 2025 #2025%3A31H
Financial assets SRIEE
Trade receivables 2 5 EWRIE 16,212 (5.533) 10,679
Financial liabilities SRERE
Payables to sellers in respect  #t 38 E M AR £ 15
of auction and related JE B XA KIE
business (120,385) 5,533 (114,852)
As at 31 March 2024 2024%3A31H
Financial assets SRIEE
Trade receivables 2 5 WK 15,736 (4,622) 11,114
Financial liabilities SRER
Payables to sellers in respect  #t 38 E M AR £ 15
of auction and related JE B KA KIE
business (98,584) 4,622 (93,962)
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Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors
including expectation of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
outlined below:

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated selling expenses. These estimates are
based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of similar
nature. Write-downs of inventories are recorded
where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be realised. The
identification of write-downs requires the use of
judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and
write-downs of inventories in the period in which
such estimate has been changed. Management
reassesses these estimates at each reporting date.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4.

196

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.2 Impairment of financial assets
The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs
used are disclosed in the tables in note 3.2.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") has been
identified as the executive directors of the Group that
make strategic decisions. The CODM assesses the
performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of gross profit for the purpose of allocating
resources.

The management has identified two operating segments

based on the types of revenues, namely (i) operation of
art auction and related business; and (ii) artwork sales.

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025
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The segment information provided to the CODM for the R E E2025% K2024F3A318 EFE -
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are as follows: ERFERERRENDHBEHMT -

Year ended 31 March 2025 BE202543A31BLEERE
Segment revenue from external REINEE P 5B

customers 52,194 9,857 62,051
Costs of services/sales ARTS/ 456 Ak A (5,058) (8,509) (13,567)
Segment results DERELE 47,136 1,348 48,484
Other gains or losses, net ot I 55 S B 1B R H 5,262
Other income H g A 432
Provision for allowance for CREERHNEERE

expected credit losses (“ECL") on ([EHEEBE])

financial assets Bimati (1,662) - (1,662)
Selling and distribution expenses HENDHRAX (23,572)
Administrative expenses THRA X (39,904)
Impairment loss on non-financial FEeMEEREEE

assets (4,265)
Operating loss HEEBE (15,225)
Finance income, net I O (1,062)
Share of result on investment EhHERREGEIERZ

accounted for using the equity REXE

method (953)
Impairment loss on investment ARG

accounted for using the equity REMREEE

method (3,122)
Loss before income tax B P48 Bl k518 (20,362)
Income tax expense P58 A 2 868
Loss for the year EEBR (19,494)
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. HEEH (B
Operation of
art auction
and related Artwork
business sales Total
BMRAE R
HEERLE BMREE F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEIT FHEIT FEIT
Year ended 31 March 2024 B E20245F3A31HILEE
Segment revenue from external REINERE P8 e
customers 48,671 9,181 57,852
Costs of services/sales ARTS,/ 45 & Ak A (4,175) (6,898) (11,073)
Segment results SWEE 44,496 2,283 46,779
Other gains or losses, net HA Wz sk B 18 5 58 7
Other income H A 1,380
Provision for allowance PREETRHEEER
for ECL on financial assets BT IR (6,778) — (6,778)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHRAX (23,803)
Administrative expenses THAX (43,498)
Operating loss HEBE (25,913)
Finance income, net R T ON=E (819)
Share of result on investment EhFEAERE AR
accounted for using the equity REXE
method 343
Loss before income tax KREERuBE (26,389)
Income tax expense P 15 5 7 (537)
Loss for the year FEEBE (26,926)
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5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from external customers, by geographical area, is
as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF 55 R R B R

SEEHE (&)
R IE R B S B R BN P Y an
T~

2025 2024
20255 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FHET

Hong Kong BB 27,474 19,459
Japan =[N 34,577 38,393
62,051 57,852

All customers individually accounted for less than 10% of
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025
(2024: less than 10%).

Information on segment assets and segment liabilities of
the Group are not reviewed by CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment nor
otherwise regularly provided to the CODM. As a result, no
analysis of segment assets and segment liabilities is
presented.

Non-current assets, other than deferred income tax assets
by geographical area are as follows:

FrERFEERMEANEES £2025F3A31
HIEFEMWRETRE10% (20245 - T &
10% ) ©

HRAKRENDMEERDHFREEHR
TRATEBRERREZTHNUNEER
EFZERE BTREEHERITEIELR
BRARE WALB2INDIMEERDH
BEMDN -

BB R B DR E E CREMRF
MEERINIT

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Hong Kong BB 2,837 12,765
Japan H 7 8,248 9,386
Taiwan = 575 5,010
11,660 27,161
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BHPBEREW T
6. REVENUE 6. Wk
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHEIT THE T
Revenue from art auction and BT RAE R AAEER
related business Wz 52,194 48,671
Artwork sales 2T mEE 9,857 9,181
62,051 57,852
All revenue of the Group are recognised at a point in AREFEFRBWSHNEEREEHER -
time.
7. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET 7. Hihassi 518558
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Exchange loss PE W EsiE (200) (1,643)
Fair value gain on financial asset at BRATFEFAEBRZ
FVTPL cMEENTE
I 2= 5,462 1,650
5,262 7

200 TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025



8.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& B B 75 R R BT A

OTHER INCOME 8. HtaA
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEIT FETT
Government grants (Note (i) AT # Bh (B 3G ) — 163
Compensation received Bt E 173 528
Other (Note (i) At (B 5 Gii) ) 259 689
432 1,380

Notes: M 5E

(i) During the year ended 31

recognised government

March 2024, the Group
of approximately

HK$163,000, which mainly represented the benefit of a
government loan at a below-market rate of interest.

(ii) Others mainly represented sales tax refunded, bidding
deposits forfeited and penalties from the buyers.

0)

(ii)

HE2024F3A31BHILEFEE  AEE®E
BT BY #9163,0008 T - T BT
BERERTHSRNENBFER -

HMEREDROEER  RKERD

BERRESRER -
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9.

202

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

9. KRFIEHAIEIE

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FAET
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKA 8,509 6,898
Rental and setup costs for auction and MELERSGHWHERBR
preview exhibition venues HEEMR 2,742 1,617
Expenses relating to short term lease EARHMEENRX 2,491 2,482
Employee benefit expenses (Note 13) & B8 A5 = (H3E13) 23,985 29,815
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BELEREBITE
equipment (Note 15) (BF5E15) 1,904 1,696
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE
(Note 16) (Mf7E16) 4,019 3,973
Amortisation of intangible assets mEAEEH
(Note 17) (M 5E17) 994 1,078
Provision for/(reversal of) allowance CREEBRHEERIE
for ECL on financial assets B R/ (Bm)
— Trade receivables — B HRENKRIE 1,693 6,778
— Other receivables — Hih EUFRIE (31) —
Impairment loss on non-financial assets  FF & @& 2 5 & & 12
— Property, plant and equipment —E BELERE 2,011 —
— Right-of-use assets — RAEEE 2,254 —
Auditor's remuneration % 25 6l 7 B
— Audit services — BT R 1,400 1,400
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 0F B 75 % M B
10. FINANCE COSTS, NET 10. AT R A FEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET F& T
Finance income: E]ﬁ“%)\ :
— Interest income on bank deposits — RITFERFEWA 520 163
— Interest income from consignor — ? JE/\?EH/TA
advance FEHA 180 63
700 226
Finance costs: 5 POAN
— Imputed interest of provision for — BEREKAEEZ
reinstatement cost HEENE — (39)
— Interest expense on lease liabilities — HEaEMNERAX (345) (254)
— Interest expense on bank and — RITREMERK
other borrowings MER X (1,417) (752)
(1,762) (1,045)
Finance cost, net B 75 B AN F BB (1,062) (819)

RRPRHEEERERAR T _AFFERS 203



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

&P B R KM

11. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 1. FifsB (WR) HX
The amounts of income tax (credit)/expense charged to ReafBEakRAEMGEe KaRkNKRAM
the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other B (KR FX K\

comprehensive income represent:

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#IT FHEIT
Current income tax BEHIRTEH
— Hong Kong — &BA — —
— Japan — B = 330
— Taiwan — AE — 12
Total current income tax EHREH &S — 342
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BEFE (BBEE®),
BETR
— Hong Kong — BA = 216
— Japan =N (263) —
Deferred income tax (Note 21) EIEFTS T (M sE21) (605) (21)
Income tax (credit)/expense TSR (%), FHxX (868) 537
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11. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Hong Kong profits tax
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits for both years.

No Hong Kong profits tax was provided for the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 as the Group
did not derive any estimated assessable profits.

Japan corporate income tax

Japan corporate income tax has been calculated on
the estimated assessable profit for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024 at the rates of taxations
prevailing in Japan in which the Group operates. No
Japan corporate income tax was provided for the
year ended 31 March 2005 as the Group did not
derive any estimated assessable profit (2024: the
Group is subject to national corporate income tax,
inhabitant tax, and enterprise tax in Japan which in
aggregate, results in effective statutory income tax
rates of approximately 36.2%).

Taiwan income tax
Taiwan income tax is calculated at 20%
estimated assessable profits for both years.

of the

ERHARMEERARANA _T_RAFFERSE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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M. iEHER) HAX(#E)

(a)

(b)

(c)

EENESH
RREFE - BEFE BT
JERR B M E16.5% T & -

AP 7N &8 B 3 4% & A A ] fil 5T FE R
% F - BB 22025 &202443
A31BLEEETERBBFE BT
RE®E -

BEATFREHR
BARRAIFTEHIERE £2025F &
2024F3RA31B L F E At ERB
wm A B AR (REE K E XA
) 2BIREAHE - ARAE B
EmESTAMGETERTER - E
F2025%3A31B It FEE W ER A
NN R PTG B AT 1R B4 (20244 -
ERAR  REBEKMNBER QAR
B BERERMERLED 65 ERK
EEFTIEMELR36.2%) °

BEFFREH
RREFEE @ &EMEHREIRHET
JE SR B A AU20% T & o
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11. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)
The tax on the Group's loss before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that could arise using the

206

1. EHHER) X #E)
RIBBEE  AEBERABHABEZ

BMEBNNEAERRAHERERNZ

weighted average tax rates applicable to profits of the METHBEAE2ERMNE  FF1HNA
consolidated entities during the respective years is as N
follows:
2025 2024
20254 2024%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Loss before income tax BPTIS R RTE B (20,362) (26,389)
Tax calculated at a taxation rate of LA16.5% B X 5 & &Y
16.5% 118 (3,360) (4,354)
Difference arising from tax rate in Hi Rl EER M ER
respect of other jurisdiction =5 (90) 81
Tax effect of: NTEBEZMBZE
— Expenses not deductible for — AR IR A
tax purpose 3,964 255
— Income not subject to income tax — BEBMMAERZ
WA (1,671) (272)
— Tax losses not recognised — RERBIEEE 599 4,583
— Withholding tax on unremitted — REHABNzZEBENH
earnings (Note 21) (MF3E21) (47) 28
— (Over)/under-provision in prior years — BEFE
(FBEEREE)
BT R (263) 216
Income tax (credit)/expense eS8 (%), X (868) 537
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12.

LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to the owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O I SRR M AT

12. BIRESE
(a) BEREXEE
FREAREBIZE £2025F &2024
FIAMBIEFE  RNRAIEE AR
EE BB AD BT BARA T

during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. HYETH -

2025 2024
20255 2024%F

Loss attributable to the owners of AKX G #E A JE(LEE
the Company (HK$'000) (F&mT) (19,461) (26,890)

Weighted average number of BT E B IETF
ordinary shares in issue ('000) BHE (TR 500,000 500,000
Basic loss per share (HK cents) BREARNEBEGEWN) (3.89) (5.38)

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024 was the same as basic loss per share
because the exercise of the Company’s outstanding
share options would have anti-dilutive effect.

(b) BREFEEHIE
B E2025% K2024F3A31H L&
B - ARTEARR R R ARITERNBEK
RARBEZE HEREEEIRR
BREXEEAR -
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& OF B 15 R MY

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 13. EERIIHX(BIEEERSHR

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EHEEWNE)
MANAGEMENT)
2025 2024
20254 2024%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAET
Salaries, wages and bonuses e ITERIEA 17,386 18,972
Pension, medical insurance and Bhe BERBRK
other social insurances Hintt 2R 1,217 1,430
Equity-settled share-base payment NEREERND
E AR 5,351 9,367
Staff welfare and other benefits 8 TN K H hF &= 31 46
23,985 29,815
Five highest paid individuals hAaEmHAL
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the FRN AEEREGERFEERIE=S
year included three directors (2024: three directors), EFQ04F =ZREF) BEHFMWF
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 38. BEEHTIRMIFE38 o e % (20245 : M
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining BIRIEARRESTNERSTHAEN
two (2024: two) highest paid employee who is neither a BERHEERFAHFMFBOT :

director nor chief executive of the Company is as follows:

2025 2024
2025 2024%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Salaries, allowances and e RMREY
benefits in kind & 1,670 1,654
Retirement benefits RIKRE T 32 36
Equity-settled share-based payment NHEREE RN
EWA R 444 777
2,146 2,467
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13.

14.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT) (Continued)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The number of the highest paid employee who is not the
director of the Company whose remuneration fell within
the following band is as follow:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O I SRR M AT

13. EERAFAZ(BEEERER
EHEME)(ZF)

AamEHmAL(E)

FELATHEANEARREZRS
HFREAZBNMT :

Number of employee

BE A
2025 2024
20255 20244
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,0005# 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000 7T &
1,500,000 7T 1 1
2 2

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, neither
the director nor other members of the five highest paid
individuals received any emoluments from the Group as an
inducement to join, upon joining the Group, to leave the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

DIVIDEND
The Board did not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

ERHARMEERARANA _T_RAFFERSE

H E2025%F N2024F3831BIEFE - &
EREMAAEaHTALTHKNEBRER
RAEEEAMESEAMARER - R
MAREE R BERASENREEE
e o

%2
EESW TEZME 220255F K20244F
3A3TBEFEIRMNIMARE -

14.
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Furniture,
fixtures and
Leasehold office Motor

Freehold land Buildings improvements equipment vehicles Total

R BEE
KAE#ELH By HENERE BRICRE RE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER

Cost BE
At 1 April 2023 #2023F4R18 425 5,013 9,335 3,408 1,915 20,096
Additions NE — 70 2,959 1,730 — 4,759
Written-off A - - (1,776) - - (1,776)
Exchange realignment EXRAE (53) (631) (473) (295) (141) (1,593)
At 31 March 2024 and 202453R318 &

1 April 2024 202454818 372 4,452 10,045 4,843 1,774 21,486
Additions NE = = = 110 = 110
Written-off i = (23) (32) (47) = (102)
Exchange realignment ERAE 1 15 7 9 3 35
At 31 March 2025 142025%3A318 373 4,444 10,020 4,915 1,777 21,529

Accumulated depreciation and RAFERRBE
impairment
At 1 April 2023 #2023F4R18 — 1,688 8,785 1,724 1,915 14,112
Depreciation charge for the year FEMEZH — 141 857 698 — 1,696
Written-off s - - (1,776) - — (1,776)
Exchange realignment ERE — (218) @11 (117) (141) (887)
At 31 March 2024 and R2024%3R31H &

1 April 2024 2024%4R18 — 1,611 7,455 2,305 1,774 13,145
Depreciation charge for the year FEWELH = 137 1,100 667 - 1,904
Impairment loss for the year FEREEBE = = 1,300 711 = 2,011
Written-off i = (23) (32) (47) = (102)
Exchange realignment EXRAE = 7 8 5 3 23
At 31 March 2025 42025%3RA318 = 1,732 9,831 3,641 1,777 16,981

Carrying amount FREE
At 31 March 2025 142025%3A318 373 2,712 189 1,274 = 4,548
At 31 March 2024 #2024F3A318 372 2,841 2,590 2,538 — 8,341
Note: Bt 5 -

B 22025 R2024F3A31BIEFE AR
ERYERNTHREIAME -

All depreciation expenses have been charged to administrative
expenses for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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As auction business faced weakened customer sentiment
during the year ended 31 March 2025, the management
of the Group concluded there was indication for
impairment and conducted impairment assessment on
recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use of assets with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$6,559,000 and HK$5,955,000
respectively. The Group estimate the recoverable amount
of provision of auction related services and artwork sales
to which the assets belongs when it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, including
allocation of corporate assets when reasonable and
consistent basis can be established. The recoverable
amount of the non-current assets is determined based on
value-in-use calculation. The cash flow projection is based
on financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group in respect of the relevant identifiable CGU. Cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using
growth rate of 2.5%. The cash flows are discounted using
a discount rate of 12.5%. The discount rate used is pre-
tax and reflects specific risks relating to the auction and
related segment.

Based on the value in use calculation and the allocation,
an impairment loss of approximately HK$2,011,000 (2024:
Nil) and HK$2,254,000 (2024: Nil) was recognised in
respect of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets respectively.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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ARE E2025F3A31B I FERBEER
REFBERHRED A5BEEBERAGFHR
BEDER Y EHEEDMED LD
6,559,000/ 7T 55,955,000/ 7T ) 4 % -
WMELZBARERAEEEN]RE 2
BHETRETE - MEZEFHMEF T
& A5EeHTEEMBRESE
ARERBNREENEEN T KD S
FoAERUBYAER —BREERS
EhHEEE-FRBEENAKE S RE
DREFRAEEFEET -BeRER
BNDEREAEBEREN E2B @A
BO S REeESABUZMEEE -
FHEZHESRERA25%MIER X
oM METIARIRE12.5%8538 < FT
FRAMBBAERSREA UREERE
kRO HEB R ERAR -

BREFHEBRFTERSE  BHUWE K
EREBEBARGAEEES FIERBE
&5 18 #92,011,000% 7T (2024 : 8) &
2,254,000/ 7T (20245 : &) °

—ERFFER
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212

This note provides information for leases where the Group
is a lessee.

The Group's right-of-use assets and lease liabilities mainly
arise from lease of offices, warehouses and motor vehicles
with lease terms of 2 to 5 years, but may have extension
options as described below. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants.

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These are
used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations. The
majority of extension and termination options held are
exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective
lessor.

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Leased properties MEMZE
Motor vehicles E

Lease liabilities HEaE
Non-current EMB
Current &

Annual Report 2025

A FAREAEERABEATHEERH

AEENERAREENTEEREBEER
WAE RERAEHEES  BHNT
2E5% - BAlge R Ml 2 EHEZRE - T
HENEEER MBS Z BT RIER
KA - HE B T i I E R 225 -

AEBANZENEHELSEHRE
IHEER -REEAKENEETNE
EMs %S EERANEEERAAR
SEAE RO FEOEH MK FE
BRERAABASEMIERBLEAITE -

EBHIFBRARITTIERBEENS
B

2024
20244

HK$'000

FHEIT

2,974 8,991
727 987
3,701 9,978
2,611 6,519
3,861 4,133
6,472 10,652



Right-of-use assets

Cost

At 1 April 2023

impairment
At 1 April 2023

At 31 March 2024

EHEEE
1573

M2023F4R1H

Additions NE

Elimination 5

Exchange realignment B 5, 58 B

At 31 March 2024 and #2024%$3AR31B &

1 April 2024 2024(4H18

Elimination 54

Exchange realignment b 5, 38 B

At 31 March 2025 2025%3A31H
Accumulated depreciation and R INERBE

R2023F4H1H

Depreciation charge for the year FEFEXH

Elimination E

Exchange realignment bE 5, 38 B

At 31 March 2024 and 2024%3A31B &

1 April 2024 202444818

Depreciation charge for the year FEFEXH

Impairment loss for the year FREMEEBE

Elimination E

Exchange realignment b 5, 38 B

At 31 March 2025 72025%3A318
Carrying amount REE

At 31 March 2025 #2025%E3H31H

7202453 H31H

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& OF B 7% S 2k M 5
Motor Leased

vehicle properties Total
ARE  HEapx @ct
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
2,015 24,938 26,953
— 10,794 10,794

— (23,852) (23,852)
(252) (1,139) (1,391)
1,763 10,741 12,504
(448) — (448)

6 4 10
1,321 10,745 12,066
500 23,089 23,589
355 3,618 3,973

— (23,852) (23,852)

(79) (1,105) (1,184)
776 1,750 2,526
261 3,758 4,019

— 2,254 2,254
(448) = (448)

5 9 14

594 7,771 8,365
727 2,974 3,701
987 8,991 9,978

During the year ended 31 March 2025, an impairment
loss of approximately HK$2,254,000 (2024: Nil) was
recognised. Please refer to note 15 for the detail of
impairment assessment.

HE2025F3A31HILFE  BHERARE
E518 492,254,000/ 0 (20244 : #) -
ERARENEFHEBEL2ENES -

—ERFFER
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214

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities payable:

Within one year

More than one year but not exceed
two years

More than two years but not exceed
five years

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months shown
under current liabilities

Amount due for settlement after
12 months shown under
non-current liabilities

The total cash outflow for leases, including the payments
made in relation to lease liabilities and expenses relating
to short-term lease payments in 2025 was HK$6,279,000

(2024: HK$6,734,000).

HEAR
ENHERRE:
R—FA
BE—FETHEBRF

HEmFENERESF

B ORB R EMRR
1218 A W2 H
& Y 5RIR

FRBEBEHATRR
1218 A& 2| 53
A& B 5RIR

3,861

2,336

275

6,472

(3,861)

2,611

R2025F MHEER SR
HEaBEFEENNZREBESEHEER
T B ) 46,279,000 JT (20244 -

6,734,000/ 7T) °
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2024
20244
HK$'000
FAET

4,133

3,887

2,632

10,652

(4,133)

6,519

RE(BHEEH



Cost

As 1 April 2023

and impairment
As at 1 April 2023

As at 31 March 2024

R

20234 R1H

Addition NE

Exchange realignment ME 5, 3 B

As at 31 March 2024 and 1202453831 &
1 April 2024 202454H1H

Written off 1 85

Exchange realignment BE 8 B

As at 31 March 2025 #2025%3H31H

Accumulated amortisation S EERREE

2023F4H1H

Change for the year FEXH

Exchange realignment BE i, 8 B

As at 31 March 2024 and $220245%3H31B &
1 April 2024 2024%4R18

Change for the year FEXH

Written off 3

Exchange realignment ME 8B

As at 31 March 2025 1220255%3H31H

Carrying amount: AREE :
As at 31 March 2025 1220255%3H31H

M2024F3A31H

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& OF B 7% S 2k M 5
Club Computer
membership software Total
BRenEE S E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FERX TER
591 6,806 7,397
— 15 15
(74) (840) (914)
517 5,981 6,498
— (386) (386)
2 15 17
519 5,610 6,129
311 3,294 3,605
25 1,053 1,078
(40) (391) (431)
296 3,956 4,252
25 969 994
— (386) (386)
1 20 21
322 4,559 4,881
197 1,051 1,248
221 2,025 2,246

Amortisation of HK$994,000 (2024: HK$1,078,000) has
been recognised in administrative expenses.

Club membership and computer software have finite
useful lives and are amortised on a straight-line basis over
20 years and 3 to 5 years, respectively.

¥t $4994,00058 7T (20244 : 1,078,000
TL)ERITHRE X ER -

REMFHAFHRNELILSENEKEHF
WHEGE  DRIR20F M3IBSFEREEH -

—ERFFER
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BHTHRERME

The Group’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 F2025%F K2024%63H318 - AEER E
and 2024 are set out below: EMBAREHIIANT :

Particulars of

Place of incorporation/ issued share capital/ Interest held by Interest held by
Name establishment (Note (i) Principal activities registered capital the Company the Company
Directly indirectly  Directly indirectly
MR/ R
1 (BEG) TEEE ERTRE/EREFFE AATRHEER AATRHEER
EE 553 E& 553
2024 2024
024% 20245
Tokyo Chuo Auction Co., Ltd Japan Provision of auction related services and Paid-in capital of JPY 50,000,000 95% - 95% -
("TCA Japan”) artwork sales
FAGHRRFRT-723Y  BA REAEEERBREMREE E & 7850,000,0000 B
('TcaB %))
Tokyo Chuo Auction Hong Kong  Hong Kong Provision of auction related services and Paid-in capital of HK$1 100% - 100% -
Company Limited artwork sales
RRORHEFERRAT B REAERERBREMRHE EHERIET
Tokyo Chuo Taiwan Auction Taiwan Investment holding Paid-in capital of TWD1,000,000 100% = 100% -
Company Limited
RRPRAERERNERLA AE REER B & K3 A %1,000,0007T
CGU Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Provision of money lending Paid-in capital of HK$10,000 100% - 100% -
B RERE EHE 10,0008 T
Note: B 3
() These subsidiaries principally operate in their places of () ZEMBRAREZEETMA L
incorporation/establishment. b B AR ZETE o
The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company FRORESRRIEFNEFEEER
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected HEAEBREEFEERLOHARAA
the results of the years or formed a substantial portion of MEAR - EFRE REAMHMELF
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other HNEBRERENBEILR -

subsidiaries would in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.
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At the beginning of the year £

Share of result from an associate JEAG — R B &
Dividend paid 2R E
Impairment loss REBE
Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 B

At the end of the year FER

On 1 April 2019, the Company entered into a non-legally
binding memorandum of understanding with an
independent third party in relation to the proposed
acquisition by the Group of 34% of the entire issued
shares in Mu Chun Tang Auction Co., Ltd (“Mou Chun
Tang”) (REEZRER M BR A Al), a Taiwan-based
auction house. The Proposed Acquisition was completed
on 16 August 2019 at a consideration of HK$8,500,000.

As set out in the share purchase agreement, the Company
shall be entitled to require the seller of Mou Chun Tang
to repurchase the equity interest held by the Company at
original purchase price at HK$8,500,000 if the net profit
after tax of Mou Chun Tang during the period from
1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021 does not exceed
HK$7,500,000 in aggregate. The fair value of such put
option has been accounted for as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss. The fair value of the put
option as of date of acquisition amounted to
HK$875,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company and
the seller of Mou Chun Tang has signed a supplementary
agreement to extend the terms that the seller of Mou
Chun Tang should repurchase the equity interest held by
the Company at original purchase price at HK$8,500,000
if the net profit after tax of Mou Chun Tang during the
period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 does
not exceed HK$7,500,000 in aggregate.

Mou Chun Tang cannot meet the profit target for the
period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024, thus
the Company has the option to require the seller of Mou
Chun Tang to repurchase the equity interest at original
price at HK$8,500,000 at any time.

NG
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B OIS RERM
2024
20244
HK$'000
THET
5,010 5,846
(953) 343
— (710)
(3,122) —
(360) (469)
575 5,010

MR2019F4R81H ARAREBYE=ZF
AIVELRORNINGERETS IS
ERAEBRKE B EHAETARE
EHERGBERAR(AERHEI
BEBTRMMN34% - BHETHWRER
20198 A16H 5K + X & &8,500,00078
Ex

BORHBEBESE WAEER
20191 A1H 2021128310 #i/E ~2
B B 12 F & Fl & £ 1 H 1B7,500,0007%8
T AR ERELAEENERUAR
5 b5 B (88,500,000 T B A A TR
ZRE - ZRERENRFEUNERTFE
BEf ABRZZemEEY KR - RoaH#E
A FEHZWEE B /8750008 7T °

REE2022F3A318 L EE - A A A E
AREENERFEHAHBALERE
IR - iR & 2 MN20229F1 818 &2024%F
12AEBHB 2 BRREFEMNE LT
87,500,000 70 AEEMNE K E R
% B8 E (88,500,000/8 THE R AR FIHEHA
2 X HE o

KEE KRG IZEF2022F1A1H £2024%F
NAEHEM R B EZ Bt AAQ A
ERBERERAEENZTRAREB
8,500,000/ Jt & 0] I 4 o

—ERFFER
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&P B R KM
Set out below are the summarised financial information T X E P EL E 20255 k20243 H318 1E
for an associate for the years ended 31 March 2025 and FE-—HBEERAANTBERRE -
2024:

Mu Chun Tang

AEE
2024
2024%F
HK$'000
FAT
Assets and liabilities as at 31 March M3A31HMBEERER
Current assets mB)EE 9,986 14,040
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,170 947
Current liabilities mEAE (2,808) (3,908)
Non-current liabilities ERBER (4,147) (3,913)
Profit or loss for the year ended HEIAMBLEED
31 March Ei=Fd
Revenue W 5,986 9,169
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive FE(BB),mH &k
(loss)/income for the year A (B518), /W
4B RE (2,803) 1,008
Reconciliation to carrying amounts: AR (B #1 AR -
Opening net assets at book value RERBZFNEE
FE 7,166 8,629
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive FE(EB), & &
(loss)/income for the year REe(BR) e
4B EE (2,803) 1,008
Dividend paid SRS = (2,089)
Exchange realignment PE 5 38 & (162) (382)
Closing net assets at book value REABECEFREE
A 4,201 7,166
Interest in associate (34%) REERNFZ
HE 7% (34%) 1,428 2,436
Fair value adjustment upon acquisition, W BE 1% N (B F =
net of tax (MERFHIE) 4,224 4,419
Impairment loss B 1 (5,090) (2,058)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 38 B 13 213
Carrying value as at 31 March MR3IA3ME/EREE 575 5,010
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, an impairment
loss on investment in an associate of approximately
HK$3,122,000 (2024: Nil) was recognised in the Group's
consolidated statement of profit or loss on the basis of
material decline in the recoverable amount which was
below the carrying amount and adverse changes in the
market in which the associate operated.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the recoverable
amount of investment in an associate has been
determined based on a value in use calculation which
uses cash flow projection based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by the management
of the group and valued by the professional valuer and
pre-tax discount rate of 13.24% per annum. Cash flows
beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using
a steady 1.5% growth rate. This growth rate does not
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the market.
Another key assumption for the value in use calculated is
budgeted gross margin, which is determined based on the
cash-generating units past performance and
management’s expectations for market development.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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B E2025F3A31HIEFE  ERATK[E
SEARETYK  ENKRAEE MEHEL
RAIRERENTEN TR EE  BitR
AEBRHAHBEZRAERR — ML
A A K& &R B B 18 #£93,122,0007% T
(20244 : 4E) -

HE2025F3A31HILEFE R —MHBE
RAMBENTRESEHREREE
HEET AR EERERELREE
EREEHAEATKEEGEMGENRSF
MM BBEEmMELNRSTRETEA - A
REBF13.24% G MATMIRE - @BRA
FHNREESREFABRTEMNIERE1.5%
HEE ERETESAMSEREAFY
BMER-FEFHEENS FERR
ABEEERNE WNHERSELEBEMNN
BERBELEEBESMGERNEHRE
= o

—ERFFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP EREN T
20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20. RAFEHFANBRZEHMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Put option in relation to acquisition of FEANECRE=S:
Investment accounted for using equity EVR 2R E B RS
method HA 1 7,962 2,500
7,962 2,500
For the details of put option, please refer to note 19. ERARLEENFE  F2H8ME19-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OIS RERM
21. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 21. BEFBBHEEREBHE
LIABILITIES
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when EBEETEUNITENG K E 2 E BT
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current SHEEHMENHAGEE UREER
income tax recoverable against current income tax PSR EENBERERE —HBEARN
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and ZEAMERBITAERE TR 2
liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same taxation FIISHER MEERFIEERELEEL
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable GRS REMEHEERBESSHEE -
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances WS REAMT ¢
on a net basis. The offset amounts are as follows:
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#T FHEIT
Deferred income tax assets RIS E E 1,911 1,337
Deferred income tax liabilities REMSHREaE (1,921) (1,959)
(10) (622)
Movements in net deferred income tax (liabilities)/assets BEEFMBH(AE), / EEFENEHN
are as follows: ™~
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH#T FHEIT
At the beginning of the year F4 (622) (847)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 11) riE=EF AT 605 21
Exchange realignment bE X 3 & 7 204
At the end of the year FR (10) (622)
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& OB IS SRR MY
Movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BREMGEHEERBBEREE2025F &
during the vyears ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, 20245 3A3MA L FEMESH (T ERE
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balance Al —MBEDEERNEEEER) T -

within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Other
Property, payables
plant and and Lease
equipment Inventories  accruals liabilities  Others Total
Hith
ME - BE FEfFRIER
&L FE MRER HEEHE Hith st

HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
F#ET F#ET FTE&xt TERT T#ERT T#ER

At 1 April 2023 2023%F4H18 545 461 (350) 852 576 2,084
Credited/(charged) to RiE&EE A (k)

profit or loss 50 66 566 1,374 (123) 1,933
Exchange realignment [E o #% 71 61) 18 (72) (66) (252)

At 31 March 2024 and 12024538318 &

1 April 2024 202454R1H 524 466 234 2,154 387 3,765
(Charged)/credited to BBz (F08) /5T A

profit or loss (100) 335 (374) (880) 313 (706)
Exchange realignment [E 5 # % 1 7 (5) (3) 5 5
At 31 March 2025 $22025%3H31H 425 808 (145) 1,271 705 3,064
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Withholding

tax on

unremitted

earnings

REHZANZ

s

HK$'000

THER

At 1 April 2023 202344818 2,210

Charged to profit or loss 718z ¥0 Bk 28

Exchange realignment & X 38 (279)
At 31 March 2024 and $22024%3A31B &

1 April 2024 2024%4H1H 1,959
Credited to profit or loss R85t A (a7)
Exchange realignment bE H, 58 & 9
At 31 March 2025 $2025%3A318 1,921

The directors do not have an intention to distribute the
retained earnings of certain subsidiary of the Group such
that deferred income tax liabilities of HK$823,000 (2024
HK$840,000) have not been recognised for the
withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings of the subsidiary. Such
unremitted earnings totaled HK$16,467,000 as at
31 March 2025 (2024: HK$16,794,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$25,900,000 (2024:
HK$22,268,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. The losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

A OF B 7% 3R R B 5
Right-of-use

assets Others Total
EHEEE Hitb et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET

690 31 2,931

1,439 445 1,912
(152) (25) (456)

1,977 451 4,387
(839) (425) (1,311)
15 (26) (2)

1,153 — 3,074

EEEESOERASEBETHEAAN
RBAFN B oI &K B QA
o0& 2 FI FE 15 /Y TE 40 B K E B TE AR
REE T B B A (5823,000% T
(20244 : 840,000/ JT) ° 72025938
31H - BEKE T AFE 516,467,000
7 7T (20244 : 16,794,000/ 7T) ©

¥R EBIR - A% B F 4925,900,0007% 7T
(20244 : 22,268,000 JT) By & &) B &
TH 18 0] A VB 8 R 2R0m Bl o B R R 2K
AR BRI TE R - WEBL A B AR
HEERRECHEEE BEIJER
Hft e o

—ERFFER
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B R RM =
22. INVENTORIES 22. BE&
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Artwork 7 7 132,347 128,588
The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and B £2025F3A31H Lt FE R B
included in “costs of sales of goods” amounted to XYWt AIE@BEKRKEA] Z2FEKAE
approximately HK$8,509,000 for the year ended 31 March 4 /38,509,000 JT (20244 : 6,898,000
2025 (2024: HK$6,898,000). BIT) °
23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. B RHEWRIE
2025 2024
20255 2024%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Trade receivables =Y &/ 10,679 11,114
Less: Allowance for ECL B TR EEEERE (5.416) (3,697)
Trade receivables — net Z 5 EWFIRFHE 5,263 7,417
Other receivables H At JE W TR 1B
— Receivables from buyers in respect of — EUWEXRIAE K i8R
auction and related business F A (HEEa6))
(Note (i) 71,351 83,835
— Consignor advance (Note (ii)) — LEEATERKIEA
(B 52 (i) ) 59,031 63,021
— Input value-added tax recoverable — Aol TE IR E 517 227
— Others — Hitp 9,273 3,660
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H A e WG IE 145,435 158,160
As at 31 March 2025, the fair value of trade and other 202553 A310 - REBE S5 R HAfE
receivables of the Group were approximately the same as WORIEH) A B B AR E B R BAE R (2024
their carrying amounts (2024: same). F:BERER) -
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23.

(Continued)

Notes:

(i) Other receivables from buyers in respect of auction and
related business represent the purchase price of the
auction articles receivable on behalf of sellers.

(i) Included in other receivables are advances of approximately
HK$59,031,000 made to certain consignors as at
31 March 2025 (2024: HK$63,021,000) upon consignment
of auction articles to the Group. As at 31 March 2025,
these advances bore interest at 0% to 12% per annum
(2024: interest at 0% to 12% per annum).

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the carrying amounts of
trade and other receivables are denominated in the
following currencies:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BESREMEBWRIE(Z)
B -

(i) HioRKERMERBBEBFRER
REFERNHEREEE -

(i)  F2025F3A31H T A H fth fE K IAH
T8 15 5% T8 #959,031,0007% JT (20244 :
63,021,000 7T) - AAANEBZTHE
miEmE T ZEAEL - R202553A
3N ZEBENRERF R E%E
12%5T B (20245 : FF|E0%E12% ) °

2025 K202463A31H  E 5 N H A
JEWFIEMNEREU T EEETE

2025 2024
20255 20244

HK$"000 HK$'000

FET THETT

HK$ BT 59,107 76,487
JPY = 85,598 80,920
Other Hfth 730 753
145,435 158,160

The Group grants credit period of 7 days for commission
receivables and 30 days for receivables from artwork sales.
The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice
date, before allowance for ECL of trade receivables, as at
31 March 2025 and 2024, was as follows:

NE B 5 R 5 E WS & E RSN S
ERER 7R F30KH=EH - 72025
FN2024%F3A318 E W HRBEER
BEHH(RABESRUGRBEEREEDS
BEEI)NERERITHOT

2025 2024

20255 2024%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

— Within 30 days — 30K 5,351 5,677
— 1 to 3 months — 1&£3@ A — 25
— 3 to 6 months — 3%6{E A 5 1,036
— 6 to 12 months — 621218 A 53 10
— Over 1 year — 1FE Mk 5,270 4,366
10,679 11,114
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& OF B 15 R MY

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)
Movements of the Group’s allowance for ECL of trade
receivables are as follows:

23. ESREMBWKRIE(ZF)

Ao B R 5 0RO T A4S B R R
ZEBWT

2025 2024

20255 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

TER FAT

At beginning of the year F 1) 3,697 4,824
Allowance for ECL EEHEEFEEE 1,693 6,778
Written-off i £8 = (7,800)
Exchange realignment ME 3, 38 B 26 (105)
At end of the year FR 5,416 3,697

Movements of the Group’s allowance for ECL of other

AEBEMERFIERMEEBERE

receivables are as follows: BENT -
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At beginning of the year F9) 38 38
Allowance for ECL EHEEEERE (31) —
At end of the year FR 7 38

226 TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& BB IS R BT
24. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 24. e RAEMNRIE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET
Current portion: WENER 5 :
Prepayments to sellers for auctioned HEHEENMmEMER
artwork (Note (i) B 5 B9 BRIR (B EEG)) 65 5,837
Deposits and prepayments Be RIBEMNRKIE 15,125 20,310
15,190 26,147
Non-current portion: ERBEB S :
Rental and other deposits HekEMize 1,588 1,586
16,778 27,733
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the fair value of deposits 20254 &2024F3A318 A& BEZ©
of the Group approximated their carrying amounts. WAFEEAKRMEES -
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the carrying amounts of 20254 K&2024F3H318 » & KRB
deposits and prepayments are denominated in the HREMERAEBENTHESE :
following currencies:
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FAT
HK$ BT 11,548 16,900
JPY H 5,230 10,833
16,778 27,733
Notes: Bt 7
(i) As at 31 March 2025, prepayments to sellers for auctioned (i) HM2025F3A31H e MEEIMMSA R

artwork represent the amounts advanced to sellers of
artwork of HK$65,000 (2024: HK$5,837,000). Amounts
may be advanced to sellers prior to receiving full payment
of the auction purchase prices from the relevant buyers
and the Group will keep the related auctioned artwork
under its custody. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, such
prepayments were interest-free and the respective
auctioned artwork was kept under the Group's custody.

ERBEMNNFEERBTRELS FEX
2 X IE65,000/%8 JT (20244 : 5,837,000
BIL) c e EARKIEBEREBHX
NMEBEEBMNFENBENTFER M
AEBBRBEBHELEMREBEET
& o A2025F NM2024%3A31H © A
BNFEAREREECHEEINRE
RBAAEETE -
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25. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS

228

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to a
bank to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group.

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash and short-term
bank deposits with an original maturity of three months
or less.

25. & RBITHER

EERMRTEREEMR TRITURE

BRYASE—RRTBENFR -

RehkBAcFEVERSRRIBAES
=EARERSHEOERRTER -

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FETT

Cash at banks and on hand R LFHERES 76,457 48,744

The carrying amounts of the pledged bank deposits and
cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the
following currencies:

EEFRTERERELRAEFEDH

BREENR NIEEE:

2025 2024

20255 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

HK$ AT 49,504 32,122
JPY H 29,697 19,433
usb ETT 644 380
RMB AR 291 274
Others Hfb 321 535
80,457 52,744

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's bank balances of
approximately HK$194,000 (2024: HK$202,000) were
deposited with a bank in the PRC. The remittance of
these funds out of the PRC is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by
the PRC government.
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Ordinary shares

Issued and fully paid:
As at 1 April 2023,
31 March 2024,

1 April 2024 and
31 March 2025

At 1 April 2023

Loss for the year

Exchange difference on
translating foreign operation

Recognition of equity-settled share
based payment

At 31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024

Loss for the year

Exchange difference on
translating foreign operation

Recognition of equity-settled share
based payment

At 31 March 2025

&Rk

EETRHER

#2023%4A18 -
202453H318
202454A1B &
202553A31H

1202354818

FEBAE

BEBNEBELN
EXZE

ERROABREEEN
Refn E BT 3R

#2024%3A318 &
202454R1H

FEBAE

BEBIEBELN
EXER

R AR
R B AT 3K

EEH

12025%3A318

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Number of shares

Share capital

& E B &
2024 2024
20244 20244
500,000,000 500,000,000 169,730 169,730
Other reserves
Hivfit e
Share
option Merger  Currency
reserve reserves translation Retained
(Note (ii))  (Note (i)) differences Sub-total earnings Total
FE IR
e AitE IEFRE
(MaEGi)  (BFEEG)) 8 Nt REERF st
HK"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TERT TER TERT TERT TERXT THETR
— (38,358) (21,894) (60,252) 149,839 89,587
— — — —  (26,890) (26,890)
— — (6,158) (6,158) — (6,158)
9,367 — — 9,367 — 9,367
9,367 (38,358) (28,052) (57,043) 122,949 65,906
= = = — (19,461) (19,461)
= = (227) (227) = (227)
5,351 = = 5,351 = 5,351
14,718 (38,358) (28,279) (51,919) 103,488 51,569
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BHTHRERME

27. RESERVES (Continued)

27. f#E (&)

Notes:

0)

(ii)

The consolidation difference that arises under merger
accounting is included as “merger reserve”, and computed
by comparing the considerations paid and the share capital
of the subsidiaries that merged into the Group.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 2.20(d) to the financial statements. The
amount will be transferred to the share capital/other
reserve account when the related options are exercised, or
be transferred to retained profits should the related
options expire or be forfeited.

28. BORROWINGS

230

B AE

(i)

(ii)

[AHREBITEEEAHEETELS
MAMER TEBLBREMNKEMG
AREEHHBRRBRAMmH -

BREFRERECERLEERNRITENE
BENAFE  FEF2HEPBRERM
7£2.20(d) AR 0 A EREH) S SRV & 5
BR - WAAABRRETE 88
BRERA HEMuEREERS - RHEH
BhEEmEIELY ZeRRERE
R B Al -

28. &k

2025 2024

2025 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#T FHET

Bank borrowings (Note (a)) RITE K (BT FE@Q)) 37,327 41,598
Secured B\ 6,056 7,068
Unsecured =4 31,271 34,530
37,327 41,598
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& BB IS R BT
BORROWINGS (Continued) 28. &= (&)
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FAET
The carrying amounts of the above e SRR BR TE (B R R
borrowings are repayable: AT ERfEI (B3
Within one year —%F R 14,520 14,602
With a period of more than one year but BiB—FEBTBAWFE
not exceeding two years ) HA 4,296 4,269
With a period of more than two years HiEMEETHEERF
but not exceeding five years 7 Bi 8 11,779 12,655
With a period of more than five years 8 38 7 F 79 HA 6,732 10,072
37,327 41,598
Less: Amounts due within one year SR REBBET
shown under current liabilities R —F A E| B A
TR (14,520) (14,602)
Amounts shown under non-current FIRIERBAEBTH
liabilities ke 22,807 26,996

The Group’s borrowings are denominated in

the following

AEBEFATIEEE:

currencies:
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
JPY H [E] 37,327 41,598
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& s

232

Note

(a)

e

S:

Bank borrowings

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The unsecured fixed-rate bank borrowing of
approximately HK$5,517,000 (2024: HK$6,531,000)
as at 31 March 2025 is repayable on 2030 and
bearing interest at 0.9% per annum. It was
guaranteed by personal guarantee of Mr. Ando, a

director of the Company.

The secured fixed-rate bank borrowing of
approximately HK$6,056,000 (2024: HK$7,068,000)
as at 31 March 2025 is repayable on 2031 and
bearing interest at 0.9% per annum. It was secured
by property of Mr. Ando and Mrs. Ando, directors of
the Company.

The unsecured fixed-rate bank borrowings with
principal amount of approximately HK$20,240,000,
equivalent to JPY 390,000,000, (2024:
HK$20,167,000, equivalent to JPY 390,000,000)
were received from Japanese bank in which interest
were subsidised by Japanese government with lower
than market rate and the carrying amounts of
approximately HK$15,521,000 (2024:
HK$17,656,000) as at 31 March 2025 are repayable
in full on year 2030. The prevailing market interest
rates for equivalent bank borrowings of 1.11% to
1.91%. The difference of between the gross
proceeds and the fair value of the bank borrowings
are the benefit derived from the interest-free bank
borrowings and are recognised as government grant
under other income.

The unsecured variable-rate bank borrowings of
approximately HK$10,233,000 (2024:
HK$10,343,000) is repayable within one year and
bearing interest at 0.35% to 0.45% per annum over
1-month benchmark interest rate.
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(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

2025%3A31H - | T ER
17 f§ X #95,517,00078 7T (2024
F : 6,531,000/ JT) A 720304
BE WIKOINFFEEFE - H
MARNAIESZEELEEAER
EER -

R2025%38318 - BEME LR
17 & 3 496,056,000/ 7T (2024
F : 7,068,000/ JjT) 7B 20314
BE WIK0INFFEEFHE - H
HARBIESTBEEMTHEL
TR EER-

N & %8 #720,240,000% 7T © #H £ R
390,000,000 [B] (20244F : 20,167,000
7 7T » 85 72390,000,000H &) Ky 4=
EHEBRITERIE B AR
G EF S B B ARBUT L
BMHHE K - 72025F3H31
A ER A {E %) A15,521,0007% 7T
(20244 : 17,656,000/ JT) 7B
2030F FEABHEE - SEELTT
BRMBTHENERBIN%E
1.91%  RITIERATBRIBEEE
HATFTEZENEBEAR IR
ERELENFZE  THERASHAM
WATBTHRTHE -

I SR 1718 504910,233,000
7 7T (20244 : 10,343,000/ 7T)
AR—FRNEEZE  PBEREEFR
K7 FBREFE035%E0.45%
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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29. HibFEMRRIA R FEEt & A

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAET

Payables to sellers in respect of ERNERNE RHH
auction and related business EBRIE 114,852 93,962

Deposits received, other payables and B lige - HibER
accruals HREBELEGER 9,697 8,795
124,549 102,757

Less: Non-current portion: B IEMENEB S

— Other payables — HAEFRIE (1,200) (1,200)
Current portion Vi R= A 123,349 101,557

Payables to sellers in respect of auction and related
business represent the purchase price of auction articles
payable to sellers less seller commissions and other
auction related receivable.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, all deposits received,
other payables and accruals of the Group were
non-interest bearing, and their fair value approximate to
their carrying amounts due to their short maturities.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the other payable
classified as non-current liabilities, which represented the
Group’s obligation to pay the reinstatement costs to the
landlords of the offices in Hong Kong and Japan and was
expected to be settled at the end of the leases.

ENEXABEMABEGRBEENE
RMEmMBEERERMAENEMAE
H R M R -

20254 K2024%F3A31H  AEB A
EfEe EMENRERESERY
28 MBAREBESINHARE  BREESE
AFEHEFERTDEMES

20254 K%2024F3A318 - Efh B K
BB AFRBEE HEASEMSE
BRAAREEEFINERKANE
EWEBHERBELREGLE -
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. HibhFEtRIA R FESt & (&2)

(Continued)

The Group’s other payables and accruals are denominated

AEEEMEMNFENETERA T

in the following currencies: HHEHE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FET
HK$ AT 53,236 46,862
JPY H 71,293 55,883
Others H At 20 12
124,549 102,757
30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY  30. iz R Z oL T B

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T THE T

Financial assets at amortised cost 8 H R R D) BR Y

CRMEE
— Trade and other receivables — B SR H b EWHRIE 144,918 157,933
— Prepayments to sellers for — HBEHEENREM
auctioned artwork BRENMNZ KA 65 5,837
— Deposits — &e 1,939 3,775
— Pledged bank deposits — BEEHRRITEX 4,000 4,000
— Cash and cash equivalents — RekBEEEEY 76,457 48,744
227,379 220,289
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAERD

profit or loss TREE 7,962 2,500

Financial liabilities at amortised cost WK AR

cRaE

— Other payables and accruals — H fth FE A B K&
EEtE M 124,549 102,757
— Borrowings — & 37,327 41,598
— Lease liabilities —MHEB®E 6,472 10,652
168,348 155,007
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31. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of loss before income tax to

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31. EHRERERKE

(a) BRFIEHAIBREGSEEGM

cash generated from/(used in) operations: B (FMABREZHER:
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loss before income tax B PTG A AT 18 (20,362) (26,389)
Adjustments for: AT & IEFHE -
— Depreciation of property, — WE - BEREE
plant and equipment = 1,904 1,696
— Amortisation of intangible assets —— & & # 84 994 1,078
— Depreciation of right-of-use — PRAREENE
assets 4,019 3,973
— Share of result of on investment — FE{5{EAERE A
accounted using the equity BRI E F A
method 953 (343)
— Change in fair value of financial — &R FEF AEZRE
assets at fair value through ZeEMEERNTE
profit or loss & &) (5,462) (1,650)
— Interest income Bl A (700) (226)
— Interest expenses MER 1,762 1,045
— Provision for allowance for — SREEEHEE
ECL on financial assets BEEBHEHIIRE 1,662 6.778
— Impairment loss on investment — — {F A S G AR
accounted for using the equity ZRENBERE
method 3,122 —
— Impairment loss on non-financial — 3E&@EERMEEIE
assets 4,265 —
— Equity-settled share-based — UEREENRND
payment A 5,351 (9,367)
Operating cash flows before LEEEHR 2 KE
movement on working capital HeneE (2,492) (23,405)
Changes in working capital: HEEEH
— Increase in inventories — EFEEEM (3,615) (2,055)
— Decrease in trade and other — B 5 K H M EWFIE
receivables e 11,304 5,018
— Decrease in deposits and — Ze RIERMKIEAE
prepayments DR 10,913 30,209
— Increase/(decrease) in other — HuEMNRIBE X ER
payables and accruals BRI CRD) 21,400 (16,992)
Cash generated from/(used in) KBS/ (FTA)
operations B& 37,510 (7,225)
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32.

33.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s subsidiary had given
guarantees totaling approximately HK$18,500,000 (2024:
HK$18,500,000) to financial institutions in connection with
the banking facilities granted to the Company.

ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
pledged the following assets to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group:

32. IBRERREH
72025F3A31H KRR MK B A A
ERBETFTARRAMNBITHE R B #
& 1 H & £ 418,500,000 7T (20244 :
18,500,000/ 7T ) AY #E 1R ©

33. EIRHAERNEE
RBEREK AEBDEE T EE
ERETAEEN—MBTRE

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

Tt FET

Pledged bank deposits BEFIRETER 4,000 4,000

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

236

34. FEBEL X B

(a) Names and relationships with related parties (a) FABES &HEREZ

Related parties are those parties that have the ability R IE B ee NiES) - HRES K
to control, jointly control or exert significant EHREHRFERIKRHES
influence over the other party in holding power over MMEATEH: H2EEEHR
the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable returns B9 2 7% i 7 & B 2 [ 3R /Y [ B ok i
from its involvement with the investee; and the M BB IBHREHRITER
ability to use its power over the investee to affect BEIMEEREELRSEOA
the amount of the investor’s returns. Parties are also T o fie X BR R [R] — 15l Bk 2k A 4%
considered to be related if they are subject to Hl - AR R o
common control or joint control.
The following individuals and companies are related T AT RAGRAE B R
parties of the Group that had balances and/or 7 1 E R B 220259 R202443
transactions with the Group during the year ended A318 I F E 8K & B 15 4 &
31 March 2025 and 2024. R/ RETRG e

Name of related parties Relationship with the Group

)k Yt BEAEE MR Z

Mr. Ando Shokei Controlling Shareholder

R & ERR R

Bai Sheng Co., Ltd. Controlled by Mr. Ando Shokei

KAeHta B FH &2 R M AE ST AT
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& BB IS R BT
34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. BABKA RS (&)
(Continued)
(a) Names and relationships with related parties (a) FAEEA BBREAR (&)

(Continued)

(i)  In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the (i) BEGUBHERMTFEMILD
notes to the consolidated financial statement, FR# B E SN - R BB S
the Group had the following transactions with RS
related parties:

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Rental expenses to a related party  [A) B8 B 75 2 < #9
e kX
— Bai Sheng Co., Ltd. — AL EH — 14

(i) As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s bank (i) F20259F3A31H » &N &
facilities amounting to HK$11,573,000 (2024: 4 %8 511,573,000 7T (2024
HK$13,599,000) were guaranteed by personal 4 1 13,599,000 7T) AR 1T
guarantee from Mr. Ando. BEBRLTBELIEELENEA

BRAAER -

All the related party transactions were conducted in F A fA R 75 X 5 Ty 15 4% B FA B 75 48

accordance with terms mutually agreed with related EREMGKRNBEEBBIEPE

parties and in the ordinary course of business. 1T °

Key management includes directors and top TEEERERREELAERER

management. The compensation paid or payable to cHIEEBREMENNENEE

key management for employee services is shown ERENFMII AT

below:

2025 2024

20255 2024%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Salaries and Wages FehIE 6,952 7,194

Pensions, medical insurances, other Rik® - BERKE

social insurances and other Hib it & Rig R HEAM

benefits & 7 277 397
Equity-settled share-based NREREEa IR D AR

payment E- 583 1,021

7,812 8,612

ERHARMEERARANA _T_RAFFERSE 237



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OF B 7% R R Y 5
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The Group has adopted the share option scheme on
13 September 2018 under which certain selected classes
of participants (including, among others,
employees) may be granted options to subscribe for the
new shares. On 24 April 2023, 48,000,000 share options
were granted to certain Director, senior managements and
employees of the Group at an exercise price of HK$0.80
per share. Approximately HK$5,351,000 (2024:
HK$9,367,000) recognised as equity-settled
share-based payment expense for the year ended
31 March 2025.

full-time

was

The Share Options shall be valid for a period of six years
from the Date of Grant. Any Share Options not exercised
by 23 April 2029 shall lapse.

(i) 30% of the Share Options granted shall be vested
on, and exercisable from, the first anniversary of the
Date of Grant (i.e. 24 April 2024);

(i)  30% of the Share Options granted shall be vested
on, and exercisable from, the second anniversary of
the Date of Grant (i.e. 24 April 2025); and

(iii) the remaining 40% of the Share Options granted
shall be vested on, and exercisable from, the third
anniversary of the Date of Grant (i.e. 24 April

2026).
Date of grant  Exercise price 1 April 2023
REBH T{E 2023%4R1H
HKS$ '000
En T
Directors 24 April 2023 0.80 —
£ 2023547248
Employees 24 April 2023 0.80 —
B8 2023F4A248
Total _
@t

Exercisable at the end of the year

ERTFITR
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AN % B 201849 5138 £ 4% B8 A 4 &1
2Bl BETEREREN2ESE (K
PEEZBEES) JER THIRENR
B8 31 A% - 720234 A24H - 48,000,000
MEBRENATEESRISEBLER T
AEBETES SREEERES -
B E202593A318 IEFE 45,351,000
7 70 (20244 : 9,367,000 7T) FE R A& KA
BaEENRNEMNHRARL -

BRESARLEBHEFAE A FE
W o L] FA20295F4 A23H A i A TTER
RS SR -

() ERHEREMN30%HRELBEH
£ — @A F (E2024%F48248) &
B BZB®EAFITE:

(i) ERLBEREMNI0%EARIEL B
5 — (#8 F (B2025%4A248) &%
BYBZBRAFITE: &

(i) BERHERENFR40% KB RIR K

H 5 % = {& 8 & (B12026F4 24
H)SEBIWEZBER]FIT6 -

Granted during Outstanding as at Outstanding as at

the year 31 March 2024 31 March 2025
1202438318 #2025%3A31H

FERERH ief K A7 1€ ief K A7 1€
‘000 ‘000 ‘000

T T T

5,000 5,000 5,000
43,000 43,000 43,000
48,000 48,000 48,000

- 14,400



During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
share options granted under the Scheme lapsed upon the
resignation of the employees of the Group and no share
options was exercised or cancelled.

The fair value of equity-settled share options during the
year was estimated as at the date of grant, using a
binomial model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. The
significant assumption and inputs used in the estimation
of fair value are as follows:

Exercise price of share option (HK$ per share option)

Dividend yield (%)

Expected volatility (%)

Risk-free interest rate (%)

Expected life of options (years)

Weighted average share price (HK$ per share)

Fair value of share option (HK$ per share option)

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous
years. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the
Directors’ best estimate. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.

The share options outstanding at 31 March 2025 had a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.07 years
(2024: 5.07 years).

The share options had been tendered for cancellation
under the option offer on 20 June 2025. For details,
please refer to the joint announcements dated 2 May
2025, 23 May 2025, 30 May 2025 and 20 June 2025 and
circular dated 30 May 2025.
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H ZE2025%F 20243 A31B ILEE -
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EHETRINEREYERNAKEES
BERBL M 2SR - IR BT TRE At ©
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(BB T
BAENFE
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T ERE

Grant date on
24 April 2023
®FBEH
20234
4F24H
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The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing

activities are those for which cash flow were, or future
cashflows will be classified in the Group's consolidated
statement of cash flows from financing activities.

As at 1 April 2023

New bank loan raised

Repayment of bank loan

Interest elements on lease liabilities
Repayment of lease liabilities
Addition of lease

Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2024 and

1 April 2024
New bank loan raised
Repayment of bank loan
Interest elements on lease liabilities
Repayment of lease liabilities
Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2025

240

M2023F4H1H
FERFETER
EEFETEXK
HEAEMNE TR
EEHEAaRE
AEME

[ W

MR2024%F3A318 &
2024F4 /11
MERPBITER
BEEITER
HEAGHNMETE
EEfHEAaE

BE 54 98 B

#2025%3A31H
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TRALAEEREMELTDAENE
B EREASLIRNCEY - KERERE
PHNEERRERECKIRKRER
ERRAEEEGHATRERIBR/K
BRMERHE -

Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
#® HEAfR 45t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTER FTER FTER
(Note 28) (Note 16)
(P#z£28)  (BtzE16)

49,332 4,110 53,442
15,428 — 15,428
(17,301) — (17,301)
— 254 254

— (4,252) (4,252)

— 10,794 10,794
(5,861) (254) (6,115)
41,598 10,652 52,250
10,231 — 10,231
(14,586) — (14,586)
— 345 345
— (3,788) (3,788)

84 (737) (653)
37,327 6,472 43,799
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37. A QA SIMBIRAREEEEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) EATMBRARE
Company
2025 2024
20255 20244
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
N2 Fi#T FHEIT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FERENEE
Investment in subsidiaries RHTBERRINERE 47,063 47,063
Right-of-use assets TREEE 2,837 8,306
Deferred tax assets RIEFIAE E 58 56
Deposits and prepayments e MIE RE 1,008 1,008
50,966 56,433
Current assets REEE
Inventories E 2,279 2,279
Deposits and prepayments & RIBMNFKIE 9,845 9,868
Amount due from subsidiaries & U B /B A 7 Zx 18 120,974 121,659
Pledged bank deposits EHEFRITIFRK 4,000 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents BehReEED 3,320 5,219
140,418 143,025
Total assets HEE 191,384 199,458
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37. A QA SIMBIRNARREHEEE

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continued)
(a) Statement of financial position of the () FATMBRRAFT(Z)

Company (Continued)

2025 2024
20255 20244
Note HK$000 HK$'000
Bt 52 FET FHET
Equity i
Equity attributable to KATHEBANEL
owners of the Company HEx
Share capital N 169,730 169,730
Reserves fEm 37(b) 12,815 17,466
Total equity L 182,545 187,196
Liabilities =R
Non-current liabilities ERBER
Other payables H b & - /I8 1,200 1,200
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,054 5,444
3,254 6,644
Current liabilities REBAER
Other payables and accruals H A BT EIB R
=t 2,196 1,709
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN — 710
Lease liabilities HEARE 3,389 3,199
5,585 5,618
Total liabilities BfEEEH 8,839 12,262
Total equity and liabilities ExRBEESE 191,384 199,458
The statement of financial position of the Company was KA BHRAREBHEFERN
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025 and 202556 H30R #L /EN R FFESE
was signed on its behalf. KEREZE-
Huang Shikun Qian Yuanyuan
=i #giRR
Director Director
EF BFE
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As at 1 April 2023

Loss and total comprehensive

loss for the year

Recognition of equity-settled

share based payment

As at 31 March 2024 and

1 April 2024

Loss and total comprehensive

loss for the year

Recognition of equity-settled

share based payment

As at 31 March 2025

202354R18
FEBBRGAEE
ERRHNESEEN
% {7 E B A 3R

$:2024%3A318 &
2024%4A1H

FEBEBREEER
R

ERANNIESEESN
& 15 EL A A5 3K

?2025%3A31H

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Share option
reserve

R R A 1t 1
HK$°000
FHET

9,367

9,367

5,351

14,718

& OF B 7% S 2k M 5
Retained

earnings Total
REBEF st
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
19,524 19,524
(11,425) (11,425)
— 9,367
8,099 17,466
(10,002) (10,002)
— 5,351
(1,903) 12,815

—ERFFER

off
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38. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 38. EEEM L=

(a) Directors and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EBERRSTHASNE
The remuneration of each director of the Company #H £2025%F N2024%F3A318 I+ F
paid/payable by the Group for the years ended B -AEEERN ERHARAREE
31 March 2025 and 2024 are set out as follows: ENHMEIN BT
Pension,
medical
insurance,
other social Equity-
insurances settled
Director's Salaries  and other share based
For the year ended Fee and wages benefits payment Total
Bihe U

BRGR BRH

At ERIR  ROER
BEUTEMLER Exfe HeRIZ REBERN fi a5
Note HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
fit o FET TER TET FET FiERT

31 March 2025 2025%3R318
Executive directors WTES
— Mr. Ando —TBEE 0) = 2,585 105 583 3,273
— Mrs. Ando Eri — ZHREBELT () — 1,661 66 — 1,727
— Mr. Katsu Bunkai —BBEE () — 952 87 — 1,039
— Mr. Sun Hongyue — — BEA%AE (i) - — — = =
Independent non- BUEHTES
executive directors

— Mr. Chung Kwok Mo — EBI R L4 (i)

John 195 = = = 195
— Ms. lam Suk Lng ~ — BB R L (i)

Shirley 195 = = — 195
— Mr. Chun Chi Man  — AR %4 (i) 195 — - — 195

585 5,198 258 583 6,624
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38. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 3. EEREAMEFE (F)

(Continued)
(a) Directors and chief executive’s emoluments () EEERRETHAENE (Z)
(Continued)
Pension,
medical
insurance,
other social Equity-
insurances settled
Director's Salaries and other  share based
For the year ended Fee  and wages benefits payment Total
L e AR &
BEERRE - EEH
HEiieRR Bin EfE
BEUTHHLEE ESHe HeRIE REMEA E:S o
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i THET THT THET THT THET
31 March 2024 2024%3R31H
Executive directors HTEE
— Mr. Ando —RBELE (i) — 2,622 112 1,021 3,755
— Mrs. Ando Eri —ZEBELL () — 1,691 73 — 1,764
— Mr. Katsu Bunkai —EXELE () — 1,009 94 — 1,103
— Mr. Sun Hongyue —BEALE ) — — — — —
Independent BUEHTES
non-executive directors
— Mr. Chung Kwok Mo — EBIH L4 (i)
John 240 - - - 240
— Ms. Lam Suk Ling LY )
Shirley 240 - - - 240
— Mr. Chun ChiMan  — RAR%AE (i) 240 — — — 240
720 5322 279 1,021 7,342
The remuneration shown above represents FERAEHGMEZSESFTNEE
remuneration paid and payable by the Group for 20254 20243 A31H Ik F E B
these directors in their capacity as employees to the AEBMEEFNOR LA RAES
Group and/or in their capacity as directors of the FBEAEEC N RERE B -
Company during the years ended 31 March 2025 B T = 0 #2025 202443
and 2024. No directors waived or agreed to waive AR IEFEMESKREREENM
any emoluments during the years ended 31 March B o
2025 and 2024.
(i) Resigned on 20 June 2025. (i)  PM2025F6HA20H B L -
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38. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

246

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no
retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking (2024:
Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation
for early termination of the appointment during the
year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No payment was made to third parties for making
available directors’ services during the year ended
31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favor of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors

Save as disclosed in Note 34, there are no other
loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favor of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the
year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

There are no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year ended
31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).
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On 25 April 2025, Mr. Ando Shokei had entered into the
sale and purchase agreement with the ESSA Financial
Group Ltd (the “Offeror”), pursuant to which Mr. Ando
Shokei had agreed to sell and the Offeror and other
purchasers had agreed to purchase an aggregate of
374,967,278 shares (the “Sale Shares”), representing
approximately 74.99% of the total issued share capital of
the Company. The total consideration for the Sale Shares
is HK$164,985,602.32, which is equivalent to HK$0.44 per
Sale Share. For details, please refer to the Joint
Announcements and the Circular of the Company.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
T B Bt =

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- ZAEBRBEARBEATRFEFEZEBEUREE
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial BEHEIFTRERME @ HxECRIBLEEZ
years, as extracted from the published audited financial Bf#F3Rk -

statements.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MEBRE
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
20214 20224  2023%F  2024%F  2025%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000
F&xT TFTHET TFTET TFTHET FETT
Revenue &= 80,753 79,597 72,762 57,852 62,051
Gross profit EAH 70,023 68,969 53,321 46,779 48,484
Profit/(loss) before income tax [ AT 15 % B % A~
(E18) 11,698 12,031 (8,479) (26,389) (20,362)
Profit/(loss) attributable to KREER AEL
owners of the Company w F (B ) 8,363 8,434 (8,286)  (26,890) (19,461)
Total assets BEE 594,653 581,081 466,001 396,637 394,962
Total liabilities BERRE 308,188 297,060 202,913 157,691 170,376
Net Assets EEFE 286,465 284,021 263,088 238,946 224,586
Equity attributable to: IATALREES :
— Equity shareholders of . WNEIE: £
the Company BB A 282,241 279,940 259,317 235,636 221,299
— Non-controlling interests — JEIERRERS 4,224 4,081 3,771 3,310 3,287

286,465 284,021 263,088 238,946 224,586
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